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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg statements that involve substantial risks amekrtainties. All
statements other than statements of historicad famttained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K]uding statements
regarding our strategy, future operations, futumarfcial position, future revenue, projected cgstespects, plans, objectives of
management and expected market growth, are foriwatdrg statements. These statements involve krenvehunknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that swyse our actual results, performance or achievisnb@ibe materially
different from any future results, performance cniavements expressed or implied by the forwarditapstatements.

The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “egpt,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project; “target,” “potential,”
“will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” and similar expressions are intended to identify fawvipoking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contaiese identifying words. These forward-lookingestaents include, among
other things, statements about:

« the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resolt our development activities, preclinical stwdied clinical trials;

« the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintregulatory approval of obeticholic acid, or OG#d any other
product candidates we may develop, and any refettdctions, limitations and/or warnings in thbdhof any approve
product candidates;

¢ our plans to research, develop and commercializgroduct candidates;

¢ our collaborators’ election to pursue researelvetbpment and commercialization activities;

e our ability to attract collaborators with devefopnt, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

« our ability to obtain and maintain intellectuabperty protection for our product candidates;

e our ability to successfully commercialize our gmat candidates;

« the size and growth of the markets for our prodaadidates and our ability to serve those markets

« the rate and degree of market acceptance ofwanyefproducts;

¢ the success of competing drugs that are or beewaitable;

« regulatory developments in the United Statesathdr countries;

¢ the performance of our third-party suppliers amhufacturers;

¢ our need for and ability to obtain additionalditing;

« our estimates regarding expenses, future revesmebsapital requirements and the accuracy thereof;

e our use of the proceeds from our initial publifedng in October 2012 and our follow-on publidering in June 2013;

e our expectations regarding the time during whighwill be an emerging growth company under the S@Bt; and

e our ability to attract and retain key scientificmanagement personnel.

These forward-looking statements are only predistiand we may not actually achieve the plans, fities or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements, so sbould not place undue reliance on our forwardkilog statements. Actual
results or events could differ materially from filans, intentions and expectations disclosed ifddheard-looking statements
we make. We have based these forward-looking stattnargely on our current expectations and ptiojes about future
events and trends that we believe may affect osinkas, financial condition and operating resifite.have included important
factors in the cautionary statements included i Amnual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in ItdmA. Risk Factors, that
could cause actual future results or events tediffaterially from the forward-looking statemeittattwe make. Our forward-

looking statements do not reflect the potentialastpf any future acquisitions, mergers, disposgtjqoint ventures or
investments we may make.
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You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K #reddocuments that we have filed as exhibits éothnual Report on
Form 10-K with the understanding that our actudfel results may be materially different from wiat expect. We do not
assume any obligation to update any forward-lookitagements whether as a result of new informafidgare events or
otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
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PART I

All brand names or trademarks appearing in this éadrReport on Form 10-K are the property of theispective holders.
Unless the context requires otherwise, referencélsis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Intercept’@tiCompany,” “we,”
“us,” and “our” refer to Intercept Pharmaceuticaldnc. and its consolidated subsidiary.

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondtelopment and commercialization of novel therapsub treat
chronic liver and intestinal diseases utilizing puwprietary bile acid chemistry. Our product caladiés have the potential to
treat orphan and more prevalent diseases for vihexie currently are limited therapeutic solutions.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, o*Oi8 a bile acid analog, a chemical substancehtaata structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid. OCA f&st-in-class product candidate that selectivetyds to and induces activity
in the farnesoid X receptor, or FXR, which we badidhas broad liver-protective properties. We arebiping OCA initially
for primary biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, as a secdiné treatment for patients who have an inadeqrestponse to or who are
unable to tolerate standard of care therapy améfitve need additional treatment. PBC is a chraotoimmune liver disease
that, if inadequately treated, may eventually leadirrhosis, liver failure and death. We are cartihg a Phase 3 clinical trial
of OCA in PBC, which we call the POISE trial, theg anticipate will serve as the basis for seekimegfirst regulatory approval
to market OCA in the United States and Europe. FQSE trial enrolled 217 patients and we curreaflyect top-line results
from the POISE trial to be available in March 20t 4he results of the POISE trial are positive, ex@ect to file for marketing
approval in the United States and Europe at theo€2014. OCA has received orphan drug designatidhe United States and
Europe for the treatment of PBC.

OCA is also currently being evaluated in a Phaseligizal trial for the treatment of nonalcoholieatohepatitis, or NASH,
known as the FLINT trial, which has been sponstmgethe U.S. National Institute of Diabetes and Btge and Kidney
Diseases, or NIDDK, a part of the National Insgtibf Health. In January 2014, the NIDDK stoppedidbuble-blind treatment
phase of the FLINT trial early following a planniegerim analysis showing that OCA had met the prjretficacy endpoint of
the trial based on a pre-defined interim efficagiedon. OCA treatment resulted in a highly stadlly significant
improvement (p = 0.0024 on an intention-to-treal,Td, basis) in the primary histological endpoias, determined by liver
biopsies taken prior to trial initiation and at #wed of the 72-week treatment period. The pre-édfihreshold of statistical
significance for stopping the FLINT treatment pheses p < 0.0031. All patients have stopped dosfr@@A and placebo and
have entered into a pre-specified 24-week obsemaltfollow-up phase, during which blinding is nained. Final results
from the FLINT trial are currently anticipated te presented in the fourth quarter of 2014. Howevased on our ongoing
dialogue with the NIDDK to obtain additional infoation, the NIDDK recently informed us that we walceive the final
unblinded results of the FLINT trial in July 201#ea all remaining patients have completed the 2&kwobservational phase.

We own worldwide rights to OCA outside of Japan &Miha, where we have exclusively licensed the aamg to
Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co. Ltd., or DSP, andtgehit an option to exclusively license OCA inta@r other Asian
countries. Patents in our OCA portfolio expire fr@dR2 to 2033. Our current plan is to commerciali£eA in the United
States and Europe for the treatment of PBC, NASiHather indications by targeting primarily speagphysicians who
specialize in the treatment of liver and intestitigbase, including both hepatologists and gasieoalogists.

In addition to PBC and NASH, we are developing O€Ather patient populations, including patientthwdgirrhosis,
primary sclerosing cholangitis, or PSC, portal hygresion, alcoholic hepatitis and bile acid diaskh®CA has received orphan
drug designation in the United States and Europthtreatment of PBC and PSC. The pipeline dieldw shows the current
stage of development of OCA for these indicati@sswell as the preclinical programs for our othedpct candidates.
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By virtue of our patent portfolio and the proprigt&anow-how of our employees and our collaboratdrthe University of
Perugia, we believe that we hold a leading positiahe bile acid chemistry therapeutic field. Tingh a longstanding
collaboration with Professor Roberto Pellicciati,P., one of our co-founders, and certain scientisthe medicinal chemistry
group at the University of Perugia, we have gaifedcapability to rationally design compounds thiatl selectively and
potently to FXR and other bile acid receptors. tBtgrwith OCA and its underlying patents, which wassigned to us under
our agreements with Professor Pellicciari, othseaechers and the University of Perugia, our coliation has resulted in a
pipeline of bile acid analogs in addition to OCAhieh target both FXR and a second dedicated biteraceptor called TGRS5,
a target of interest for the treatment of typedbdies and associated metabolic diseases. We iotendtinue developing these
and other product candidates as we advance ouim@pi some cases subject to the procuremendditianal funding or
through strategic collaborations.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to develop and commercialize nthvelapeutics for patients with chronic liver, inteal and other diseases,
beginning with OCA for the treatment of PBC, NASkHaother follow-on indications that we believe arelerserved by
existing therapies. The key elements of our stsaseg to:

« complete the development of OCA for PBC,;

« obtain regulatory approval of OCA for the treatihef PBC in the United States, Europe and othantres;
« commercialize OCA in the United States, Europa @tiner countries, initially for the treatment 8@,

¢ continue to develop OCA for the treatment of NASH

¢ continue to develop OCA in other orphan and npoexalent liver, intestinal, kidney and other dises and
« advance the development of earlier stage prathradidates in our pipeline.

We have a team with a track record of successélgiyeloping and delivering therapeutics for a nundféndications. In
order to achieve our strategic objectives, we hawd,will remain, focused on hiring and retainingighly skilled management
team that has extensive experience and speciflssks relating to the selection, development@ommercialization of
therapies for life-threatening diseases. We intermbntinue our efforts to build and expand tha&neas we grow our business.
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Overview of Liver Function, Bile Acids and ChronicLiver Diseases

The liver performs many functions that are crufdalsurvival, including the regulation of bile agitetabolism. Bile acids
are natural detergent-like emulsifying agents #natreleased from the gallbladder into the intestihen food is ingested, and
are essential for the absorption of dietary chekesiand other nutrients. Cholesterol bound by &dlels is taken up by the liver,
where the cholesterol is then converted into ortevofprimary bile acids. The bile acids are thetivaty secreted into bile
ducts, which eventually empty into the gallbladddris digestive cycle of bile flow from gallbladdeerintestine to liver and
back is called the enterohepatic recirculationilef. b

In addition to facilitating nutrient absorption|éacids have a much broader role than previoesliized in regulating
multiple biological functions. They are also compsignaling molecules that integrate metabolic mmthune pathways
involved in the healthy functioning of various ties and organs. For example, the actions of bidks &g the liver, intestine and
kidney regulate repair mechanisms that modulatarmhation and fibrosis, or scarring, which can leagrogressive organ
damage.

The biological effects of bile acids are mediatedtigh dedicated receptors. The best understabeé i&rnesoid X
receptor, a nuclear receptor that regulates bitksymthesis and clearance from the liver, theieyenting excessive bile acid
build-up in the liver, which may be toxic. As aulisFXR is a target for the treatment of liveratises such as PBC and PSC
that involve impaired bile flow, a condition calleHolestasis, in which the liver is exposed to bighan normal levels of bile
acids, causing significant damage over time dubealetergent effects of bile acids. In additiate hcid activation of FXR
induces anti-fibrotic, anti-inflammatory, anti-stetic and other mechanisms that are necessarpidandrmal regeneration of
the liver and may play a role in the treatment oferprevalent liver diseases such as NASH and aliohepatitis. Based on
the discovery of similar FXR-mediated protectivecimenisms in other organs exposed to bile acid$elieve that FXR may
also be a potential target for the treatment afirmalver of intestinal, kidney and other diseases.

Our Lead Product Candidate: Obeticholic Acid (OCA)
Primary Biliary Cirrhosis

Our current clinical focus is on the developmen®@A, a novel, orally administered, first-in-cldS¥R agonist that we
believe has broad liver-protective properties amy effectively counter a variety of chronic insutisthe liver that cause
fibrosis, which can eventually lead to cirrhosigel transplant and death. Our first targeted dises PBC, an orphan indication
with a significant unmet medical need.

PBC is a rare liver disease that primarily resfutisn autoimmune destruction of the bile ducts thatsport bile acids out of
the liver, resulting in cholestasis. As the disgasgresses, persistent toxic build-up of bile aciduse progressive liver
damage marked by chronic inflammation and fibrdsisesponse to the bile acid mediated toxicitynsee®BC, liver cells
release alkaline phosphatase, or ALP, a liver eezjrat is a key biomarker of the disease patholaguated blood levels of
ALP are used as the primary means of diagnosi®86f &d are closely monitored in patients as thet mgsortant indicator of
treatment response and prognosis.

While PBC is rare, it is the most common cholestiter disease. An estimated 90% of patients ammen, with
approximately one in 1,000 women over the age aiffiitted by the disease. The mean age of diagriegibout 40 years and
the typical initial presentation occurs betweenabes of 30 and 65 years. In the United Stategliffease is the fifth most
common cause of liver transplant and accountsgpraximately two percent of deaths attributed tehcisis. A majority of
PBC patients are asymptomatic at the time of indiagnosis, but most develop symptoms over tinagigbie and pruritus, or
itching, are the most common symptoms in PBC pttidress common symptoms include dry eyes and mastivell as
jaundice, which can be seen in more advanced @isBased on the guidelines of the American Assiocidor the Study of
Liver Disease, or AASLD, and the European Assoaiafor the Study of the Liver, or EASL, the clinichagnosis of PBC is
established based on the presence of (i) a posititienitochondrial antibody, or AMA, a marker ofgfautoimmune disease
seen in up to 95% of PBC patients, and (ii) elevatrum levels of ALP. In the earlier stages of PBLCP is often the only
abnormally elevated liver enzyme, rising to betwtemto ten times higher than normal values. Bidiruis a marker of liver
function and is
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also monitored in PBC to provide an indication oiwell the liver is functioning. Liver biopsy cée used to confirm the
diagnosis of PBC, but is not required and is beogness-frequently performed.

Disease progression in PBC varies significantlyusutally is relatively slow, with median survivaluntreated patients of
7.5 years if symptomatic at diagnosis and up tgeldis if asymptomatic at diagnosis. PBC patientsseltisease is
progressing have persistently elevated levels d? Ahd other liver enzymes, with abnormal biliruleivels heralding more
advanced disease. Data from published long-terdiestidemonstrate that a significant portion of spatients with advancing
disease progress to liver failure, transplant athievithin five to ten years, despite receivingodiisl, the standard of care
therapy.

Currently Available Treatment Options for PBC

The only approved drug for the treatment of PBGrsodeoxycholic acid, available generically as digpwhich is the
standard initial course of therapy for all PBC eats. Ursodiol is a naturally occurring bile acdifid in small quantities in
humans and it is the least detergent of the vatiypess of bile acids that make up the bile pooPBLC patients, the typical
daily dose of ursodiol of approximately one gramresents more than one-fifth of the entire bilel@ol, after ongoing
therapy, it will comprise at least half of the eathbile pool. It is believed that ursodiol treatrhegsults in the bile pool being
less toxic to the liver due to ursodiol’s dilutiohother more detergent bile acids.

In patients for whom ursodiol is effective, theatient slows the progression of PBC, reducingikedithood of liver
failure and the need for transplant. As shown imerous clinical trials of ursodiol treatment, aifies therapeutic response is
primarily determined by sustained reduction of Akfels, along with maintenance of normal bilirulemels, indicating
adequately compensated liver function. This biodbhaehimprovement has been shown to correlate wigli improved clinical
outcomes such as transplant-free survival.

Although other drugs such as colchicine, budesomughotrexate and others have been tested aséetin PBC, none
has been shown to be both effective and safeeniat the course of the disease.

Our PBC Opportunity

While ursodiol’'s mechanism of action at therapedtses is to dilute more detergent bile acidsastio known
pharmacological effects mediated by FXR or othkr &cid receptors. Although ursodiol is the estdtdd standard of care for
the treatment of PBC, studies have shown that &0% of PBC patients fail to respond adequatelygatment. Patients
typically need to take approximately one gram sbdiol daily in divided doses, which we believesanmets a compliance
challenge for some patients.

The outlook and treatment options for end-stage p&@nts who fail to respond to ursodiol are leditAlthough liver
transplant can be curative, many patients faieteeive a donor organ in time, and for those whdtdere are very significant
clinical risks, such as infection and organ refattias well as significant costs. In addition, disease recurrence rate is as high
as 18% at five years and up to 30% at ten yeaes lafer transplant.

According to industry data, there are approximaB€l9,000 people with PBC in developed countriesyloddm we believe
approximately 60,000 have been diagnosed and anesodiol therapy. Based on this estimate, we belieere are up to
30,000 PBC patients who may currently be eligibletfeatment with OCA. With increasing identificatiof PBC through
routine liver function testing in primary care, believe that there may be significantly more pasievho will potentially be
eligible for, and be interested in, receiving a riberapy if it becomes available on the market. [&/tisodiol is the standard of
care for the treatment of PBC, given the limitasiafi its efficacy and the compliance challenge it dosing regimen
discussed above, we believe that there is a sigmifiunmet need for a novel second line thera3BG.

Our Solution: OCA for PBC
Overview

Our lead product candidate, OCA, is a bile acidamnand first-in-class FXR agonist derived from grémary human bile
acid chenodeoxycholic acid, or CDCA. CDCA, a ndt&péR agonist, has historically been used safelg akronic therapy for
cholesterol gallstone disease. We are initiallyeti@ping OCA for
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the second line treatment of PBC for patients &itinadequate therapeutic response to ursodiohorare unable to tolerate
ursodiol. OCA has received orphan drug designatighe United States and Europe for the treatmeRB&L and a related
disease called primary sclerosing cholangitis, ®€ PWe believe we are the first company to haveacded an FXR agonist
into clinical trials and have completed enrolimehbur Phase 3 POISE trial to evaluate the safedyedficacy of OCA as a
novel treatment in PBC. We expect top-line redutisn the POISE trial to be available in March 20if4he results of the
POISE trial are positive, we expect to file for iketing approval in the United States and Europieeaend of 2014. We own
worldwide rights to OCA outside of Japan and Chimagre we have exclusively licensed the compourSB, which also has
an option to exclusively license OCA in certain iiddal Asian countries.

We have completed two randomized, placebo-contdlease 2 trials of OCA in PBC patients, one wi€@A0n
combination with ursodiol and one with OCA as mdwoapy. The first trial enrolled 165 patients talerate the addition of
OCA to ursodiol in patients with an inadequate oese to ursodiol therapy, and the second trialllent®9 patients to evaluate
OCA given as monotherapy. Both trials showed thny a 12-week period, single daily doses of OCthatlowest dose of 10
mg met the primary and secondary endpoints of ttréeds, producing statistically significant rediects in levels of ALP of
greater than 20% and statistically significant tns in levels of other important liver enzymé#e consider reductions in
ALP levels of greater than 10% to be a clinicallgamingful improvement. Further, long-term open-labgension phases of
these trials have demonstrated that the majoripatients taking OCA for at least 12 months, widms on therapy for more
than 4 years, maintained a durable treatment regpéhuritus, or itching, a very common symptorRBC patients, was the
most common adverse event reported in our Phasal< tvith severity increasing with dose.

OCA Benefits in PBC
We believe that OCA has the potential to provideftillowing benefits in the treatment of PBC:

« Efficacy. In addition to achieving the primary endpoinbir Phase 2 trials, the data also demonstrate@@i8a of
OCA-treated patients across our Phase 2 trialsriexmmed a reduction in ALP levels of at least 10#ich we consider
to be a clinically meaningful improvement, as conepato 13% of placebo-treated patients. Althoughda@ot yet
know the results of our Phase 3 POISE trial, basedur analysis of the data for those Phase 2ratieho would have
met the entry criteria for our POISE trial, aft@ Weeks of treatment approximately 40% to 45% ofQfeated
patients would have met the POISE trial primarypenit, as compared to 5% to 9% of the placebo-grepatients.

« Pharmacological Activit. Unlike ursodiol, which has no FXR-agonistic gityi, OCA is approximately 100-times
more potent than CDCA in activating the FXR recepiio numerous animal models, sustained FXR adtimatith
OCA treatment has resulted in the prevention, aed eeversal, of liver damage caused by progresiirasis. Our
Phase 2 trials have demonstrated that most patakitey OCA also have significant reductions in immaglobulin M,
or IgM, and, in the combination trial with ursodi@l;reactive protein, or CRP, common indicatorsudbemmune
activity. We believe that this demonstrates pogdmtisease-modifying therapeutic activity direatdressing the
underlying autoimmune pathology.

« Ease of Us. We anticipate seeking approval of OCA for tleatment of PBC with a single 5 mg, 10 mg or 25 osg
tablet each day, which at any of these dosesrnisadl fraction of the amount of ursodiol that a PB&tient is typically
prescribed.

Phase 3 PBC Program for OCA

We designed our Phase 3 POISE trial to study tfegysand efficacy of OCA in PBC patients with aadequate therapeutic
response to ursodiol or who are unable to toleregediol. In this trial, eligible PBC patients cionted their ursodiol treatment,
except for those patients unable to tolerate uadoaid were randomized into one of three trialsaohapproximately 72
patients each, adding either: 10 mg of OCA; 5 m@G# increasing over the course of the trial taxi@of OCA,; or a placebo.
Of the 217 patients randomized, 19 patients (apprately 9%) discontinued early, including severigrds (approximately
3%) who did so due to pruritus. Top-line resultsrirthe double-blind phase of the POISE trial amgeeted to be available in
March 2014. Patients completing the 12 month dobbfet phase have
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been given the option to continue in an open-ldbal-term safety extension, or LTSE, phase fottlzerdfive years, during
which all patients will receive OCA treatment withily doses ranging from 5 mg to 25 mg, as climycialdicated. Of the 198
patients who completed the double-blind phase, ri@e 95% continued in the LTSE phase of the taiatl approximately 188
patients remained in the LTSE phase of the triafdé®bruary 28, 2014.

The primary endpoint of the 12 month double-blimdtjon of the POISE trial is the achievement ofrbatreduction in ALP
level to below a threshold of 1.67 times uppertingrmal, or ULN, with a minimum of 15% reductionALP level from
baseline, and a normal bilirubin level, a biomard&liver function, for patients in the applicaltteatment arm of the trial as
compared to patients in the placebo arm after 18thsoof therapy. ULN is the uppermost level of acfied parameter that is
considered normal in healthy people. Patients AitR and bilirubin levels below these thresholdséhbeen shown in long-
term studies to be at significantly lower risk obgressing to liver transplant and death. In otddre eligible to enter the
POISE trial, patients must have previously metdiagnostic criteria for PBC and have been takitigeaapeutic dose of
ursodiol for at least 12 months or, if unable tetate ursodiol, patients must not have been omiyefor at least three months
prior to entering the trial. In addition, patiemsist have had ALP levels of at least 1.67 times @ind/or bilirubin levels of
one to two times ULN. The POISE trial was desigtednroll 180 patients across approximately 60adinsites in North
America and Europe. We completed enroliment of @gdffents into the POISE trial in December 2012 \B#@hparticipating
clinical sites in North America and Europe.

We are advancing a once-daily 10 mg dose of OORA@rPOISE trial as one of our potential approvalolses. The chart
below shows a retrospective analysis of the exdrhttention-to-treat data for the 10 mg dose gsdopur two Phase 2 trials
based on patients who would have met the inclusiberia for entry in the POISE trial. Based orsthnalysis, after 12 weeks
of treatment, approximately 40% to 45% of OCA-tegigpatients in our Phase 2 trials would have neeP®ISE trial primary
endpoint as compared to 5% to 9% of the placeladedepatients. In addition, 80% of OCA-treatedeyas across our Phase 2
trials had a reduction in ALP levels of at leas¥dl@s compared to 13% of placebo-treated patients.

Monotherapy Trial Combination Trial
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If the results of the POISE trial are positive, weend to submit a New Drug Application, or NDA,ttee U.S. Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, for approval of OCArfthe treatment of PBC in the United States andhakkting Authorization
Application, or MAA, to the European Medicines Agenoy EMA, for approval in Europe, at the end of 20Bdsed on written
scientific advice from the EMA, we
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believe that the EMA will consider our current otial program to be appropriate to support an MAAG&@A. With respect to
the FDA, we intend to request an accelerated ajppaVOCA based on the acceptance of the POISEptiimary endpoint as a
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely talmteclinical benefit. If the FDA grants an acceled approval of OCA, we will
be required to complete a clinical outcomes tratgapproval to confirm the clinical benefit preadit by the achievement of
the surrogate endpoint. This clinical outcomeg trniast satisfy FDA'’s definition of an adequate avell-controlled trial and is
expected to be underway at the time the FDA maldeceion whether to grant accelerated approvah @ompletion to follow
on a post-marketing basis. As the acceptance efveatcelerated approval endpoint is a review igtgel-DA will likely not
formally confirm our use of a surrogate endpointhia POISE trial as the basis for regulatory aparowtil after the NDA is
submitted. In the meantime, we are in discussidtistiwe FDA about the design of the clinical outesntrial and plan to
initiate it during the third quarter of 2014.

A number of published clinical studies have demmst! that lower levels of ALP, both independentiyn conjunction
with normal bilirubin levels, correlate with a sificant reduction in adverse clinical outcomes sasHiver transplant and
death. We believe that one of the key factors @RBA'’s potential acceptance of our POISE triaiany endpoint as a basis
for accelerated approval will be the result of P8i@ical outcomes data of more than 6,100 PBC pgtirom 15 academic
centers in eight countries that have been compieithe Global PBC Study Group, which we are spangpeas well as a
dataset of over 4,000 PBC patients across the Uipded by the UK PBC Group. These represent thgektrprospective PBC
clinical datasets assembled to analyze the coielaf biochemical therapeutic response with cahimutcomes in PBC
patients. We believe that the analyses alreadyighéadl and presented at scientific meetings by ttvesgroups confirm that
the achievement of an ALP level of less than li@&$ ULN, together with a normal bilirubin levegreelates with a highly
statistically significant reduction of risk of adge clinical outcomes such as liver transplantdeath in PBC patients.
Specifically, the Global PBC Study Group analysemdnstrated that patients who failed to meet thESEGxial primary
endpoint after one year of ursodeoxycholic acid @A) treatment had approximately 2.8 times gredtance of dying or
requiring a liver transplant.

Summary of additional preclinical and clinical stesl to support regulatory submissions

Based on our interactions with the FDA and EMA anda@wn analysis of potential data requests, weebelthat, in
addition to the successful completion of the POtigtH, the following clinical studies are requiredsupport our planned NDA
and MAA filings in late 2014:

¢ Ongoing long-term safety extension trials, foriethwe expect to submit approximately 650 patiemhalative years of
safety data across all clinical trials;

« aPhase 1 clinical trial in healthy volunteergtaluate the effect of OCA on the heart’s eleatraycle, known as the
QT interval; and

¢ Phase 1 clinical trials in healthy volunteergwaluate the biocomparability and pharmacokinetfdie OCA
formulations used in our clinical trials and outieipated commercial drug product; and

¢ additional clinical pharmacology trials, includistudies evaluating drug interactions and thectffef food and drug-
disease interaction studies, some of which aresntlyrunderway.

We are also conducting other trials and studiesipport our planned NDA and MAA filings, includingtudy to evaluate
the potential effects and clinical significanceQEA on the lipid profile of patients with PBC, whiés currently in progress.

Summary of Completed OCA PBC Clinical Trials and @wing Long Term Safety Extension Trials
Completed Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Combination Theia@BC Patients

We have completed a double-blind, placebo-contidiikase 2 clinical trial of OCA in 165 patientsiwiRBC. The trial
evaluated the effects of adding one of three doEECA (10 mg, 25 mg and 50 mg) or placebo to uddHerapy in patients
with ALP levels of higher than 1.5 times ULN whodhaot responded adequately to ursodiol therapyeal®atients continued
their prior ursodiol dose throughout the trial. Thal was comprised of a 12-week treatment pendth a two-week follow up.
At the end of the 12-week treatment period, pasieateiving each of the three doses of OCA addedstudiol therapy had
statistically
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significant reductions in mean ALP levels as coregawrith patients receiving placebo plus ursodiefpy, the primary
endpoint. The p-value for the results of the priyremdpoint was p < 0.0001 for each of the doseggoDCA-treated patients
demonstrated a mean reduction of 21% to 25% in k\Els, as compared to patients receiving placéimyrsodiol therapy,
who exhibited a mean reduction of less than 3%riAtentry, the baseline mean ALP value for adl gratient groups was
approximately 2.4 times ULN. In addition, basedooe-specified analyses, OCA-treated patients egpeed similar significant
decreases in other clinically relevant liver enzgraech as gamma glutamyl transferase, or GGT, lasparansaminase, or
AST, alanine transaminase, or ALT, and bilirubiartRermore, serum markers of inflammation and imewasponse also
improved in OCA-treated patients as seen in redostof CRP and IgM, which are closely associatel aitoimmune
dysfunction in PBC.

With the exception of a higher incidence of prwiin the two highest OCA dose groups and a higi@dénce of severe
pruritus in all OCA dose groups, the Phase 2 dinti¢al data showed that adverse events were giyeimilar across all
groups, including the placebo group. Pruritus waseddependent, with the ursodiol plus placebo ercé at 50%, ursodiol
plus 10 mg of OCA at 47%, ursodiol plus 25 mg of A& 85% and ursodiol plus 50 mg of OCA at 80%. $keerity of
pruritus and the discontinuation rate due to separgtus increased with OCA dose and was worse segn with placebo.
There were no other statistically significant sidfects observed in the OCA dose groups comparétktplacebo group, except
for mild nausea.

Completed Open-label Long-Term Safety and Effidai@t for OCA as Combination Therapy

Following the completion of the double-blind portiof the Phase 2 combination trial described abé8eatients were
enrolled in an open-label long-term safety andcaffy extension trial, or LTSE. In the LTSE, pateoontinued to receive
open-label OCA, increasing from a dose of 10 masthigh as 50 mg each day.

Of the 78 patients in the trial, 19 subsequentbgaintinued their participation in the LTSE, ten tlueruritus, one due to
elevated bilirubin and eight due to other advekants or for other reasons. Pruritus was the mmsioon adverse event,
reported in 68 of the 78 patients (approximatel§e®7Other adverse events included fatigue, insoranéupper respiratory
tract infection, each of which was reported by agpnately 13% of the patients in the LTSE. Thergenfeve serious adverse
events in the LTSE, of which two occurred at eafcthe 10 mg and 25 mg doses and one occurred &0tneg dose. None of
the serious adverse events, which were typicalted to hospitalizations for pre-existing condispwas considered likely to
be related to OCA therapy, and no serious adverset evas considered to be cardiovascular or hepatiature.

In patients whose OCA dose was increased in theEl Ti&re was a benefit of increasing the dose @5 tmg from 10 mg,
but not in increasing the dose above 25 mg. Patighbse dose increased from 10 mg to 25 mg achevéscremental
decrease in ALP of 9%. Over two-thirds of the p#an the LTSE were increased to a dose of OC20aihg or more.
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As shown in the chart below, patients taking OCAhie LTSE achieved mean reductions in ALP to apprately 1.67
times ULN after having been on therapy for threenthe and maintained that treatment response thouighl12-month period
and beyond. We believe that the data from this L&8&the data from our ongoing monotherapy LTS# tliscussed below
demonstrate that a large majority of patients @KXCA for at least 12 months, with some currentiytteerapy for more than
four years, maintain a durable therapeutic response

Phase 2 Combination Trial LTSE
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Completed Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Monotherapy in Fients

We have completed a 59 patient double-blind, plaezintrolled Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA givenaamonotherapy to
patients with PBC. The trial evaluated the eff@ft$0 mg and 50 mg doses of OCA compared to plagepatients with
baseline ALP levels of higher than 1.5 times ULMtiénts either had never taken ursodiol or hadaeh taking ursodiol for at
least three months before the start of the triaé ial was comprised of a 12-week treatment pemdth a two-week follow
up. At the end of the 12-week treatment periodjssteally significant reductions in ALP were seiarthe treated patients (38%
to 45% mean ALP reductions compared with no chamgjge placebo-treated patients). The p-valueHerresults of the
primary endpoint was p < 0.0001 for each of the QibAe groups. Patients in the 10 mg dose groupiexged absolute
reductions in ALP levels from a mean of approxirhe89 times ULN to approximately 1.9 times ULNthé end of the trial.
Even greater reductions in GGT (63% to 75%) ween $e the OCA-treated groups (compared to 3% facqibo-treated
groups). There were also significant improvememt&LT levels and statistically significant improvents in bilirubin levels.

In addition, statistically significant changes @M were shown. Pruritus was seen more commonlydrp#tients treated with
OCA, with the incidence, severity and discontinoiatiate all increasing with dose; otherwise, thieepadverse events were not
clearly different across the groups.

Ongoing Open-label Long-Term Safety and Efficadgl Tor OCA as a Monotherapy

Following the completion of the double-blind portiof the Phase 2 monotherapy trial described atswrae patients were
given the option to enroll in an open-label longtesafety and efficacy extension trial,
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or monotherapy LTSE. The monotherapy LTSE phasariently ongoing. Patients continue to receiverelpdel OCA in this
phase, and have been increased from a startingofid€emg to as high as 50 mg.

As of January 31, 2014, 19 patients were continuirthe monotherapy LTSE, among whom 11 patients feen on OCA
therapy for four or more years. Approximately raflthe patients are currently taking 20 mg of O®Auritus is the most
common adverse event and has been reported oveotnge of the monotherapy LTSE in 25 of the 2§exib (or 89%) for
whom data are available. Other adverse eventsdadieadache, arthralgia, constipation, fatigueraudea, which have been
reported in approximately 36%, 32%, 32%, 32% arfh 82 the patients, respectively.

As shown in the chart below, patients taking OCAhie LTSE maintained mean reductions in ALP to apipnately 1.67
times ULN throughout a 45-month period.

Phase 2 Monotherapy Trial LTSE
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Summary of Completed Phase 1 Trials

OCA has been evaluated in two Phase 1 clinicdbttiastudy its safety and pharmacokinetic prdfilbealthy volunteers.
The first was a single ascending dose trial indgjexts testing single OCA doses in the range ah§Go 500 mg. The second
was a multiple ascending dose trial in 50 subjegttng repeated OCA doses in the range of 25 i2§@amg for 12
consecutive days. Adverse events seen in the Rhizisds were generally mild. Only two adverse @senpper abdominal pain
and nasopharyngitis, were observed in one subgett i the single ascending dose trial. In the iplelascending dose trial,
doses from 25 mg to 100 mg were generally wellratél. At the highest dose of 250 mg, ALT and ASdréases were seen,
consistent with our animal toxicology data. Thiselds 25 times greater than the 10 mg dose in@8Ptrial and ten-times
greater than the 25 mg dose being tested in owingd-LINT trial. Half of the subjects in the 25@rdosing group reported
mild pruritus and one discontinued due to a raspgesting that in subjects without cholestasidggnificant liver disease,
pruritus occurs only at doses considerably highan tare currently being evaluated in clinical ial

Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH)

NASH is a common and serious chronic liver diseasesed by excessive fat accumulation in the liwesteatosis, that
induces inflammation and may lead to progressivmS§is and cirrhosis, followed by eventual
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liver failure and death. NASH is now consideredbéothe second leading and rapidly increasing calusepatocellular
carcinoma, or primary liver cancer, which may depeh NASH patients prior to the liver becomingratic. While the
condition of steatosis alone, known as nonalcotatty liver disease, or NAFLD, may not necessabidyharmful to the liver,
approximately one-third of NAFLD patients progrés$NASH for reasons that are not yet completelyausiod. Other
common co-existing conditions such as obesity gpd 2 diabetes, which afflicts up to half of all RA patients, are important
risk factors in NASH, and insulin resistance isdngdd to promote inflammation and fibrosis in thvet. NASH is believed to
be one of the most common chronic liver diseasetdwale, with an estimated prevalence of more thé% of the general
adult population in the United States, with simjagvalence estimated in Europe, Japan and otketated countries.
Additionally, NASH has become a highly prevalemtlidisease in developing countries such as IntiaGhina. A narrower
focus on those NASH patients with advanced fibrasid cirrhosis, thought to be irreversible stagebé natural history of the
disease, amounts to an estimated prevalence oftimeme2.5% of the general adult population, potdigtafflicting
approximately six million adult patients in the téd States. Although the prevalence of NASH is loiweshildren, it has also
become a serious disease burden in the pediaidgtmn.

While NASH is commonly associated with obesitygl#o can also occur in non-obese patients anddeslimked in both
developed and developing countries to the adomi@aWestern diet, with increased consumption otpssed foods
containing polyunsaturated fatty acids and fruct@&diovascular disease, cancer and liver fadmeethe most common causes
of death in NASH patients. More than 20% of NASHguats progress to cirrhosis within a decade obfetup and, with the
rapidly increasing prevalence of the disease, NA&sibecome the third most common reason for lre@splant in the United
States and is projected to become the leadingatidit for transplant in the next few years, ovartgloth chronic hepatitis C
infection and alcoholic liver disease. NASH patienave a ten-fold greater risk of liver-related tality as compared to the
general population and a six-fold greater risk\wér-related mortality as compared to patients wes severe NAFLD. The
presence of type 2 diabetes in the broader NAFLRufation is associated with a much greater moytaitik, with a 23-fold
higher rate of liver-related mortality as compatedon-diabetic NAFLD patients.

Currently, a definitive diagnosis of NASH is bageda histologic assessment of a liver biopsy fotaie key features
associated with NASH, including steatosis, lobutlammation and hepatocyte ballooning. Howeven-imvasive methods of
diagnosis are being explored, including transi¢agtegraphy (an ultrasound technology approvediimfe and more recently
in the United States for the measurement of lilosis), magnetic resonance imaging and serumduikens. We believe that
further validation and approval of non-invasivegtiastic and disease staging methods, as well anti@pated future
regulatory approval of novel NASH therapies, weihtl to a significant increase in diagnosis andrtreat of patients with
NASH.

Currently Available Treatment Options for NASH

There are currently no drugs approved for thetneat of NAFLD or NASH. However, it has been repdrtieat in 2010
there were approximately $615 million in off-lalsales of various therapeutics for the treatmeA$H, such as vitamin E
(an antioxidant), insulin sensitizers (e.g., metfim), antihyperlipidemic agents (e.g., gemfibrazigntoxifylline and ursodiol.
Lifestyle changes, including modification of dietceexercise to reduce body weight, as well asrreat of concomitant
diabetes and dyslipidemia, are commonly acceptédeastandard of care, but have not conclusivegntshown to prevent
disease progression.

NASH Unmet Medical Need

Although some of the off-label treatments descrifledve have been studied as possible treatmenABH, none has
been approved by the FDA or EMA as a treatmentiisrdisease. Currently, the outlook and treatmetibos for end-stage
NASH patients are limited. Although liver transpgl@an be curative, many patients fail to receig®aor organ in time, and for
those who do, there are very significant cliniésks, such as infection and organ rejection, as agebignificant costs. In
addition, the post-transplant recurrence rate oSNAas been shown to be as high as 25% at 18 m@ithen the lack of
available treatment options, we believe that tieeesignificant unmet need for a novel therapyN&SH, particularly in those
patients with advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis.
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Our Solution: OCA for NASH
OCA's Potential Benefits in NASH

FXR activation has been shown to play a key rolaénregulation of the metabolic pathways relevamMASH,
highlighting FXR as a potential drug target foratiraent of the disease. Given the significant umnmedical need of patients
with NASH, we believe that the potent ability of @@ activate FXR could result in a major clinidenefit through potential
amelioration or reversal of liver steatosis, insuésistance, inflammation and fibrosis. We belithag OCA has the potential to
provide the following benefits in the treatmenNASH:

« Efficacy.In addition to achieving the primary endpoint i fAhase 2b FLINT trial in NASH patients, in an iear-
week Phase 2 trial in diabetic NAFLD patients, O&ldo demonstrated an approximately 24.5% meandseriom
baseline in insulin sensitivity, compared to a 5/5#%an decrease in insulin sensitivity in the placgtwup, and
statistically significant weight loss from baseline

¢ Pharmacological Activityln animal models, sustained FXR activation with OE#atment has resulted in the reversal
of liver fibrosis, the reversal of portal hypertems improvements in triglycerides, steatosis, limssensitivity and
inflammation, and the prevention of atherosclerddise that lack functional FXR (so-called knockanite)
spontaneously develop NASH accompanied by hypértegidemia and insulin resistance, and go on teehbg
hepatocellular carcinoma, or primary liver can&®e believe that the combined mechanisms of FXRatitin, couple:
with the occurrence of NASH in animals lacking FX¥Rpport the potential disease-modifying therapeaudiential of
OCA in directly addressing the underlying diseaataplogy in NASH.
{bl level="1" Pharmacological Activity. In animal mdels, sustained FXR activation with OCA treatnteas resulted in the
reversal of liver fibrosis, the reversal of pottgpertension, improvements in triglycerides, stsigtansulin sensitivity and
inflammation, and the prevention of atherosclerddise that lack functional FXR (so-called knockauite) spontaneously
develop NASH accompanied by hypertriglyceridemid arsulin resistance, and go on to develop hepHtbaecarcinoma, or
primary liver cancer. We believe that the combinezthanisms of FXR activation, coupled with the ommnce of NASH in
animals lacking FXR, support the potential diseaselifying therapeutic potential of OCA in directigdressing the underlying
disease pathology in NASH. {bl level="1Base of UseWe anticipate seeking approval of OCA for the tmeait of NASH at a
single daily dose.

Phase 2 NASH Program for OCA
Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Therapy in Type 2 Diabetiti€tds with NAFLD

We previously completed a Phase 2 clinical triaD&A in 64 type 2 diabetic patients with NAFLD. Wéhonly three
patients in this trial had previously undergoneap$y to confirm histological determination of NASWe believe that a
majority of the patients in this trial were likely have had NASH, given the disease’s associatitinabesity and diabetes and
based upon an evaluation of serum fibrosis biomarkem patients in this trial. This double-blipgacebo-controlled trial
tested 25 mg and 50 mg doses of OCA over a six-pegkd and assessed the effects of OCA on insalisitivity. In this
trial, OCA therapy significantly improved insulierssitivity both in the liver and peripheral tissuegreby meeting the primary
endpoint in the trial with a mean improvement iretiinsulin sensitization from baseline of approaiely 24.5% in the
combined OCA dose groups, as compared to a woigehiapproximately 5.5% in the placebo group (p£@)0 Significant
improvements in weight loss were noted, along withrovements in liver enzymes such as GGT and ALT.

OCA was generally well-tolerated by the trial pat& with side effects in the treatment groupsmeéaningfully different
than those reported on placebo (apart from milgtpation in the 50 mg group). Consistent with eiptited FXR-related lipid
metabolic effects starting with the clearance afess lipid load from the liver, there were charigesean serum lipid profiles
observed in the OCA treatment groups compared tvétplacebo group that included decreased trigigesy increased LDL
cholesterol and slightly decreased HDL cholestiash baseline. In our publication of the resultg, @bserved that once-daily
treatment for six weeks at the 25 mg OCA dose, whie subsequently selected to advance in our NASId¢ldpment
program, led to an approximately 12% decrease anntréglycerides to 170 mg/dL from a baseline mieael of 193 mg/dL,
an approximately 22% increase in mean LDL cholester120 mg/dL from a baseline mean level of 98dhgand an
approximately 5% decrease in mean HDL cholester8btmg/dL from a baseline mean level of 37 mgkétrospective
analysis of the approximately 40% of patients mftifial who had been taking cholesterol-lowerirggistdrugs suggested that
statin use attenuated the increase in LDL cholelsterd decrease in HDL cholesterol, while also appidy being associated
with an enhanced lowering of triglycerides.
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In January 2014, the treatment phase of the PHaB&IAIT trial of OCA for patients with NASH was gped early
following a planned interim analysis showing the primary endpoint of the trial had been met based pre-defined efficacy
criterion.

The FLINT trial is sponsored and conducted by tla¢idwhal Institute of Diabetes and Digestive andri€ig Diseases, or
NIDDK, which oversees a clinical research netwdrkight leading NASH centers in the United Stafdse NIDDK had
previously completed the PIVENS trial comparing tliehetes drug pioglitazone and vitamin E, indiallly versus placebo in
247 non-diabetic NASH patients over a 96-week tneat period. While the vitamin E treatment arm thetprimary efficacy
endpoint of improvement in histologic features #&®H based on the NAFLD activity score, or NAS,id dot show a benefit
in fibrosis and there are potential safety concessociated with long-term use of vitamin E. Th®BK subsequently sought
to identify another potential novel therapeuticrager NASH and, in 2010, selected OCA from a grofiseveral competing
compounds for evaluation in the FLINT trial. ThelNDK'’s selection was based on its review of the tyaé@d efficacy results
from our Phase 2 trial of OCA in type 2 diabetitigats with NAFLD, as well as data from studieSO2A in chronic animal
models of liver disease involving steatosis, fils@snd cirrhosis.

The FLINT trial enrolled 283 NASH patients who weamdomized to either a 25 mg single daily dos®@GA or placebo.
We believe this is the largest NASH clinical tri@nducted to date. Of the 283 patients enrolldeLitNT, 187 (66%) were
female and 229 (81%) were over 40 years of agéeratenrolled in FLINT were qualified based oniagdosis determined by
liver biopsy confirming a diagnosis of definitepmobable NASH and a NAS of four or greater out ftal eight-point scale,
and with a score of at least one in each comparfethe NAS (steatosis 0-3, lobular inflammation,®allooning 0-2). End of
study biopsies were conducted in patients who cetaglthe 72-week treatment period, with all biopsentrally read and
scored in a blinded fashion.

The NIDDK's decision to stop the treatment phaseldNT in January 2014 was based on the recommandaf the
trial’s Data Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, whiokviewed liver biopsy data from before and at the ef the treatment
period in 164 (58%) of the 283 randomized patientaccordance with a planned interim efficacy gsial This interim
analysis demonstrated that OCA treatment resuttedhighly statistically significant improvement{0024 on an intention-
to-treat, or ITT, basis) in the primary histolodieadpoint, defined as a decrease in the NAS bzt two points with no
worsening of fibrosis as compared to placebo, whiett the pre-defined threshold of p<0.0031 for giog the treatment phase
of FLINT. As specified in the FLINT protocol, thelDDK'’s decision to stop the treatment phase eadg Wwased primarily on
OCA therapy having met the pre-defined efficacyecion, while being informed by the risks involviedconducting liver
biopsies in the remaining patients and the availabfety data described below. All patients haspmd dosing of OCA and
placebo and have entered into a pre-specified 2Zkwbservational follow-up phase, during which diitg is maintained.

We have been engaged in an ongoing dialogue wettNtBDDK with the goal of obtaining additional ddtam FLINT. The
NIDDK recently informed us that we will receive tfieal unblinded results of FLINT in July 2014 aftdl remaining patients
have completed the 24-week observational phaseNIDBK subsequently plans to present the result§amember 2014 at the
annual meeting of the American Association for$edy of Liver Disease, or AASLD. This final dathseexpected to include
efficacy and safety data from those patients iredLiech the interim analysis, as well as the addéigratients who completed the
72-week treatment phase prior to entering the 2dkvadservational phase in January 2014 (altogetibtating approximately
75% of the 283 patients enrolled), and safety ftata the entire patient cohort.

The NIDDK previously noted that disproportionatgdi abnormalities consisting of increases in totadlesterol, together
with increases in LDL cholesterol and decreasé$Dh cholesterol, have been observed in the patimkiag OCA in the trial.
Although we do not yet know the magnitude of thigsid effects or whether OCA treatment also reglitea concomitant
decrease in triglycerides, we believe that the fesklipid changes appear to be consistent wittptitern observed in the
diabetic NAFLD patients treated with OCA in ouryimus Phase 2 trial. We believe that they are basetie lipid metabolic
mechanisms regulated by FXR that have been shoanimal models to result in increased lipid cleaeafiom the liver
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and other organs, while also stimulating reverssedterol transport. In animal models of metabalid cardiovascular
diseases, FXR activation by OCA and other FXR agarimpounds has been shown to result in proteeffeets in the liver,
as well as in the vasculature due to decreaseilicalion and plaque formation in the arterial wavhich are the hallmark of
atherosclerosis.

In both NAFLD and NASH patients, steatosis resfutism the accumulation of excess triglycerides i likier and has been
closely linked to cardiovascular disease and tieaf adverse events in such patients. In the NIBQieviously conducted
PIVENS trial in 247 non-diabetic NASH patients, réagvere a total of 34 cardiovascular events, othhi2 occurred in the
placebo group, 12 in the vitamin E group and 1thepioglitazone group. In the vitamin E arm of RI®ENS trial, two
patients suffered life-threatening adverse evamts,of which was cardiovascular in nature, andgatent died.

In FLINT, 149 (53%) of the NASH patients sufferedrh co-morbid type 2 diabetes, whereas the PIVENSdxcluded
diabetic patients. Therefore, we believe PIVENS hdeks metabolically compromised and clinicallyisk population than
that in FLINT. We therefore believe the overall Rl patient cohort was at more risk of experienaagdiovascular events
than patients in the PIVENS trial, since up to 56Rdiabetic NASH patients have cardiovascular disemnd over a ten-year
follow up period have an observed mortality of geeshan 50%, more than double that of non-dialjients.

We recently received a report of blinded FLINT safdata from the NIDDK and have learned that athefend of
December 2013 a total of ten cardiovascular se@dougrse events had occurred in seven (2.5%) gfatients in FLINT across
both treatment groups, at which point 207 (73%iegpés$ had completed the 72-week treatment phas@&aneimaining patients
had all been on study for 60 weeks or more. Asgfats review, the trial's DSMB expressed concagarding hyperlipidemia
and the occurrence of serious cardiovascular eveats of which were seen in both the treatmentgadebo groups, but
disproportionately in patients receiving OCA. Howeuvhe NIDDK has advised us that while the incitenf the serious
cardiovascular events was numerically higher inpents receiving OCA therapy, it was not stiigly significantly
different as compared to the placebo group.

The likely association of a serious adverse evattht tneatment is designated according to the poaldnvestigator’s and
NIDDK'’s clinical judgment in one of the followingve categories: definitely related, probably refatgossibly related,
probably not related and definitely not related ti@f ten cardiovascular serious adverse eventstegpiom FLINT, none were
considered probably or definitely related to treain Eight of them occurred in five patients andengetermined to be either
definitely not related or probably not relatedreatment. The remaining two serious adverse ewenisred in two patients
receiving OCA who were unblinded. These two unlg#thévents were subsequently considered by the NIROI€ possibly
related to treatment, although in one of the cHsegrincipal investigator had determined thatehent was unrelated. Based
on our own medical review of the detailed caseohiss, numerous comorbid conditions and other adiihy relevant factors
affecting each of these patients, we believe tiegd two serious adverse events were probablyelaéed to OCA treatment.
Any such unblinded serious adverse events thatrmetin patients found to be receiving placebo wadt have been reported
to us, so we do not know the corresponding nhumbsuch events that may have occurred in the plaeetno

The first of the unblinded serious adverse eveotsimed in a 73 year old patient who, along with®Aand type 2
diabetes, suffered from a number of other comaebitlitions for which she was taking numerous meitioa. This patient
also had a history of recurring urinary tract inifecs. Approximately five weeks after initiating @CGherapy, she developed a
urinary tract infection and urosepsis, which issegliby a bacterial infection that spreads througti@ubody via the
bloodstream and can rapidly lead to multiple orfg@inre and death. This resulted in the patientimiediate admission into the
intensive care unit, or ICU, at which time her O@d&atment was discontinued. Over the subsequentmadaring which time
the patient remained hospitalized in the ICU, stpegenced cardiogenic shock, respiratory faildegeriorating kidney
function and a number of other complications. Skeatvon to develop congestive heart failure and pukny edema, then was
reported to have experienced a stroke and died.eMerybased on a computed tomography, or CT, sitaprincipal
investigator subsequently found evidence agaimsbtitcurrence of a stroke and concluded that thetevesulting in the
patient’s death were unlikely related to OCA treatitn While there has been no reassessment matie bi{DDK, the
principal investigator reported instead that in
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his view death was due to congestive heart fadmarespiratory failure in the setting of the patteerecurrent urinary tract
infections, sepsis and malnutrition.

The second unblinded serious adverse event occurige89 year old patient who, along with NASH fetéd from
numerous other comorbid conditions for which she ta&ing several medications. This patient alsoahhistory of multiple
prior surgeries, as well as hyperlipidemia, abndliyredevated liver enzymes, diabetes, obesity aygettension. At
approximately 30 weeks after initiating OCA thera@yCT scan showed improved fatty liver in thiSguatt The laboratory
results from this patient’s visit approximately weeks after initiating OCA therapy showed an imgablipid profile,
normalized liver enzymes, and improved glycosyldtechoglobin, an assessment of diabetes controtesuigntly, the family
of the patient reported that she had died of aextied heart attack approximately two weeks aftefas visit, although the
cause of death was not confirmed by the patiemi’sgry care physician.

Phase 2 DSP Trial for NASH

In addition to the FLINT trial, as of January 204y collaborator DSP had completed enrolimentQf gatients in a
double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel groumf$2 NASH trial in Japan. This trial is evaluatihg efficacy and safety of a
once-daily 10 mg, 20 mg or 40 mg dose of OCA aspamed to placebo. The primary efficacy endpoirthenDSP NASH trial
is the same as that being used in the FLINT toiased on histological improvement as measuredtiwp-goint improvement in
the NAS with no worsening in fibrosis. In additidristological scoring based on the Matteoni scosygtem, which has been
shown to be correlated to clinical outcomes, isupdal as a secondary endpoint. This trial is arstteiphto be completed by the
end of 2015.

NASH Regulatory Pathway

We intend to discuss with the FDA and EMA in 2014 dhnical and regulatory requirements to advan€&dor the
treatment of NASH. In September 2013, the FDA a#&AD jointly sponsored a two-day workshop that lybitogether
relevant regulatory, academic and industry stakdgslto discuss clinical trial design and endpdmtdiver disease secondary
to NAFLD, primarily focusing on NASH. During thisaxkshop, the FDA stated its willingness to consitieracceptance of
surrogate endpoints reasonably likely to predicicdl benefit to enable earlier accelerated apalrofnew NASH therapies,
provided there was a commitment by the sponsootapdete clinical outcomes trials on a post-marlgebasis to confirm
clinical benefit. However, these statements docoostitute formal regulatory guidance. Subject tietailed review of the
FLINT trial results and the receipt of formal guides and guidance from the FDA and EMA, we cursehglieve that we will
likely conduct one or two pivotal Phase 3 clinioatcomes trials of OCA in NASH patients. We expaty such Phase 3 trial
would incorporate an interim surrogate endpoint thay serve as the basis for filing for accelerategroval in the United
States and the equivalent conditional or potestiall approval in Europe. Examples of potentialregate endpoints include
the use of histological improvement, using the Nk@&nother scoring system, or histological resofutf NASH in pre-
cirrhotic patients or improvements in histologiorfisis scores and/or hepatic venous pressure gtadieHVPG, in cirrhotic
patients.

Pending discussion with the FDA and EMA, along veittailability of sufficient funding, we plan to imte a randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 cliniagttomes trial in NASH patients with advanced filisdg.g., bridging
fibrosis) who are considered to have irreversilidease and in whom diet and lifestyle changes dapoear to be of benefit.
We anticipate that this trial will evaluate livezlated adverse clinical outcomes, such as the @ssgm to fibrosis, as the
primary endpoint. We believe that this trial wouldorporate a planned interim analysis focusindpistologic improvement
after one to two years of treatment, which coultepbally serve as the basis for accelerated agpréis currently
contemplated, the trial will evaluate the effedta @nce-daily dose of OCA, as compared to plac8bould we gain agreement
with the FDA and EMA on the design of this propostl, we anticipate that we will need to securdidnal funding to
conduct it. Such a trial would involve several higetipatients and we currently plan to initiate this in the first half of 2015.
In the meantime, we intend to initiate a Phaséa2itrvestigating the lipid metabolic effects of @@ NASH patients in the
second half of 2014 and may also initiate a Phasal2f OCA in pediatric NASH patients in late 20
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Additional Potential Patient Populations Indications for OCA

Based on the potential protective effects of OChimliver, we are conducting clinical trials indgtibnal patient
populations and chronic liver disease indicatioith wotentially significant market opportunitiesitivthe view of expanding
OCA's therapeutic applications.

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Portal Hypertension

A study in an animal model of cirrhosis showed (B&A treatment has the potential to acutely revpos&al hypertension
through a localized vasodilatory mechanism thatdependent of its longer term anti-fibrotic effedPortal hypertension
results from increased pressure in the portal welmich feeds most of the blood supply to the lividre condition typically
occurs as the liver becomes cirrhotic and morelridiereby offering more resistance to blood infloem the portal vein.

Many patients with liver cirrhosis develop portapleytension, which is a common cause of morbidity mortality at the end
stage of all chronic liver diseases. An early mestdtion of portal hypertension is the developnoémisophageal varices, which
are distended and weakened veins in the lowemp#ne esophagus that can burst and cause cataistlidpeding. More than
40% of patients with cirrhosis have varices attiime of diagnosis. The gold-standard assessmepurtdl venous pressure is to
measure HVPG. Clinically significant portal hypesen is defined as an HVPG of greater than telhimaters of mercury, or
mm Hg, where one to five mm Hg HVPG is consideredmal. Patients with an HVPG of greater than 12 Hgrare at
particularly high risk of variceal bleeding. Eadbdding episode carries an approximately 20% mnityrtask.

There are no therapies approved for the treatnfgrdrtal hypertension by the FDA or other majoruiegory authorities,
although beta blockers are commonly used to tra@mts. However, they are effective in only 2598886 of patients and have
significant safety issues in patients with portgbértension. Among other concerns, beta blockevedsystemic blood
pressure in these patients who already tend to loavblood pressure, or hypotension, which predisgdhem to fainting and
inadequate blood perfusion of vital organs.

Phase 2 Trial for Portal Hypertension/Cirrhosis

It has been shown clinically that reducing pressutée portal vein, as determined by hepatic vemressure gradient
(HVPG) measurement, can lower the risk of adveweames such as the incidence of variceal bleetlifggtherefore believe
that HVPG reduction is an appropriate therapeutdpeint to demonstrate clinical proof-of-conceppatients with portal
hypertension.

We recently completed a pilot open-label Phasei2baf OCA, called the PESTO trial, in 33 patientish alcoholic liver
cirrhosis and portal hypertension in order to egtduhe ability of OCA, administered once-dailydtO mg or 25 mg dose, to
reduce HVPG in patients with end-stage liver diseastotal of 24 patients were evaluated for safetgt efficacy and nine
more were evaluated for safety alone. Top-lineltedtom the trial showed that approximately 38%pafients evaluated for
efficacy in the combined dose groups met the pymeadpoint, which was defined as a reduction in BM# 15% or more
and/or to less than 12 mm Hg after OCA treatmenafproximately seven days. Furthermore, approxind@id% of patients in
the combined dose groups experienced a clinicaffgmmgful reduction of HVPG of 10% or more.

The trial’s principal investigator of the trial pieusly presented results from eight patients éedcht his center in the 10
mg OCA dose group at the annual AASLD meeting inéfober 2012. At the forthcoming meeting of EASL jebhis taking
place in April 2014, the principal investigator Mok presenting the combined results from his ¢enta total of 16 patients
from both dose groups. These data appear to deratsnatgreater reduction in HVYPG compared to timebioed data from the
four other centers that participated later in tig &nd which collectively only enrolled eight fatts, including two centers that
recruited just one patient each.

Treatment with OCA did not result in any signifitehange in systemic blood pressure, which isguieat problem in
patients taking beta blockers since cirrhotic peasievith portal hypertension tend to have abnoryrlallv blood pressure and
are at risk of hypotension. OCA was generally watrated by patients in this trial, with no distionations and only one SAE
being observed (a lacunar infarct), which was dekcumdikely related to treatment. Pruritus was régabin five patients, all but
one of whom were in the 25 mg dose group, and vaslynmild in nature. We are utilizing the safeigtal from the PESTO
trial, which
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focused on the evaluation of OCA in patients withl-stage liver disease, to supplement our safety st for our planned
NDA and MAA filings for PBC.

Pending discussion with the FDA and EMA, along \tfite availability of sufficient funding, we plan iitiate a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Pt&asknical outcomes trial in cirrhotic patients WwiNASH and other chronic
liver diseases such as alcoholic liver diseas@mbihepatitis C or B viral infection and PBC. Wieipate that the primary
endpoint of the outcomes trial will likely be theepention of clinical complications associated vaiithosis. We anticipate that
this trial would incorporate a planned interim ais&d focusing on HVPG and histological improvemierfibrosis after one to
two years of treatment. As currently contemplatkd.trial will evaluate the effects of once-dail®, as compared to placebo
in patients with liver cirrhosis. Should we gaimegment with the FDA and EMA on the design of thigpgpsed trial, we
anticipate that we will need to secure additionalding to conduct it. Such a trial would involvereeal hundred patients and
we currently plan to initiate this trial in thedtrhalf of 2015.

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Bile Acid Diarrhea fD)

In January 2014, investigators at the Imperial €y#lof London completed an open-label Phase 2adaited the
OBADIAH trial, investigating the use of OCA as adtment for BAD. The Imperial College of Londoraiting as the sponsor
of the OBADIAH trial. BAD, also known as idiopathile acid diarrhea, is a common chronic diarrteealdition due to
excessive bile acid production. Primary BAD ismastied to affect approximately one percent of theufation and about one-
third of patients diagnosed with diarrhea-predominaitable bowel syndrome, or IBS-D. Prior stugllgave shown these
patients have low levels of fibroblast growth faei®, or FGF19, a protein hormone released byl¢uen, under FXR control,
which suppresses bile acid production by the livée resulting excess bile acids spill into thestine where they produce
diarrhea by stimulating osmotic intestinal secreti®GF19 is synthesized in the small intestine uitte direct regulation of
FXR and all of our completed Phase 2 trials haveatestrated that OCA markedly stimulates the releds&F19, which
passes to the liver where it is involved in redgdiile acid production.

The primary outcome measure of the OBADIAH trigidsassess the change in FGF19 levels and sympuiorassover a
two-week period in patients with primary BAD, sedary BAD typically in patients with Crohn’s diseasbo had part of their
small intestine surgically removed and in a congrolup of IBS-D patients who have normal FGF19 IevEop-line results
from the trial show that two-week therapy with O@ults in significant induction of FGF19, togetkgth improved clinical
endpoints associated with patient symptoms duétergprimary bile acid diarrhea or secondary bité diarrhea due to
Crohn’s disease, with no response shown in a cagitooip consisting of IBS-D patients with normal FI® levels. The
principal investigator of the trial presented ilitiesults in patients with primary bile acid dieea at the 2013 Digestive Disease
Week, or DDW, annual meeting in May 2013 and hasnsited an abstract focusing on the patients witosdary BAD to be
presented at the DDW meeting taking place in May4201

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Alcoholic Hepatitis

Alcoholic liver disease encompasses a clinical spetof disease that includes fatty liver, alcobdiepatitis and cirrhosis.
Alcoholic hepatitis is an acute syndrome of progiresinflammatory liver injury associated with letegym heavy intake of
alcohol. Patients with severe acute alcoholic higpate at high risk of early death, which carctea rate of 50% or greater
within 30 days. The prevalence of alcoholic hefsatitay be estimated from the prevalence of alcehmgliwhich affects
approximately 8% of the general adult populatiothie United States or about 16 million people, bfol up to 35% may have
alcoholic hepatitis, or about 5 million adult patig in the United States.

The Translational Research and Evolving Alcoholéphtitis Treatment (TREAT) Consortium consistingref Mayo
Clinic Rochester, Indiana University, and Virgi@@mmonwealth University, in collaboration with tNational Institute on
Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA), have initiatea Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA for the treatmehélcoholic hepatitis.
Indiana University is acting as the sponsor ofttte. The trial is a randomized, double-blind, tiaénter study designed to
assess the safety and efficacy of a once-daily db%6 mg of OCA compared to placebo over a peoiosix weeks in patients
with moderately severe alcoholic hepatitis. Thaichl trial is expected to enroll 60 patients begig in the second quarter of
2014.
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If this trial supports the further development &®as a treatment for alcoholic hepatitis, we apéte that we will need to
secure additional funding to advance OCA for thidigation.

Potential Use of OCA to Treat Primary Sclerosing @hngitis (PSC)

PSC is a rare autoimmune cholestatic liver distizeteslowly damages the bile ducts inside and detsie liver. PSC has
about one-third the prevalence of PBC and more @@ of cases occur in men. While there is no apggtdreatment for PSC,
ursodiol is often prescribed off-label for PSC pats. Patients whose ALP levels decrease to belowes ULN have a better
prognosis than those with persistently high ALRelevA significant proportion of patients progréssirrhosis with
corresponding complications that include bilianycstires, liver cancer and cholangiocarcinoma. Agpnately 75% of PSC
patients have overlapping inflammatory bowel diseasincipally ulcerative colitis.

We intend to initiate a multicenter, 24-week, ramiiced, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phased &f OCA in 75
patients with PSC in the second half of 2014. Wegnate that this trial will evaluate the effects1.5 mg, 3 mg, 5 mg and 10
mg doses of OCA compared to placebo in patients baseline ALP levels higher than two times ULNeTmimary efficacy
endpoint will be the reduction of ALP levels, asmmared to placebo. In addition, OCA'’s effect oneotbecondary liver
function endpoints, as well as ulcerative colifimptoms, will also be assessed. If this trial sufgptihe further development of
OCA as a treatment for PSC, we anticipate that leneed to secure additional funding to advanceAd@ this indication.

Other OCA Clinical Trials

The Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Sweden @nspring and has initiated a placebo-controlledset?a
pharmacodynamic trial of OCA in patients undergdiagatric surgery or gallstone surgery, called@@ABSGS trial. The
primary purpose of the trial is to evaluate theef§ of OCA on bile acid, lipid and glucose turnowe20 morbidly obese
patients and 20 gallstone patients who will be aisteéred a 25 mg dose of OCA or placebo once @ailthree weeks prior to
undergoing bariatric and gallstone surgery, respagt Biopsies of the liver and abdominal fat atgery will determine if
OCA has an effect in these patients. We anticifratethe OCABSGS trial will be completed in theaeat half of 2015.

Potential Future Product Candidates

In addition to OCA, we are developing other novt bcid analog compounds targeting FXR and a skdedicated bile
acid receptor called TGR5, which is a target aéiest for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Wenthte continue advancing
these and other product candidates as we builgipaline, in some cases subject to the procureofeadditional funding.

INT-767

INT-767 is an orally administered dual FXR and TGRf®nist that, like OCA, is derived from the primauman bile acid
CDCA. This product candidate has been shown tgpeoaimately three times more potent than OCA aBXR agonist. In
animal models of chronic liver, intestinal and leégrdiseases, INT-767 has consistently demonstgatsater anti-fibrotic and
anti-inflammatory effects than OCA. We own exclesworldwide, royalty-free rights to INT-767.

We currently plan to advance INT-767 through thecpinical studies required to support the advancermkthis product
candidate to an IND, with an intended focus on t®ping it as a novel treatment for chronic kidnéseadses, such as diabetic
nephropathy, that involve progressive fibrosis iegdo kidney failure.

Subiject to the IND becoming effective, we intendniiate an open-label Phase 1 trial of INT-76healthy volunteers in
the fourth quarter of 2014. The trial will evalusite safety, tolerability and pharmacokineticsingke and multiple ascending
doses of INT-767. If the preclinical and Phaseidichl data support the advancement of INT-767 Piase 2 clinical trials, we
anticipate that we will need to secure additionalding for the further development of this compaund
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INT-777

INT-777 is an orally administered TGR5 agonist featerived from the primary human bile acid chalgid. We have
completed the preclinical studies necessary fofiling of an IND. We own exclusive worldwide, rdyafree rights to INT-
777.

Our in vitro studies of INT-777 showed that thedaret candidate has the potential to selectivelyelaf GR5, a receptor
that has been shown to directly regulate the rele&glucagon like peptide-1, or GLP-1, in the gtitge with resulting insulin
sensitizing effects. There are several importadteffective marketed drugs that enhance the eftdd®L.P-1 through different
mechanisms, but none are able to induce the endaggmoduction of this hormone, and we believedli®interest in the
potential for a TGR5 agonist to provide additiveééts. TGR5 has also been shown in animal modeisdulate other
metabolic pathways in brown fat and skeletal mus@¢ drive energy expenditure. The receptor mag play a role in the
control of inflammation, which is increased in itisuesistant diabetic conditions.

In animal models of diabetes, treatment with INT~Tduced GLP-1 secretion, with resulting insukmsitivity and
normalization of glycemic control, increased basargy expenditure and prevention of weight gaid, @areduction in blood
lipid levels together with liver steatosis and dibis. We believe that these preclinical resultddceupport further development
of INT-777 and our other TGR5 agonists in the tresit of type 2 diabetes and associated metabslrabrs. We intend to
continue development of INT-777 through potent@laborations with third parties, over the nextesgV years.

Strategic Collaborations and Research Arrangements

Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma

On March 29, 2011, we entered into a license agreewith Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co. Ltd., undéioh we
granted DSP an exclusive license to research, ole\eld commercialize OCA as a therapeutic forrettnent of PBC and
NASH in Japan and China (excluding Taiwan) and edjret to commercialize other FXR agonist compowrdsoducts for
PBC, NASH or specified additional indications iruatries in which DSP retains an exclusive licems®€CA under the
agreement. Under the terms of the agreement, D&fisred to use commercially reasonable effortdeteelop and
commercialize OCA in Japan and China for the treatnof PBC and NASH, and we are obligated undeagteement to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop OCA idetef Japan and China. We are also responsibkufgplying DSP with
clinical and commercial supply of OCA requested8P pursuant to clinical and commercial supply egrents that include
terms specified in the agreement. DSP has agraatydhe term of the agreement to not commerciaizg compound that is a
FXR agonist for use in the treatment of PBC or NA@hRer than pursuant to the agreement.

We granted DSP an option under the agreement &noah exclusive license to commercialize OCA fafi¢ations other
than PBC and NASH on the same terms as are shtifotthe agreement. DSP may exercise this optidin kgspect to any
indication at any time during the two-year peri@intnencing on the date we notify DSP of the commeiece of a Phase 3
clinical trial involving OCA for such indicationubject to DSP’s payment of an option fee for eaddtiteonal indication. No
option fee is required to be paid by DSP if it eXses its option for any additional indication omyChina.

We also granted DSP an option under the agreemextd Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Vietnam, the Philggi, Thailand,
Singapore and/or Indonesia to its exclusive licarséhe same terms as are set forth in the agraeD8R may exercise this
option with respect to any such country at any tirpauntil the date on which regulatory approvatéonmercialize OCA is
granted in Japan, subject to DSP’s payment of &iorofee for each country. If we accept or makeaszbfide offer of exclusive
rights to a third party to develop and commerc&l@CA in any of these countries, we must firstfigdliSP and DSP has the
right to exercise its option with respect to angtsaountry. In addition, prior to accepting or makia bona fide offer of any
exclusive development and commercialization righgslving OCA in the United States and Canada tioira party, we must
first engage in good faith negotiations with DSEhwespect to the grant to DSP of exclusive rightsevelop and
commercialize OCA in such countries.

DSP made an up-front payment to us in the amou$156f0 million upon execution of the agreementddition, DSP may
be required to pay us up to an aggregate of appately $30.0 million for the
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achievement of development milestones, $70.0 mifiar the achievement of regulatory approval mdess and $200.0
million for the achievement of sales milestonesbasn aggregate sales amounts. In January 201M)EH2K stopped the
double-blind treatment phase of the FLINT triaNASH patients early following a planned interim s#& showing that OCA
had met the primary efficacy endpoint of the thased on a pre-defined interim efficacy criteribhis event met the criteria for
the payment to us of a $1.0 million developmenesiitne by DSP. DSP is also obligated to pay usdimyalties ranging from
the tens to the twenties in percent based on et 8AOCA products in Japan and the other Asiamt@s covered by this
agreement. The term of the agreement, and DSPFigadioih to pay royalties to us for each OCA prodegpires on a country-
by-country basis on the later of the expiratiorthaf exclusivity period in such country, whetheotigh the expiration of
applicable patents or the introduction of generigd that compete with the OCA product, or ten yadter the first
commercial sale of such OCA product for the firssecond indication in that country. Royalty rates subject to reduction
under the agreement in specified circumstancekidimg, with respect to any country in the exclesigrritory, if sales of
generic products reach a certain threshold maHasesn that country over a specified period.

DSP may terminate the agreement in its entiregnoa country-by-country or indication by indicatibasis upon 90 days’
written notice. Either we or DSP may terminatedijeeement in the event of the uncured materialcbreg or bankruptcy of
the other party, subject to certain dispute regmiyprocedures. If DSP were to terminate the ageeeior our material breach,
it would have a perpetual license following theeefive date of termination, subject to the paynignDSP of a royalty based
on net sales of OCA products, the amount of whighdspend on whether the effective date of termoraoccurs prior to or
after the date of first commercial sale of an OGaéduct. If we were to terminate the agreement f8PB3 material breach or if
DSP were to voluntarily terminate the agreemenfB3cense under the agreement would terminate.

Les Laboratories Servier and Institut de Recherct&arvier

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a research,ldewent, license and commercialization agreemett kes
Laboratories Servier and Institut De Recherchesi&gior Servier, under which we granted Serviergkclusive license to
research, develop and commercialize novel TGR5iatgosynthesized by us under the research progmuconduct pursuant to
the agreement (other than INT-767 and INT-777, Whiere not synthesized under the research progare in the
treatment of diabetes, obesity, atherosclerosig@perfusion injury in all countries other than theited States and Japan, and
Servier granted us an exclusive royalty-free liegtosresearch and develop such compounds for ube imneatment of diabetes,
obesity, atherosclerosis and reperfusion injutthéUnited States and Japan. Under the terms afgre=ment, Servier is
required to use commercially reasonable effortdeteelop compounds outside the United States arahJaml we are required
to use commercially reasonable efforts to devetlwpgounds in the United States and Japan.

We are obligated to conduct and are conducting@areh program under the agreement to identifyoptichize compounds
that meet certain specified criteria sufficient fiarther development by Servier. The initial terfritee research program is one
year, subject to extension by mutual agreementai®@bligated under the agreement to provide Semite a specified
number of full time equivalent employees for thee@ch program up to a specified maximum per yeauly 2012, February
2013 and again in November 2013, we entered inen@ments to this agreement to extend the termeafetbearch program,
which now expires on September 30, 2015, on theedarancial terms as the original research progiaofuding the
reimbursement by Servier of the full time equivaleosts incurred by us in the conduct of the redeprogram, up to a set
maximum amount.

Servier has agreed to pay for the development egstsr Servier incur in conducting certain predaiitrials and clinical
trials with respect to any compound that meetsipdcriteria. We have agreed to reimburse Semeto a mid-double digit
percentage of the total historical developmentscimaturred by Servier in relation to clinical dey@nent activities aimed at
achieving regulatory approval in the European Urgind the United States if we enter into a partipragreement, or
commence development or commercialization activitie our own, with respect to a compound in theddhStates. Servier
may credit a portion of any such reimbursable dgumlent costs against any milestone or royalty paysndue and payable by
Servier under the agreement until all such reimdhlesamounts are repaid. We have not incurred acty development costs
since inception, and we do not anticipate incureng such development costs
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during fiscal 2014. In addition, if we enter intgartnership agreement with respect to a compoerdldped under the
agreement solely in Japan, we and Servier havedgoeenter into good faith negotiations regardimgterms and conditions
applicable to the reimbursement of developmentscdistve do not enter into a partnership agreemathtrespect to the
compound in the United States or Japan within tigezes from the date regulatory approval is reckfee a compound in the
European Union, Servier will have the first rightrtegotiate with us regarding the terms and camtapplicable to the grant
to Servier of an exclusive license to develop asmmercialize the product in the United States ani#pan.

We have the right to conduct clinical trials andaii regulatory approvals involving compounds depet under the
agreement at our sole expense in the United Statkdapan, and Servier has the right to conduttalitrials and obtain
regulatory approvals involving compounds developeder the agreement at its sole expense in alt othentries. We and
Servier have agreed during the term of the resgaadram not to research or develop any TGR5 agani, during the term
of the agreement, not to commercialize any TGRS &gcovered by the agreement other than pursoahetagreement.
However, this provision does not restrict us froeweloping INT-767 and INT-777.

Servier has made an up-front payment to us initheuat of €1.0 million upon execution of the agreatrand has agreed to
reimburse us for a portion of the full time equéesa costs incurred by us in the conduct of theaneseprogram, up to a set
maximum amount. In addition, Servier may be requtcepay us up to an aggregate of approximately g8llion for the
achievement of development milestones, €10.0 mifiay the achievement of regulatory submission @pgloval milestones
and €90.0 million for the achievement of sales stdaes based on aggregate sales amounts. Serigo isbligated to pay us
tiered single digit percentage royalties basedeirsales of products developed under the agreesnestountry-by-country
basis. Servier's obligation to pay royalties focke@roduct expires on a country-by-country bassnuje later of the expiration
of the last to expire patent licensed by us thaecothe product and ten years from the date stff émmmercial sale of that
product. Royalty rates are subject to reductiorenide agreement in specified circumstances, inmdudith respect to any
country if sales of generic products reach a aettaieshold in that country.

The agreement expires when no payment obligatimnerawill become due. Servier may terminate theagent at any
time for any reason or if we consummate a chang®wutfrol transaction. Either we or Servier may teate the agreement in
the event of the uncured material breach or insmy®f the other party. Upon the termination of diggeement by Servier for
our material breach or insolvency, Servier maytsatlection, have its license from us under theagent become perpetual
and royalty-free following the effective date ofrteénation. Upon termination of the agreement bygemwithout cause, we
will maintain our rights to the technology licengedServier outside of the United States and JaparServier will pay us the
balance of any unpaid funding under the researaram. Upon the termination of the agreement bfpuServier's material
breach or insolvency, we may, at our election, fmwdicense from Servier under the agreement beqmenpetual following
the effective date of termination.

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive anddfiey Diseases

In July 2010, we entered into a cooperative re$eand development agreement, or CRADA, with the DKDa division
within the National Institutes of Health, to contloar Phase 2b FLINT trial for the treatment of NA®&ith OCA. As
discussed above, in January 2014, the treatmesepifaour Phase 2b FLINT trial of OCA for the treant of NASH was
stopped early following a planned interim analy$iswing that OCA had met the primary endpoint efttiel based on a pre-
defined interim criterion. All patients in thisdtihave entered a pre-specified 24-week obsenadttwuble-blind phase.

The NIDDK is providing the majority of funding fdhe trial. In accordance with the terms of the CR\We have made
payments of $3.0 million to date and no furtherrpeyts are required under the agreement.

Under the terms of the CRADA, any inventions urttier CRADA will be owned by the party that produsedh
inventions. However, any inventions jointly deveddpby the parties will be jointly owned. We will\eathe first opportunity to
file patent applications in respect of any joirdgveloped inventions under the CRADA. If we do exércise our rights, the
NIDDK will be able to file a patent application iespect of such inventions.
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The CRADA provides that we have an exclusive opt@man exclusive or nonexclusive commercializatioense on any
inventions made solely or jointly by the NIDDK umdhe CRADA. The U.S. government has also beentgdaa worldwide,
nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paidiagnse in respect of any subject inventions utideiCRADA, including
inventions made solely by us, for research or ogloeernment purposes.

The CRADA has a term of four years, ending in 20¢4. The parties to the CRADA may terminate thédDR by mutual
written consent. Either party may terminate the CRAat any time by providing 60 days prior writteatice to the other party.

University of Perugia and Professor Roberto Peliiag

On January 1, 2012, we entered into a sponsorednegsagreement with the University of Perugia Rrafessor Roberto
Pellicciari, whom we refer to as the Research srtb research and realize improvements to theepsdfor synthesizing and
supplying gram scale reference standard quantfi€CA, INT-767 and INT-777. Professor Pelliccisrione of our founders.

Pursuant to this agreement, we are obligated tahmaniversity of Perugia an aggregate of €80 @@tually during the
term of the agreement in quarterly installment§2,000.

Under the terms of the sponsored research agregmeiiave been assigned all rights, title and éstiein patent rights and
materials upon creation related to the researdegtceffective as of the date of creation. We hitaeeright and final decision-
making ability as to the filing, prosecution or mzinance of all patents or patent applications mogeny patent rights or
materials developed through the agreement. TheaRgs@arties are required to promptly and fullcldise to us in writing any
invention conceived and/or reduced to practicdh@donduct of the agreement. Under the terms aligheement, we have a
right of first refusal to negotiate terms to expainel agreement prior to the end of its term, omuggmewal, to include certain
other research programs.

The sponsored research agreement had an origimabfeone year from the date of execution. In ARAL3, by mutual
agreement of the parties, the term of this agreemas extended, effective as of January 1, 2011, december 31, 2013 on
the same financial terms as were previously incéff@e are currently negotiating a revised agreérweprovide for their
supply. Either we or the Research Parties may texrtaithe agreement in the event of the uncuredrialdteeach of the other
party after receipt of notice in writing of suctebch from the other party. If the agreement is iteated by the Research Parties
for a material breach by us during any quarterkygoke the agreement provides that the ResearcieBavill be entitled to all
rights, title and interest in and to the patenitsgand technology created and assigned to usgdiivit quarterly period. If the
agreement is terminated by us for a material brégahe Research Parties, the agreement providesittfunds paid by us to
the Research Parties not expended or irrevocalbiyrétted upon the effective date of termination Wil refunded to us. Also,
Professor Pellicciari will be required to returhrabterials and tangible documentation containioigfidential information. We
may also terminate the agreement if Professordelli is unable or unwilling to continue to contitesearch or otherwise
perform his obligations under the agreement.

TES Pharma Srl

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a research anelapment agreement with TES Pharma Srl, or T&8ohduct
research and development activities for our TGRIg@m. The research program is managed by ProfBsgmrto Pellicciari,
who is an owner of TES.

We are required under the agreement to pay TEggmegate amount of €250,000 each quarter duringethe of the
agreement. Payments will be made on a quarterig.bBse agreement provides that any funds paic®8 that have not been
expended or irrevocably committed will be refunded:s.

Under the terms of the agreement, any inventioeated in connection with the activities performeder the agreement
will be our sole and exclusive property and algoral works of authorship made by TES within thepee of the project that are
protectable by copyright are works made for hifeSThas agreed to assign to us all of its rightsstand interests in all
inventions and other intellectual property rightsler the agreement.

22




TABLE OF CONTENTS

The agreement had an original term of one yeafulyp 2012, February 2013, August 2013 and Nover2b#&B, we entered
into amendments to extend the term of this agregmadrich now expires on September 30, 2015, inwuctjon with the
extension of the term of our research program ®éhvier. Pursuant to our amended agreement with WWESire required to
pay TES an aggregate amount of €250,000 on a glyastesis during the extended term. We also agreg@dovide TES with a
low single-digit royalty based on worldwide netesabf products developed under the agreement onrgrg-by-country basis.
Royalty rates are subject to reduction under theeagent in specified circumstances, including wétspect to any country if
sales of generic products reach a certain threshalet country.

Either we or TES may terminate the agreement iretkeat of an uncured material breach after readiptritten notice in of
such breach from the other party. If we terminhgeagreement for a material breach by TES, anysfpaé to TES that have
not been expended or irrevocably committed by thélibe returned to us. TES is also obligated ttivée to us all remaining
compounds and tangible documentation containingaemtial information upon our request. If the agrent is terminated by
TES for a material breach by us, TES is entitlethéobalance of payments owed to them once theppgte quarterly reports
have been submitted to us.

Consulting Agreements with Professor Pellicciari
Servier TGR5 Agonists

On August 1, 2011, we entered into a consultingagent with Professor Roberto Pellicciari to prevédientific guidance
for a research program relating to selective orselective TGR5 agonists to be undertaken by TES@supervise and
coordinate this research program. Professor Piliagill also act as our designated representaiiva joint steering
committee formed pursuant to our collaboration egrent with Servier.

The agreement provides that Professor Pelliccidir@ceive compensation at an annual rate of €1@Dfor his services
during the term of the agreement in quarterly ihstents of €37,500. The agreement also providesRhafessor Pellicciari will
be eligible for a €50,000 performance bonus basetth® success of the research collaboration. THerpgance bonus is a
discretionary bonus based upon our assessmenrg sfitftess of the initial work performed under thikaboration, as extended.
No such bonus has been agreed upon by the pasta@<ecember 31, 2013.

Under the terms of the agreement, all inventioeated in connection with the activities performeder the agreement are
our sole and exclusive property and all originatkgoof authorship made by Professor Pellicciari #va protectable by
copyright are works made for hire. Professor Pabid has also assigned to us all rights, title emerest in all inventions and
any other intellectual property rights created uritle agreement from January 1, 2011 through theoéiis term. Professor
Pellicciari must provide timely written notice afiyainventions that he develops during the ternhefdgreement.

The agreement had an original term of one yeafulyp 2012, February 2013, August 2013 and Nover2b#&B, we entered
into amendments to extend the term of this agregmadrich now expires on September 30, 2015, inwuctjon with the
extension of the term of our research program ®éhvier, on the same financial terms as our origioasulting agreement
with Professor Pellicciari. Either we or ProfesBetlicciari may terminate the agreement in the ewéa material breach by the
other party that is not remedied within 30 daysrafeceipt of written notice of such breach from tither party.

OCA, INT-767 and INT-777

On January 1, 2012, we entered into a consultingesgent with Professor Pellicciari to provide stifenguidance for our
research program relating to OCA, INT-767 and INI-&nd to supervise and coordinate this reseacgrgm.

The agreement provides that Professor Pelliccidir@ceive compensation at an annual rate of €1@Dfor his services
during the term of the agreement in quarterly ihstents of €25,000.

Under the terms of the agreement, all inventioesiterd in connection with the activities performeder the agreement are
our sole and exclusive property and all originatkgoof authorship made by Professor Pellicciari #ra protectable by
copyright are works made for hire. Professor PaHic has also
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assigned to us all rights, title and interest Inralentions and any other intellectual properghts created under the agreement.
Professor Pellicciari must provide timely writteotice of any inventions that he develops duringtémm of the agreement.

The agreement has a term of one year. In April 2B¢3nutual agreement of the parties, the ternhigfagreement was
extended, effective as of January 1, 2013, untilebgber 31, 2013 on the same financial terms as pvexgously in effect. We
are currently contemplating the extension of tigieament. Either we or Professor Pellicciari magnieate the agreement in
the event of a material breach by the other padyis not remedied within 30 days after receiptoften notice of such breach
from the other party.

WIL Research Laboratories, LLC

On October 2, 2007, we entered into a master langraervices agreement with WIL Research LaboiegptLC, or WIL,
to perform certain research and laboratory servitkes agreement was amended on October 28, 2011.

On November 16, 2011, we finalized work orders With. for the FDA-required studies in mice and ratsnvestigate the
presence or absence of carcinogenic potential &5.0'%e have agreed to pay WIL an aggregate of $4llbmfor the studies,
consisting of a combination of quarterly installmhpayments of approximately $300,000 and milesfmmenents totaling
approximately $400,000 upon delivery of final résaports. If additional costs are incurred beytrelamounts specified in the
work orders, we have agreed to pay such reasoadtdigonal costs upon receipt of proper invoice. &d#cipate that the
studies will continue through completion, all mitases will be satisfied and that we will pay to Wdh aggregate of $4.0
million under this agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, we own all wooklpct and data prepared or generated by WIL irctluese of its
services, assuming our payment of all required ansospecified in the contract. WIL has agreeduatrequest and expense, to
assign to us any and all of WIL's rights in allcbseries, inventions or improvements, other thaséhrelating to the conduct
of WIL'’s business, that arise out of any studytietato the articles or substances studied or #eeafi such articles or
substances. Otherwise, we have no property rightglL’s intellectual property.

The agreement has a term ending on October 2, 2@1idh automatically extends for successive one pedods, unless
either party gives written notice to the other pattleast 60 days prior to the end of the curtemmb. Either we or WIL may
terminate the agreement upon 90 days written ndtlogvever, if a work order pertaining to the ongpstudies is outstanding,
WIL may not terminate the agreement with 90 dayittevr notice until the work order has been completeotherwise
terminated.

Commercialization

Given our stage of development, we have not estaddi a commercial organization or distribution télees. In the
United States and Europe, due to the nature ohahtiver diseases and the limited options for timent, patients suffering
from diseases such as PBC and their physicianga@nare well informed and often have a high degvéorganization, which
may make it easier to identify target populatidrenid when OCA is approved for PBC and subsequémtlgther indications.
We believe that the market for the treatment of PBRAESH and other indications is a specialty carekeiadriven by key
opinion leaders in the hepatology and gastroerdgyoiields. Most patients are treated by physicighe specialize in the
treatment of liver disease, including both hepajisits and certain gastroenterologists.

Our current plan is to commercialize OCA ourselifésis approved. We anticipate that our commeizaion efforts will
include both our internal commercial organizatiod aontract reimbursement specialists, sales peoplenedical education
specialists, and other outside resources. OutsitteedJnited States and Europe, subject to obtginecessary marketing
approvals, we likely will seek to commercialize O@#kough distribution or other collaboration arramgnts.

If OCA is approved for the treatment of patientdw®BC, we believe that it will be possible to coermialize OCA for this
indication with a relatively small specialty sat@ganization that would target a limited and foclugeoup of specialist
physicians. As a result of our ongoing clinical Wowe have been engaged in dialogue with spedalibb treat patients with
PBC. We believe that these activities have
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provided us with a growing knowledge of the phyaia we plan to target for commercial launch of J@APBC, subject to
marketing approval in the United States and Eurd¢eintend to leverage the infrastructure and citifieb of our PBC-
focused specialty sales organization during owcpreamercial preparation for the commercializatio©€A in NASH and
other potential indications, if approved for th@sdications. Though we are continuing our markeeezgch and other pre-
commercial planning for OCA in NASH and other irations and patient populations, we currently ap#ts that we would
require a larger specialty sales organizationwhatld target a broader group of hepatologists,rgasterologists and other
specialists focused on these diseases if we recswvketing approval for these other indications.

We exclusively licensed rights to OCA to DSP inatapnd China, along with an option to expand thédusive license into
certain other Asian countries. We will rely on D®Rommercialize OCA in its territory.

Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizethbynse competition and rapid innovation. Althowgh believe that we
hold a leading position in bile acid chemistry, campetitors may be able to develop other compoondsugs that are able to
achieve similar or better results. Our potentiahpetitors include major multinational pharmaceuteanpanies, established
biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceutizaipanies and universities and other researchuitietis. Smaller or early-
stage companies may also prove to be significampetitors, particularly through collaborative agaments with large,
established companies. We believe the key compefitictors that will affect the development and owarcial success of our
product candidates are efficacy, safety and tolkaprofile, reliability, convenience of dosingyrice, the level of generic
competition and reimbursement.

Our most advanced product candidate, OCA, is ctlyréring developed as a second line treatmerfPBE. Currently,
ursodiol is the only therapy that is approved Far treatment of PBC and is generically availabke significantly lower cost
than branded products. Off-label use of fibrategdriaas been reported in PBC, though many fibratespecifically
contraindicated for use in primary biliary cirrn®siue to potential concerns over acute and long-safety in this patient
population. Although there are currently no othergsd approved for the treatment of PBC, we are awhother companies,
including Eli Lilly, Exelixis, Inc. and Phenex Pmaaceuticals AG that have FXR agonists in Phaseeauidier stages of clinical
or preclinical development that could be usedeattPBC and the other liver diseases we are taggddr. Falk Pharma GmbH,
which markets ursodiol, is conducting a Phaser8aal trial of combination ursodiol and budesonidesteroid, as a treatment
for PBC. Bristol-Myers Squibb Company is conductimgopen-label clinical trial in 20 patients of antmination of ursodiol
and abatacept, an anti-CTLA4 fusion protein cuiyemiarketed for the treatment of rheumatoid arigyrds a treatment for
PBC. Lumena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is conductingas® 2 clinical trial in 60 patients of a combiaatof ursodiol and
LUMOO01, an apical sodium-dependent bile acid trartspanhibitor, as a treatment for PBC.

There are currently no therapeutic products aputéeethe treatment of NASH, NAFLD, portal hypersén,
complications of cirrhosis or alcoholic hepatifitiere are several marketed therapeutics that arently used off-label for the
treatment of NASH, such as vitamin E (an antioxtjlansulin sensitizers (e.g., metformin), antihsljgdemic agents (e.g.,
gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and ursodiol, but nohas been clearly shown in clinical trials to attex course of the disease. We
are aware of several companies that have prodadidates in Phase 2 clinical or earlier stage prieall development for the
treatment of NASH, including Gilead Sciences, IRRaptor Pharmaceutical Corp., Genfit SA, Galmed it dResearch Ltd.,
Novo Nordisk A/S, Immuron Ltd., Takeda Pharmaceut©o Ltd, Phenex Pharmaceuticals AG, Conatus Paaeuticals Inc.,
Galectin Therapeutics Inc., Kadmon Corporation LIGbira Therapeutics, La Jolla Pharmaceutical Campaumena
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mochida Pharmaceutical Gd., and NasVax Ltd.

For the treatment of portal hypertension, the éhégrapeutic products available are beta blockeng;iware generically
available but clinical studies have shown are éffecnly in approximately 25% to 33% of patiensile having significant
safety issues.

For the treatment of BAD, bile acid binding ressngh as cholestyramine are currently used as flyeawailable targeted
therapy. Patients with this disease represent sesulb patients diagnosed with IBS-D, and we ararawf several companies
with product candidates in Phase 2 or 3 clinicakttgoment for the
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treatment of IBS-D, including Astellas Pharma U&8;.] AstraZeneca, Salix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dogarPharmaceuticals,
Inc. In addition, there are several marketed prtdinclicated for the treatment of IBS-D, includi@gaxoSmithKline’s
Lotronex and the over-the-counter product Imodium.

While there is no approved treatment for PSC, uddasl often prescribed off-label for PSC patiergeen though it is
thought to be effective only in earlier stage pate

We believe that OCA offers key potential advantamess ursodiol, beta blockers and other productiewvelopment that
could enable OCA, if approved for these indicatjdosapture meaningful market share. However, nudmur potential
competitors have substantially greater financadhnical and human resources than we do, as wegtkaser experience in the
discovery and development of product candidatesjming FDA and other regulatory approvals of prctdiand the
commercialization of those products. Accordinglyr oompetitors may be more successful than ustairibg approval from
the FDA or from other regulators for drugs and eetng widespread market acceptance. Our compétitnrgs may be more
effective, or more effectively marketed and sotdyrt any product candidate we may commercializengengdrender our product
candidates obsolete or non-competitive before wereeover the expenses of their development andneonialization. We
anticipate that we will face intense and increasiognpetition as new drugs enter the market and etivanced technologies
become available. Finally, the development of n@atment methods for the diseases we are targatinlg render our product
candidates non-competitive or obsolete. In additiam ability to compete may be affected becauseany cases insurers or
other third-party payors seek to encourage theofigeneric products.

Intellectual Property

The proprietary nature of, and protection for, progduct candidates and our discovery programs ggsss and know-how
are important to our business. We have sought ppatetection in the United States and internatilyrfalr OCA, INT-767 and
INT-777, and our discovery programs, and othermtie&s to which we have rights, where available wheén appropriate. Our
policy is to pursue, maintain and defend paterttsigwhether developed internally or licensed ftbird parties, and to protect
the technology, inventions and improvements thatcammercially important to the development of lousiness. We also rely
on trade secrets that may be important to the dpweént of our business.

Our commercial success will depend in part on abigiand maintaining patent protection and traadeetgrotection of our
current and future product candidates and the mdstheed to develop and manufacture them, as wellaessfully defending
these patents against third-party challenges. Bilityato stop third parties from making, usingllsey, offering to sell or
importing our products depends on the extent takviie have rights under valid and enforceable pat@rtrade secrets that
cover these activities. We cannot be sure thansmteill be granted with respect to any of our peggatent applications or
with respect to any patent applications filed byruthe future, nor can we be sure that any ofextisting patents or any patents
that may be granted to us in the future will be owercially useful in protecting our product candetatdiscovery programs and
processes. For this and more comprehensive rikedeo our intellectual property, please see Iltefn “Risk Factors —

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property.”

OCA (first-in-class FXR agonist)

The patent portfolio for OCA contains patents aatépt applications directed to compositions of erathanufacturing
methods, and methods of use. As of February 284,20& owned six U.S. patents, four pending U.Semadpplications, and
corresponding foreign patents and patent applicatiBoreign patents have been granted in Europgti{AuBelgium, Bulgaria,
Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finl&mdnce, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireldaly, Liechtenstein,
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Monaco, Netherlands, NorwRgland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, igf&iveden,
Switzerland, Turkey and the United Kingdom), AuéraCanada, China, Israel, Japan, and Macao. Wecexipe composition
of matter patents, if the appropriate maintenaremggwal, annuity or other governmental fees aré, paiexpire in 2022
(worldwide). It is possible that the term of theyqmosition of matter patent in the United States lagxtended up to five
additional years under the provisions of the DrtigePCompetition and Patent Term Restoration Ac%84, or the Hatch-
Waxman Act. Patent term extension may be available
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in certain foreign countries upon regulatory apptoWe expect the other patents and patent apiplicatif issued, in the
portfolio, and if the appropriate maintenance, vealeannuity, or other governmental fees are gaiéxpire from 2022 to
2033.

INT-767 (dual FXR/TGR5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-767 contains patentsl @atent applications directed to compositionsiafter and methods of
use. As of February 28, 2014, we owned two U.Sergaf two pending U.S. patent applications, andesponding foreign
patents and patent applications. Foreign patents been granted in Australia, China, Israel an@da@/e expect the issued
composition of matter patent in the U.S., if thempriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or otheeguamental fees are paid, to
expire in 2029. It is possible that the term of ¢benposition of matter patent in the United Statey be extended up to five
additional years under the provisions of the HaMdxman Act. We expect the foreign composition oftergpatents, if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or abgernmental fees are paid, to expire in 2027.rRa&em extension may be
available in certain foreign countries upon reguigiapproval. We expect the other patents and pafiications, if issued, in
the portfolio, and if the appropriate maintenameeewal, annuity or other governmental fees ard, paiexpire from 2027 to
2033. We have received assignments of rights tdNfe767 patent portfolio from all inventors, withe exception of one
inventor. That inventor is contractually obligatecorovide an assignment to us. Thus, we belieaewle are the owner of the
INT-767 patent portfolio by virtue of this contraet obligation and the patent assignments we heseived.

INT-777 (TGR5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-777 contains patentsl @atent applications directed to compositionsiafter and methods of
use. As of February 28, 2014, we owned three Latens, two pending U.S. patent applications, amcesponding foreign
patents and patent applications. Foreign patents baen granted in Australia, Eurasia (Armenia,rBagan, Belarus, Kyrgyz
Republic, Kazakhstan, Moldova, Russian FederatiajikiStan and Turkmenistan), Europe (Austria, Befgi Denmark,
Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireldaly, Luxembourg, Monaco, Netherlands, Norway andl, Portugal, Spain,
Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey and the United Kingdahapan, Mexico and South Africa. We expect the asitipn of matter
patent in the United States, if the appropriatentemiance, renewal, annuity or other governmenés &e paid, to expire in
2030. It is possible that the term of the compositf matter patent in the United States may bereled up to five additional
years under the provisions of the Hatch-Waxman YAtt.expect the foreign composition of matter pateifithe appropriate
maintenance, renewal, annuity or other governméedsl are paid, to expire beginning in 2028. Pa&nt extension may be
available in certain foreign countries upon reguigtapproval. We expect the other patents and pafglications, if issued, in
the portfolio, and if the appropriate maintenameagwal, annuity or other governmental fees are, paiexpire from 2028 to
2029.

Trade Secrets

In addition to patents, we rely on trade secretskarow-how to develop and maintain our competipesition. Trade
secrets and know-how can be difficult to protece ¥éek to protect our proprietary processes, i) pgiconfidentiality
agreements and invention assignment agreement®uiittmployees, consultants, scientific advisarsfractors and
commercial partners. These agreements are desigmedtect our proprietary information. We alsolseepreserve the
integrity and confidentiality of our data, tradess and know-how by maintaining physical secuwftpur premises and
physical and electronic security of our informattenhnology systems.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans
to develop our own manufacturing operations inftieseeable future. We currently rely on third-pantract manufacturers
for all of our required raw materials, active phaomutical ingredient, or API, and finished prodiactthe long-term safety
extension phase of our Phase 3 POISE trial of OttAhfe treatment of PBC, the confirmatory outcortnied for OCA in PBC
and the other trials and preclinical studies thatphan to conduct prior to seeking regulatory apako/Ne are currently seeking
to
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contract to qualify a back-up API manufacturer. 9tain these supplies and services from each eéttiérd parties on a
purchase order basis. We do not have long-termeaggsts with any of these third parties. We alsaatchave any current
contractual relationships for the manufacture aheeercial supplies of any of our product candid#tésey are approved. As
OCA and any of our other product candidates coetiouprogress towards potential regulatory appravalintend to enter into
agreements with a third-party contract manufactanet one or more back-up manufacturers for the cential production of
those products. Development and commercial questitf any products that we develop will need tona@ufactured in
facilities, and by processes, that comply withrémguirements of the FDA and the regulatory agenmfiesher jurisdictions in
which we are seeking approval. We currently emjaidgrnal resources to manage our manufacturingactatrs.

Government Regulation and Product Approval

Governmental authorities in the United Stateshatféderal, state and local level, and analogotisaties in other
countries extensively regulate, among other thitfgsresearch, development, testing, manufactaielihg, packaging,
promotion, storage, advertising, distribution, nedifkg and export and import of products such asdivee are developing. Our
product candidates must be approved by the FDAigireghe NDA process before they may be legally etaidkin the United
States and by the EMA through the MAA process betoeg may be legally marketed in Europe. Our prodacididates will
be subject to similar requirements in other coestprior to marketing in those countries. The pgea# obtaining regulatory
approvals and the subsequent compliance with gipédederal, state, local and foreign statutesragdlations require the
expenditure of substantial time and financial reses.

United States Government Regulation
NDA Approval Processes

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs utideFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or €K, and
implementing regulations. An applicant seeking apalto market and distribute a new drug produ¢h@United States must
typically undertake the following:

« completion of preclinical laboratory tests, anistadies and formulation studies in compliancehwiite FDA’s good
laboratory practice, or GLP, regulations;

¢ submission to the FDA of an IND, which must t&f#ect before human clinical trials may begin;

« approval by an independent institutional revievatal, or IRB, representing each clinical site befeach clinical trial
may be initiated;

« performance of adequate and well-controlled huoiical trials in accordance with good clinicabptices, or GCP, to
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed groduct for each indication;

« preparation and submission to the FDA of an NDA,;

¢ review of the product by an FDA advisory comna@ttevhere appropriate or if applicable;

« satisfactory completion of one or more FDA indjmts of the manufacturing facility or facilities &hich the product,
or components thereof, are produced to assess emo@lwith current Good Manufacturing Practices;GMP,
requirements and to assure that the facilitieshoust and controls are adequate to preserve thegitedlentity,
strength, quality and purity;

« payment of user fees and securing FDA approvii@NDA; and

« compliance with any post-approval requirememisiuiding Risk Evaluation and Mitigation StrategiesREMS, and
post-approval outcomes studies required by the FDA.

Once a pharmaceutical candidate is identified &metbpment, it enters the preclinical or nonclihtesting stage.
Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluationgasduct chemistry, toxicity and formulation, aslivees animal studies. An
IND sponsor must submit the results of the noncéihiests, together with manufacturing informatonl analytical data, to the
FDA as part of the IND. Some nonclinical testingynsantinue even after the IND is submitted. In &ddito including the
results of the nonclinical studies, the
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IND will also include a protocol detailing, amonther things, the objectives of the clinical tridle parameters to be used in
monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteribdavaluated if the first phase lends itself teffitacy determination. The
IND automatically becomes effective 30 days aféeeipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 3@-tiene period, places
the IND on clinical hold. In such a case, the INidissor and the FDA must resolve any outstandingems before clinical
trials can begin. A clinical hold may occur at dimye during the life of an IND, and may affect aremore specific studies or
all studies conducted under the IND.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the eyision of one or more qualified investigatoragtordance with GCPs.
They must be conducted under protocols detailiegotijectives of the trial, dosing procedures, nesesubject selection and
exclusion criteria and the safety and effectivereitsria to be evaluated. Each protocol must lersited to the FDA as part of
the IND, and progress reports detailing the stafdke clinical trials must be submitted to the FB#nually. Sponsors also
must timely report to FDA serious and unexpecteceegk reactions, any clinically important incregsthe rate of a serious
suspected adverse reaction over that listed ipithécol or investigation brochure, or any findirigem other studies or animal
or in vitro testing that suggest a significant riskhumans exposed to the drug. An institutionalew board, or IRB, at each
institution participating in the clinical trial mugeview and approve the protocol before a clinidal commences at that
institution and must also approve the informatiegarding the trial and the consent form that mastrovided to each research
subject or the subject’s legal representative, tootine study until completed and otherwise compith IRB regulations.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted ime sequential phases that may overlap or be cewhbin

« Phase 1 The drug is initially introduced into healthy hamsubjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerabserptior
metabolism, distribution and elimination. In these@f some products for severe or life-threatedisgases, such as
cancer, especially when the product may be inhigrésd toxic to ethically administer to healthy uateers, the initial
human testing is often conducted in patients.

* Phase 2 Clinical trials are performed on a limited patipopulation intended to identify possible advesfects and
safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the effigaaf the product for specific targeted diseasestartktermine dosage
tolerance and optimal dosage.

¢ Phase 3 Clinical trials are undertaken to further evadudbsage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expdnuhtient
population at geographically dispersed clinicalgtsites. These studies are intended to establéesbverall risk-benefit
ratio of the product and provide an adequate asigroduct labeling.

Human clinical trials are inherently uncertain &fthse 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may notdessiuily completed.
The FDA or the sponsor may suspend a clinical &i@ny time for a variety of reasons, includinfinding that the research
subjects or patients are being exposed to an uptadite health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspenteaminate approval of a
clinical trial at its institution if the clinicakigl is not being conducted in accordance withlR@'s requirements or if the drug
has been associated with unexpected serious hgvatiemts. In some cases, clinical trials are memmdy an independent group
of qualified experts organized by the trial sponsotthe clinical monitoring board or Data Safetytoring Board, or DSMB.
This group provides authorization for whether or atrial may move forward at designated check tgoifihese decisions are
based on the limited access to data from the oggoil.

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgi@en opportunities to meet with the FDA at certa@ints. These points
may be prior to the submission of an IND, at the ehPhase 2 and before an NDA is submitted. Mestaigther times may
be requested. These meetings can provide an opggrtor the sponsor to share information aboutdhta gathered to date and
for the FDA to provide advice on the next phasdexfelopment. Sponsors typically use the meetirtigeaeénd of Phase 2 to
discuss their Phase 2 clinical results and prabentplans for the pivotal Phase 3 clinical ttizt they believe will support the
approval of the new drug. If a Phase 2 clinicalltis the subject of discussion at the end of PRaseeting
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with the FDA, a sponsor may be able to requestezi8pProtocol Assessment, or SPA, the purposehafiwis to reach
agreement with the FDA on the Phase 3 clinical piatocol design and analysis that will form théary basis of an efficacy
claim.

According to published guidance on the SPA procsponsor which meets the prerequisites may magedific request
for a SPA and provide information regarding theiglesind size of the proposed clinical trial. TheAD supposed to evaluate
the protocol within 45 days of the request to assdwether the proposed trial is adequate, ancetl@tiation may result in
discussions and a request for additional infornmatfo SPA request must be made before the proposgthégins, and all open
issues must be resolved before the trial begirswifitten agreement is reached, it will be docute@and made part of the
record. The agreement will be binding on the FDA aray not be changed by the sponsor or the FDA tiféetrial begins
except with the written agreement of the sponsdrtha FDA or if the FDA determines that a substmitientific issue
essential to determining the safety or efficacthefdrug was identified after the testing began.

Concurrent with clinical trials, sponsors usualynplete additional animal safety studies and a¢seelbp additional
information about the chemistry and physical chirstics of the drug and finalize a process fonofacturing commercial
quantities of the product in accordance with cGMjuneements. The manufacturing process must be tapébonsistently
producing quality batches of the drug and the mectufer must develop methods for testing the gualitrity and potency of
the drug. Additionally, appropriate packaging mustselected and tested and stability studies neusbbducted to demonstrate
that the drug candidate does not undergo unacdeptaterioration over its proposed shelf-life.

The results of product development, nonclinicatlgs and clinical trials, along with descriptiorigtte manufacturing
process, analytical tests and other control meshasjiproposed labeling and other relevant infolwnadire submitted to the
FDA as part of an NDA requesting approval to matketproduct. The submission of an NDA is subjedhe payment of user
fees, but a waiver of such fees may be obtaineénspkcified circumstances. The FDA reviews all NB&bmitted to ensure
that they are sufficiently complete for substantieeiew before it accepts them for filing. It magguest additional information
rather than accept an NDA for filing. In this evethie NDA must be resubmitted with the additiomébimation. The
resubmitted application also is subject to reviefolke the FDA accepts it for filing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Rigdyins an in-depth review. NDAs receive eithendtad or priority
review. A drug representing a significant improveitie treatment, prevention or diagnosis of diseaag receive priority
review. The FDA may refuse to approve an NDA if épplicable regulatory criteria are not satisfiedmay require additional
clinical or other data. Even if such data are stieaj the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDAedmot satisfy the criteria
for approval. The FDA reviews an NDA to determiamong other things, whether a product is safe #edtive for its
intended use and whether its manufacturing is cGbtRpdiant. The FDA may refer the NDA to an advisoommittee for
review and recommendation as to whether the agjgitahould be approved and under what conditibhs. FDA is not bound
by the recommendation of an advisory committeejttggnerally follows such recommendations. Befgpproving an NDA,
the FDA will inspect the facility or facilities wie the product is manufactured and tested.

Fast Track, Breakthrough Therapy, Priority Reviewdaccelerated Approval

The FDA is authorized to designate certain prodfgtexpedited review if they are intended to addran unmet medical
need in the treatment of a serious or life-thraatedisease or condition. These programs are rasit tesignation,
breakthrough therapy designation and priority neniesignation.

Specifically, the FDA may designate a product &stfirack review if it is intended, whether aloménocombination with
one or more other drugs, for the treatment of egsror life-threatening disease or condition, amtmonstrates the potential
to address unmet medical needs for such a diseasmdition. For fast track products, sponsors maye greater interactions
with the FDA and the FDA may initiate review of #ens of a fast track product’'s NDA before the aqgtion is complete.

A product may also be designated as a breakthrthaghpy if it is intended, either alone or in congiion with one or more
other drugs, to treat a serious or life-threateniisgase or condition and
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preliminary clinical evidence indicates that theguct may demonstrate substantial improvement existing therapies on one
or more clinically significant endpoints, such abstantial treatment effects observed early inadindevelopment. The FDA
may take certain actions with respect to breakiindherapies, including holding meetings with thersor throughout the
development process; providing timely advice togheduct sponsor regarding development and approwedlving more
senior staff in the review process; assigning asdisciplinary project lead for the review teamd gaking other steps to
design the clinical trials in an efficient manner.

The FDA may also designate a product for priomyiew if it is a drug that treats a serious cowditand, if approved,
would provide a significant improvement in safetyeffectiveness. The FDA determines, on a caseasgbasis, whether the
proposed drug represents a significant improvenwlein compared with other available therapies. Arjiyi designation is
intended to direct overall attention and resoutodke evaluation of such applications, and to temothe FDA’s goal for taking
action on a marketing application from ten monthsix months.

Finally, the FDA may grant accelerated approval tirug for a serious or life-threatening conditibat provides
meaningful therapeutic advantage to patients oxistieg treatments based upon a determinationttigatirug has an effect on a
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely talmteclinical benefit. The FDA may also grant aecated approval for such a
condition when the product has an effect on anrmmeeliate clinical endpoint that can be measurelicednan an effect on
irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, and thitreasonably likely to predict an effect on iesible morbidity or
mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into@munt the severity, rarity, or prevalence of thaeditton and the availability or
lack of alternative treatments. Drugs granted a&raétd approval must meet the same statutory sttt safety and
effectiveness as those granted traditional appréwahe case of unprecedented accelerated appeadgbints, this
determination occurs during the review of the ND¥e currently plan to seek accelerated approval@A@or the treatment of
PBC assuming satisfactory achievement of a sureogradpoint in our Phase 3 POISE trial that we belis reasonably likely
to predict clinical benefit. We also intend to haeenmenced a clinical outcomes trial to confirnmiclal benefit at the time of
the NDA submission which we plan to complete omstymarketing basis if the NDA is approved.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivity

Depending upon the timing, duration and speciffcS@A approval of the use of our drug candidatesyes of our U.S.
patents may be eligible for limited patent termeesion under the Drug Price Competition and Pdtenth Restoration Act of
1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act. The iH&lttaxman Act permits a patent restoration termpofaufive years as
compensation for patent term lost during produeetijpment and the FDA regulatory review processvéler, patent term
restoration cannot extend the remaining term cdtart beyond a total of 14 years from the prodwagtisroval date. The patent
term restoration period is generally one-half theetbetween the effective date of an IND, and thesssion date of an NDA,
plus the time between the submission date of an ldBd\the approval of that application. Only oneepaiapplicable to an
approved drug is eligible for the extension andapplication for extension must be made prior tpition of the patent. The
United States Patent and Trademark Office, in detettson with the FDA, reviews and approves the agpion for any patent
term extension or restoration. In the future, weri to apply for restorations of patent term fume of our currently owned or
licensed patents to add patent life beyond thenect expiration date, depending on the expectegtkeof clinical trials and
other factors involved in the submission of thevaht NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA alsa cielay the submission or the approval of certpplieations. The
FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent datelusivity within the United States to the fiegiplicant to gain approval
of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is amsnehemical entity if the FDA has not previously epged any other new
drug containing the same active moiety, which &rtfolecule or ion responsible for the action ofdhey substance. During the
exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for ewian abbreviated new drug application, or ANDAa&05(b)(2) NDA
submitted by another company for another versiosuch drug where the applicant does not own or bdegal right of
reference to all the data required for approvaleler, an application may be submitted after faarg if it contains a
certification of patent invalidity or non-infringeant. The FDCA also provides three years of margetixclusivity for an NDA,
505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an approved NDAdfunclinical
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investigations, other than bioavailability studigegt were conducted or sponsored by the applax@tieemed by the FDA to
be essential to the approval of the applicationgf@mple, for new indications, dosages or strengftan existing drug. This
three-year exclusivity covers only the conditioesariated with the new clinical investigations doés not prohibit the FDA
from approving ANDAs for drugs containing the ongi active agent for other conditions of use. Riear and three-year
exclusivity will not delay the submission or appabef a full NDA; however, an applicant submittiagull NDA would be
required to conduct or obtain a right of referetmall of the preclinical studies and adequatewaali-controlled clinical trials
necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adsease or
condition, which is generally a disease or conditimat affects fewer than 200,000 individuals & tnited States, or more than
200,000 individuals in the United States and forchtihere is no reasonable expectation that theafaeveloping and making
available in the United States a drug for this tgpdisease or condition will be recovered fromesah the United States for
that drug. Orphan drug designation must be reqdédmttore submitting an NDA. After the FDA grantploan drug designation,
the identity of the therapeutic agent and its pidéorphan use are disclosed publicly by the FD#phan drug designation
does not convey any advantage in or shorten thetidorof the regulatory review and approval process

If a product that has orphan drug designation sylesgtly receives the first FDA approval for theedise for which it has
such designation, the product is entitled to orghraauct exclusivity, which means that the FDA may approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the sadieation, except in very limited circumstances,deven years. Orphan drug
exclusivity, however, could also block the approsfabne of our products for seven years if a coitqpebbtains approval of the
same drug as defined by the FDA or if our drug @date is determined to be contained within the cetibgr’s product for the
same indication or disease. Competitors may re@peoval of different products for the indicatiimm which the orphan
product has exclusivity and may obtain approvatfiersame product but for a different indicatidra trug or drug product
designated as an orphan product ultimately recenggketing approval for an indication broader thdrat was designated in its
orphan product application, it may not be entite@xclusivity.

Pediatric Exclusivity and Pediatric Use

Under the Best Pharmaceuticals for Children AcBBEA, certain drugs may obtain an additional sonths of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information wegted in writing by the FDA, or a Written Requeslating to the use of the
active moiety of the drug in children. The FDA mat issue a Written Request for studies on unagmut@v approved
indications or where it determines that informatielating to the use of a drug in a pediatric papah, or part of the pediatric
population, may not produce health benefits in fugtulation.

We have not received a Written Request for suchapézistudies, although we may ask the FDA toesaWritten Request
for such studies in the future. To receive thersbath pediatric market exclusivity, we would havedceive a Written Request
from the FDA, conduct the requested studies in@zote with a written agreement with the FDA othére is no written
agreement, in accordance with commonly acceptehiic principles, and submit reports of the sasdiA Written Request
may include studies for indications that are natemtly in the labeling if the FDA determines tisatch information will benefit
the public health. The FDA will accept the repant®n its determination that the studies were cotediin accordance with and
are responsive to the original Written Requestoonmonly accepted scientific principles, as appiadpriand that the reports
comply with the FDA's filing requirements.

In addition, the Pediatric Research Equity ACtP&EA, requires a sponsor to conduct pediatric stuftir most drugs and
biologicals, for a new active ingredient, new iradion, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or reeuerof administration.
Under PREA, original NDAs, biologics license apption and supplements thereto, must contain a predéssessment unless
the sponsor has received a deferral or waiver.régeired assessment must assess the safety adtiveffess of the product for
the claimed indications in all relevant pediattibgopulations and support dosing and administrdtioeach pediatric
subpopulation for which the product is safe andaife. The sponsor or FDA may request a defefrpédiatric studies for
some or all of the pediatric subpopulations. A defenay be granted for several reasons, includifigding
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that the drug or biologic is ready for approval ége in adults before pediatric studies are coramlethat additional safety or
effectiveness data needs to be collected beforpatimtric studies begin. After April 2013, the FB#ust send a non-
compliance letter to any sponsor that fails to sititime required assessment, keep a deferral curdatls to submit a request
for approval of a pediatric formulation.

As part of the FDASIA, Congress made a few revisitnBPCA and PREA, which were slated to expir&eptember 30,
2012, and made both laws permanent.

Post-approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FPAravals are subject to pervasive and continuigglegion by the
FDA, including, among other things, requirementatieg to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, pradsemmpling and
distribution, advertising and promotion and repwtof adverse experiences with the product. Onagparnoval is granted, the
FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance witlgudatory requirements is not maintained or if peoh$ occur after the
product reaches the market. Later discovery ofiptesly unknown problems with a product may resultastrictions on the
product or even complete withdrawal of the prodtain the market. After approval, some types of deanto the approved
product, such as adding new indications, manufexguwshanges and additional labeling claims, argestibo further FDA
review and approval. In addition, the FDA may reguesting and surveillance programs to monitoretiiect of approved
products that have been commercialized, and the F&Athe power to prevent or limit further markgtaf a product based on
the results of these post-marketing programs.

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvedhaanufacture and distribution of approved drugsequired to register
their establishments with the FDA and certain stggencies, and are subject to periodic unannounegéctions by the FDA
and some state agencies for compliance with cGMPotired laws. Changes to the manufacturing prooesstectly regulated
and often require prior FDA approval before beimplemented. FDA regulations also require invesiigeand correction of
any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting arcud@ntation requirements upon the sponsor andramiygarty
manufacturers that the sponsor may decide to ussordingly, manufacturers must continue to expéne,tmoney, and effort
in the area of production and quality control tam&in cGMP compliance.

Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. requissts at any time during the product developmentgs® or approval
process, or after approval, may subject us to adirative or judicial sanctions, any of which cotlaive a material adverse
effect on us. These sanctions could include:

« refusal to approve pending applications;

¢ withdrawal of an approval;

« imposition of a clinical hold;

e warning letters;

e product seizures;

« total or partial suspension of production or rilisttion; or

« injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil orraihal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, edising and promotion of products that are plamedhe market. Drugs
may be promoted only for the approved indicatiamd ia accordance with the provisions of the appddeéel. The FDA and
other agencies actively enforce the laws and réignkprohibiting the promotion of off-label usesid a company that is found
to have improperly promoted off-label uses may ligext to significant liability

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiadties for the production of clinical and commekgiaantities of our
products. Future FDA and state inspections maytiiyerompliance issues at the facilities of our rant manufacturers that
may disrupt production or distribution, or requitgbstantial resources to correct.

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introédcand passed in Congress that could significahtiyge the statutory
provisions governing the approval, manufacturind ararketing of products regulated by
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the FDA. In addition, FDA regulations and guidaace often revised or reinterpreted by the ageneyaiys that may
significantly affect our business and our produlkits impossible to predict whether legislativeaniges will be enacted, or FDA
regulations, guidance or interpretations changeshat the impact of such changes, if any, may be.

Regulation Outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States,wiébe subject to regulations of other countri@serning clinical trials
and commercial sales and distribution of our préslu&/hether or not we obtain FDA approval for adua, we must obtain
approval by the comparable regulatory authoritfesoontries outside of the United States beforeearecommence clinical
trials in such countries and approval of the reutaof such countries or economic areas, sucheaBuropean Union, before
we may market products in those countries or afE@s approval process and requirements governegdhduct of clinical
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimburseinery greatly from place to place, and the timey e longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaaysubmit marketing authorization applicationk@itunder a
centralized or decentralized procedure. The ceémtéprocedure, which is compulsory for medicinesdpced by
biotechnology or those medicines intended to #¢BS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders or désbend optional for those
medicines which are highly innovative, providestfue grant of a single marketing authorization thatalid for all European
Union member states. The decentralized procedorédas for mutual recognition of national approdetisions. Under this
procedure, the holder of a national marketing aightion may submit an application to the remainimgmber states. Within
90 days of receiving the applications and assessmejport, each member state must decide whethiectgnize approval. If a
member state does not recognize the marketing azgiion, the disputed points are eventually refétio the European
Commission, whose decision is binding on all menstetes.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif a product as an orphan drug for the treatrokatspecific
indication in the European Union before the appilicefor marketing authorization is made. Orphamgdrin Europe enjoy
economic and marketing benefits, including up toytears of market exclusivity for the approved @atiion unless another
applicant can show that its product is safer, nedfective or otherwise clinically superior to thepban-designated product.

ATU

We may apply to make OCA available for use undestert Autorisation Temporaire d’Utilisation, ormporary
Authorization for Use, or ATU, in France. UnderAnU, the French Health Products Safety Agency, fasAps, allows the use
of a drug in France before marketing approval fesntobtained in France in order to treat seriouarerdiseases for which no
other treatment is available in that country. Afsswill only grant an ATU where the benefit of {@duct outweighs the risk.
An ATU is granted for one year and may be reneweth ATU is granted for OCA, we will be requireal gather and analyze
data concerning OCA’s use and submit a periodiontep Afssaps. We also will be responsible formiibing
pharmacovigilance reports, as necessary. An ATU bbeamodified, suspended, or withdrawn for reasdnpaiblic health or if
the conditions under which the ATU was grantedreréonger met. We believe the granting of an ATd anbsequent use by
patients in France prior to marketing approval reagble us to begin recognizing some product selesue for OCA prior to
its approval in the United States and the remainfléte European Union.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, ondgknt to which the costs of our products will lbeered by third-party
payors, such as government health programs, comahgrsurance and managed healthcare organizafidvese third-party
payors are increasingly challenging the pricesgigdfor medical products and services. Additionahg containment of
healthcare costs has become a priority of fedediséate governments and the prices of drugs hese & focus in this effort.
The U.S. government, state legislatures and forgigy@rnments have shown significant interest inlémgnting cost-
containment programs, including price controlstrietsons on reimbursement and requirements fosstution of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-comteent measures, and adoption of more restrictolieips
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in jurisdictions with existing controls and measyreould further limit our net revenue and resuftthese third-party payors do
not consider our products to be cost-effective camag to other therapies, they may not cover oulymts after approved as a
benefit under their plans or, if they do, the lesiepayment may not be sufficient to allow us tb ser products on a profitable
basis.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Moidation Act of 2003, or the MMA, imposed new regments
for the distribution and pricing of prescriptioruds for Medicare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medidseneficiaries may enroll
in prescription drug plans offered by private eesitwhich will provide coverage of outpatient prgstion drugs. Part D plans
include both stand-alone prescription drug benpddihs and prescription drug coverage as a suppleimétedicare Advantage
plans. Unlike Medicare Part A and B, Part D coveliageot standardized. Part D prescription drug glaonsors are not
required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, aachedrug plan can develop its own drug formulaat tentifies which drugs
it will cover and at what tier or level. HowevearPD prescription drug formularies must includaegh within each therapeutic
category and class of covered Part D drugs, thooghecessarily all the drugs in each categoryamsc Any formulary used
by a Part D prescription drug plan must be develap®l reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic caeeniGovernment
payment for some of the costs of prescription dragy increase demand for our products for whichreeeive marketing
approval. However, any negotiated prices for oodpcts covered by a Part D prescription drug pldnikely be lower than
the prices we might otherwise obtain. Moreover, e/ttie MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicaeméficiaries,
private payors often follow Medicare coverage pobcyl payment limitations in setting their own papt@tes. Any reduction
in payment that results from the MMA may result isimilar reduction in payments from non-governmeptalors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@¥ides funding for the federal government to caregthe
effectiveness of different treatments for the sidness. A plan for the research will be developgdhe Department of Health
and Human Services, the Agency for Healthcare Relsead Quality and the National Institutes for ltgaand periodic
reports on the status of the research and relaggeheitures will be made to Congress. Althoughréseilts of the comparative
effectiveness studies are not intended to manaaterage policies for public or private payorssinbt clear what effect, if any,
the research will have on the sales of any prodiuaty such product or the condition that it iteimded to treat is the subject of
a study. It is also possible that comparative éffeness research demonstrating benefits in a ctitmpe product could
adversely affect the sales of our product candiddtehird-party payors do not consider our praduo be cost-effective
compared to other available therapies, they maygowgr our products as a benefit under their ptaing they do, the level of
payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell products on a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acam&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordpiftleconciliation
Act of 2010, collectively referred to as the ACAaeted in March 2010, is expected to have a sigmifiompact on the health
care industry. ACA is expected to expand coveragéhe uninsured while at the same time containiwerall healthcare costs.
With regard to pharmaceutical products, among dtiiegs, ACA is expected to expand and increasesiny rebates for drugs
covered under Medicaid programs and make changés tmverage requirements under the Medicare Ppro@ram. We
cannot predict the impact of ACA on pharmaceutizehpanies, as many of the ACA reforms require toenplgation of
detailed regulations implementing the statutoryjsions which has not yet occurred. In additioth@lgh the United States
Supreme Court recently upheld the constitutionalftynost of the ACA, some states have indicatetttiey intend to not
implement certain sections of the ACA, and some basof the U.S. Congress are still working to e¢parts of the ACA.
These challenges add to the uncertainty of thalktgie changes enacted as part of ACA.

ACA required pharmaceutical manufacturers to tieakain financial arrangements with physicians @agdhing hospitals,
including any “transfer of value” made or distribdtto such entities, as well as any investmentasts held by physicians and
their immediate family members. Manufacturers wergired to begin tracking this information in 2G4 to report this
information to CMS beginning in 2014.

In addition, in some non-U.S. jurisdictions, thegused pricing for a drug must be approved betarey be lawfully
marketed. The requirements governing drug pricexy widely from country to country. For
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example, the European Union provides options fomiémber states to restrict the range of medigrwducts for which their
national health insurance systems provide reiminuese and to control the prices of medicinal proddiet human use. A
member state may approve a specific price for tediomal product or it may instead adopt a systédirect or indirect
controls on the profitability of the company plagithe medicinal product on the market. There candbassurance that any
country that has price controls or reimbursemenitditions for pharmaceutical products will allowdaable reimbursement and
pricing arrangements for any of our products. His#dly, products launched in the European Uniomdbfollow price
structures of the United States and generally ter significantly lower.

Employees

As of February 28, 2014, we had 50 employees, aflwB6 are involved in our drug development operetiand 14 are in
general and administrative functions. None of gupleyees are represented by a labor union and n&der our employee
relations to be good.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware grte®eber 4, 2002. Our principal executive offices lacated at 450
West 151 Street, Suite 505, New York, NY 10011, and ourgbtme number is (646) 747-1000.

Our corporate website addresswsw.interceptpharma.com@ur Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporisForm
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendmentsports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 1&fthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchactjeafe available free of charge on our websiteoas as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such matewith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eadlge Commission. The
Securities and Exchange Commission maintains amiet site that contains our public filings witle tBecurities and Exchange
Commission and other information regarding our canyp atwww.sec.govl hese reports and other information concerning our
company may also be accessed at the SecuritieBxafdnge Commission’s Public Reference Room atF18@eet, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infaioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbagroalling the
Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SE©-0R@% contents of these websites are not incorpeiato this Annual
Report. Further, our references to the URLs fose¢heebsites are intended to be inactive textuateate only.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defineithinJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012willeemain an
“emerging growth company” until the earliest oftfig last day of the fiscal year in which we hasaltannual gross revenues
of $1 billion or more; (ii) December 31, 2017;)iihe date on which we have issued more than $trbih nonconvertible debt
during the previous three years; or (iv) the datevbich we are deemed to be a large acceleragzduifiider the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission based on theeinaalue of our common stock held by non-affilg@atd the market value
of our common stock that is held by non-affiliatestinues to exceed $700 million as of June 3042@%& would cease to be
an emerging growth company as of December 31, 2@8#ldvould need to comply with the requirementseaft®n 404(b) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We refer to the JumpstartBisiness Startups Act of 2012 herein as the ‘S®@Bt,” and references
herein to “emerging growth company” shall havenieaning associated with it in the JOBS Act.

Legal Proceedings

On February 21, 2014 and February 28, 2014, pegatiareholder class actions, sty&eit H. Atwood v. Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et aitndGeorge Burton v. Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inalet respectively, were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern DistrictN#w York, naming us and certain of our officerslagendants. These lawsuits
were filed by stockholders who claim to be suingbehalf of anyone who purchased or otherwise aeduiur securities
between January 9, 2014 and January 10, 2014 aWwiits allege that we made material misrepresentaind/or omissions
of material fact in our public disclosures durihg period from January 9, 2014 to January 10, 2idlviplation of Sections 10
(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f41@3 amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereuHde alleged
improper disclosures relate to our January 9, 2Z0fvbuncement that the FLINT trial had been stomaety based on a pre-
defined interim efficacy analysis. Specificallyetlawsuits claim that our
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January 9, 2014 announcement was misleading bettalidenot contain information regarding certaipid abnormalities seen
in the FLINT trial in OCA-treated patients compatecplacebo. The plaintiffs in each suit seek un#jge monetary damages
on behalf of the putative class and an award dcsd expenses, including attorney’s fees. Aduiti@omplaints may be filed
against us and our directors and officers reladezlit disclosures.

We believe that these lawsuits are without meritthds time, no assessment can be made as tdk#ig tiutcome of these

lawsuits or whether the outcome will be materialiso Therefore, we have not accrued for any loesirggencies related to
these lawsuits.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Except for the historical information contained &igr, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains famivibooking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintiegs€rstatements include projections about our adougiand finances, plans
and objectives for the future, future operating @ednomic performance and other statements reggrtiture performance.
These statements are not guarantees of future npeafice or events. Our actual results could diffatenially from those
discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Ingrutrfactors that could cause or contribute to thdgferences include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in the follgnsection, as well as those discussed in Partdiml|7 entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition @ekults of Operations” and elsewhere throughoig Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

You should consider carefully the following risktas, together with all of the other informatiarciuded in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. If any of the following riskither alone or taken together, or other risks pagsently known to us or
that we currently believe to not be significantyelep into actual events, then our business, firdmondition, results of
operations or prospects could be materially advigraéfected. If that happens, the market pricewof@mmon stock could
decline, and stockholders may lose all or parthefitinvestment.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have never been profitable. Currently, we havepnoducts approved for commercial sale, and to dathave not
generated any revenue from product sales. As a leswr ability to reduce our losses and reach pitability is unproven,
and we may never achieve or sustain profitability.

We have never been profitable and do not expdut forofitable in the foreseeable future. We havweyabsubmitted any
product candidates for approval by regulatory adties in the United States or elsewhere for oadl@dication, primary
biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, or any other indicatiangluding non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASMe have incurred net losses
in each year since our inception, including nesdéssof $12.7 million, $43.6 million and $67.8 naifiifor the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectivelyh&dean accumulated deficit of $186.0 million aDetember 31, 2013. To
date, we have financed our operations primarilgugh private placements of our convertible prefésteck, convertible notes
and warrants to purchase common stock, publiciafferof our common stock and payments receivedrumgelicensing and
collaboration agreements with DSP and Servier.fA3ezember 31, 2013, our working capital was $138ilion and our cash,
cash equivalents and investment securities availablsale was $144.8 million.

We have devoted substantially all of our resoutoesur development efforts relating to our prodeandidates, including
conducting clinical trials of our product candidatproviding general and administrative supportli@se operations, protecting
our intellectual property and engaging in pre-comuiaé activities. We do not have any products appdofor sale and have not
generated any revenues from product sales. We et@eontinue to incur losses for the foreseealieré, and we expect these
losses to increase as we continue our developnieaim@ seek regulatory approvals for, obetichatid aor OCA, which is our
lead product candidate, and our other product caes, prepare for and begin the commercializatf@any approved products,
and add infrastructure and personnel to supporpmduct development efforts and operations asbéiqggcompany. We
anticipate that any such losses could be signifif@arthe next several years as we continue thg-term safety extension phase
of our Phase 3 clinical trial of OCA in PBC, whiale call the POISE trial, commence our planned corétory clinical
outcomes trial of OCA in PBC and engage in othanpéd activities for regulatory submission and apglrof OCA in PBC,
including several Phase 1 pharmacology clinicaldriand initiate pre-commercialization activitidée also anticipate
continuing the development of OCA in additionaledises, such as NASH, primary sclerosing cholangitiBSC, portal
hypertension, bile acid diarrhea, alcoholic hefg#ihd various other liver and intestinal diseaaed, initiating Phase 2 clinical
trials for several of these patient population214. We also anticipate initiating a Phase 2 cdihirial to assess the lipid
metabolic effects of OCA in NASH patients in themed half of 2014. Furthermore, we plan to complie-enabling studies
of INT-767, an earlier stage product candidateafbich we plan to initiate Phase 1 studies durirggfturth quarter of 2014. If
OCA or any of our other product candidates failslinical trials or does not gain regulatory apgmwr if our product
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candidates do not achieve market acceptance, wanenesy become profitable. Our net losses and negesish flows have had,
and will continue to have, an adverse effect onstockholders’ equity and working capital.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertaintiesiassd with pharmaceutical product developmentareeunable to
accurately predict the timing or amount of increasgpenses or when, or if, we will be able to aghigrofitability. In addition,
our expenses could increase if we are requiretidytS. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, ag furopean Medicines
Agency, or EMA, to perform studies or trials in aglth to those currently expected, or if there arg delays in completing our
clinical trials or the development of any of ouoguct candidates. The amount of future net lossiésle@pend, in part, on the
rate of future growth of our expenses and our gitili generate revenues.

We will require substantial additional funding, whitmay not be available to us on acceptable termsatcall, and, if not so
available, may require us to delay, limit, reduceaease our operations.

We are currently advancing OCA through clinical @epment for multiple indications and other prodeemididates through
preclinical development. Developing pharmaceuficabucts, including conducting preclinical studsesl clinical trials, is
expensive. We will require substantial additiondlfe capital in order to complete clinical devetemt and commercialize
OCA, and to conduct the research and developmehtlarical and regulatory activities necessaryriadpother product
candidates to market. If the FDA or EMA required tlia perform preclinical studies or clinical triésaddition to those
contemplated or conducted by us, our expenses viorltkr increase beyond what we currently expedtthe anticipated
timing of any potential NDA or MAA would likely beatayed.

Our existing cash and cash equivalents will nasdféicient to complete advanced clinical develophwrany of our
product candidates other than OCA for PBC. We gu#tie that our current cash and cash equivaletitbevsufficient to permit
us to initiate a Phase 2 trial investigating tipadlimetabolic effects of OCA in NASH patients, thet we will need to raise
additional funds to complete this trial and variotiser development efforts in NASH. We will alscedeadditional funds for
clinical development of OCA for other indicationsamy other product candidates, including in PSGafioich we plan to
initiate a Phase 2 trial in the second half of 208etordingly, we will continue to require substahtidditional capital to
continue our clinical development and commerciglimaactivities. Because successful developmentofproduct candidates
is uncertain, we are unable to estimate the atinals we will require to complete research and igreent and commercialize
our products under development.

The amount and timing of our future funding regoiemts will depend on many factors, including:

« the results of, and the data from, the POISHE, tti@ Phase 2b FLINT trial of OCA in NASH patietsd our other
clinical trials;

¢ the willingness of the FDA and EMA to accept o@I8E trial, as well as our other completed and mahclinical and
preclinical studies and other work, as the basis€feiew and marketing approval of OCA for PBC;

« the progress, costs, results of and timing offanned confirmatory clinical outcomes trial of ®€r the treatment of
PBC;

« the progress, costs, results of and timing aficdl development of OCA for other indications,limting any additional
clinical trials that may be needed to continue dewrelopment of, and to seek regulatory approval@@A in NASH;

« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinbig FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

« the number and characteristics of product cateédénat we pursue, including our product candglatereclinical
development, such as INT-767 and INT-777,

« the ability of our product candidates to progrgssugh pre-clinical and clinical development sssfully and in a
timely manner;

« our need to expand our research and developrotnitias;
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« the costs associated with securing and estabfisfommercialization and manufacturing capabiliied procuring the
materials necessary for our product candidates;

* market acceptance of our product candidates;
« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindirsinesses, products, product candidates anddietfies;

« our ability to maintain, expand and defend thepscof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to makéhat we may receive, in connection with therigiag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemther intellectual property rights;

« our need and ability to hire additional manageimsrientific and medical, commercial and otherlifjed personnel;
« the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;

« our need to implement additional internal systesoftware and infrastructure, including thosedsist in our financial
and reporting, clinical development and commerzaion efforts; and

« the economic and other terms, timing of and ss&©é our existing licensing arrangements and aligtworation,
licensing or other arrangements into which we magrein the future.

Some of these factors are outside of our contrasell upon our currently expected level of operaimenditures, we
believe that we will be able to fund our operatiorts the third quarter of 2015. Although our cuntrplans are still preliminary
and subject to change, our current estimate reflachong other items, the planned initiation of canfirmatory clinical
outcomes trial of OCA in PBC and engaging in otilanned activities for regulatory submission angrapal of OCA in PBC,
including several Phase 1 pharmacology clinicaldrithe planned initiation of a Phase 2 trial stigating the lipid metabolic
effects of OCA in NASH patients; the anticipatediation of a Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA in PS&) anticipated increase in
pre-commercial and commercial activities for OCAPRC; and pre-clinical studies anticipated to bedeel for the submission
of an IND for INT-767 and the planned initiationafhase 1 clinical trial for INT-767. This perioguld be shortened for a
number of reasons, including our revision of theeli@oment plan for OCA in any indication, any sfgrant increases in
planned spending on development programs or changdkes timing of our development programs and goexmercialization
and commercialization activities. For example, Wano initiate Phase 3 clinical outcomes trial®NikSH patients with
advanced fibrosis and in cirrhotic patients suffgrirom NASH and other chronic liver diseases duythe first half of 2015,
which will require us to seek additional funds. Aéenot expect that our existing capital resourcdisbe sufficient to enable us
to commercialize OCA for PBC or any other indicatar to initiate all of the clinical trials or adidinal development work
needed for any indications we may target for OCAwrother product candidates. Accordingly, we exeat we will need to
raise significant additional funds in the future.

We may seek additional funding through a combimatibequity offerings, debt financings, governmenother third-party
funding, marketing and distribution arrangements atter collaborations, strategic alliances anehi&ging arrangements.
Additional funding may not be available to us onegtable terms or at all. In addition, the termaryf financing may
adversely affect the holdings or the rights of stackholders. In addition, the issuance of add#tiaihares by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the mamket of our shares to decline.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely bagie may be required to significantly curtail amemore of our research
or development programs. We also could be requoregek funds through arrangements with collabgegiartners or
otherwise that may require us to relinquish rightsome of our technologies or product candidategterwise agree to terms
unfavorable to us.

Our revenues to date have been generated throughamliaboration agreements and we may not receivg additional
revenues under such agreements.

To date, our sources of revenue have been theoupfayments received under our collaboration aethée agreements
with Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co. Ltd., or DSR] kas Laboratoires Servier and
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Institut de Recherches Servier, which are colletyiveferred to as Servier. Additional paymentserrehch of the DSP and
Servier agreements are based on the achievemeatiofis research, development, regulatory and coniaiesales milestones
and royalty payments based on the sales of theuptedovered by such agreements. Future paymemtsDSP and Servier
under their respective collaboration and licengeements are uncertain because DSP or Servidre @ase may be, may
choose not to continue research or developmenitésti for the product candidates under licensi@ir licensed territory, the
product candidates may not be approved for theqsegbindications or, even if any product candidatgproved for one or
more indications, it may not be commercially suséds|f we are unable to develop and commerciadize or more of our
product candidates, either alone or with collalmstor if revenues from any such collaboratiordpici candidate that receives
marketing approval are insufficient, we will nohéve profitability. Even if we achieve profitalbylj we may not be able to
sustain or increase profitability.

We have a limited operating history and we expeciusnber of factors to cause our operating resultsflactuate on a
quarterly and annual basis, which may make it dfilt to predict our future performance.

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical compiiim a limited operating history. Our operatidngdate have been
limited to developing our technology and undertgiimeclinical studies and clinical trials of oupgduct candidates. We have
not yet obtained regulatory approvals for any af meduct candidates. Consequently, any predictiosade about our future
success or viability may not be as accurate asabeld be if we had a longer operating historympraved products on the
market. Our financial condition and operating reshhve varied significantly in the past and angeeted to continue to
significantly fluctuate from quarter-to-quartery@ar-to-year due to a variety of factors, many biol are beyond our control.
Factors relating to our business that may contibaithese fluctuations include:

« any delays in regulatory review and approvalwfproduct candidates in clinical development,udahg our ability to
receive approval from the FDA and the EMA for OCA fioe treatment of PBC based on our Phase 3 PQOi8FEand
our other completed and planned clinical and pnexdl studies and other work, as the basis forereand approval of
OCA for PBC;

¢ delays in the commencement, enroliment and timinginical trials;

« difficulties in identifying and treating patiergsiffering from our target indications, includifmpse due to PBC being a
rare disease and NASH currently requiring an inkaBver biopsy for diagnosis;

« the success of our clinical trials through alhgés of clinical development, including the receipptositive data from
our POISE trial of OCA for the treatment of PBC amat FLINT trial of OCA for the treatment of NASH;

« potential side effects of our product candid&ites could delay or prevent approval or cause anoyed drug to be
taken off the market;

« the required timeframe for us to receive and amatigta from our clinical trials, for example, tivagéframe in which w
will receive the complete unblinded dataset fromELINT trial;

e our ability to obtain additional funding to desplour product candidates;
e our ability to identify and develop additionabpiuct candidates;
« market acceptance of our product candidates;

e our ability to establish an effective sales arathating infrastructure directly or through collaations with third
parties;

« competition from existing products or new produttiat may emerge;

« the ability of patients or healthcare provider®btain coverage or reimbursement for our prodaststhe extent to
which such coverage or reimbursement will be predid

« our ability to adhere to clinical study requirertedirectly or with third parties such as contrastearch organizations,
or CROs;
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« our dependency on third-party manufacturers toufecture our products and key ingredients;
e our ability to establish or maintain collaboraise licensing or other arrangements;

« the costs to us, and our ability and our thirdypeollaborators’ ability to obtain, maintain aptbtect our intellectual
property rights;

« costs related to and outcomes of potential iet#lial property, securities and other litigation;
e our ability to adequately support future growth;

e our ability to attract and retain key personefiianage our business effectively;

e our ability to build and improve our company'$rastructure, systems and controls;

¢ potential product liability claims; and

e our ability to obtain and maintain adequate iasge coverage.

In addition, our financial results may vary dudltmtuations in our warrant liability. Because @ammon stock is publicly
traded, these fluctuations are expected to increadecrease significantly based on changes iprike of our common stock.
For example, the fair value of the warrant liapilitcreased from $22.8 million at December 31, 2@l&pproximately $50.1
million at December 31, 2013 primarily due to acréase in the fair value of our common stock fr@4.84 per share as of
December 31, 2012 to $68.28 per share as of Deae3tb2013. Our stock price has increased sigmiflgasince the beginning
of January 2014 and, as a result, we anticipatetieavarrant liability will increase by a materahount in 2014. Accordingly,
our financial results for any period should notékéed upon as indications of future operating perfance.

Risks Related to Regulatory Review and Approval o®ur Product Candidates

We cannot be certain that OCA or any of our otherpiuct candidates will receive regulatory approvahd without
regulatory approval we will not be able to markeidacommercialize our product candidates.

We are initially developing OCA for the treatmefipatients with PBC, NASH, PSC, portal hypertenstate acid diarrhea
and alcoholic hepatitis, and are also consultirthy wivestigators to develop protocols for otheligations. Our business
currently depends entirely on the successful degveémt and commercialization of OCA. Our abilitygenerate revenue related
to product sales, if ever, will depend on the sesfi¢ development and regulatory approval of OCatipularly for the
treatment of PBC, NASH, and other ailments, andotkier product candidates.

We currently have no products approved for saleveedannot guarantee that we will ever have mabketaroducts. The
development of a product candidate and issuesmgltt its approval and marketing are subject tersive regulation by the
FDA in the United States, the EMA in Europe and fetguy authorities in other countries, with regidas differing from
country to country. We are not permitted to markatproduct candidates in the United States or jiitotil we receive
approval of an NDA from the FDA or an MAA from th&/&, respectively. We have not submitted any markgtipplications
for any of our product candidates.

NDAs and MAAs must include extensive preclinical atidical data and supporting information to esttbthe product
candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each e andication. NDAs and MAAs must also include sfigaint information
regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and confiarishe product. Obtaining approval of an NDA arMAA is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process, and we may maidmessful in obtaining approval. The FDA and tMAEeview processes
can take years to complete and approval is newmagteed. If we submit an NDA to the FDA, the FDAsthdecide whether to
accept or reject the submission for filing. We aatrive certain that any submissions will be accefuieéiling and review by the
FDA. Regulators of other jurisdictions, such asEMA, have their own procedures for approval of preiccandidates. Even if
a product is approved, the FDA or the EMA, as tleeaaay be, may limit the indications for which freduct may be
marketed, require extensive warnings on the proldibetiing or require expensive and time-consumiimgoal trials or
reporting as conditions of approval. Regulatonhatities in countries outside of the United Stated Europe also have
requirements for
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approval of drug candidates with which we must clgnppior to marketing in those countries. Obtainiegulatory approval for
marketing of a product candidate in one countrysdugt ensure that we will be able to obtain regumaapproval in any other
country. In addition, delays in approvals or reépts of marketing applications in the United StaEasrope or other countries
may be based upon many factors, including regulatmuests for additional analyses, reports, gaglinical studies and
clinical trials, regulatory questions regardindgeliént interpretations of data and results, chaingesgulatory policy during the
period of product development and the emergencewfinformation regarding our product candidatestber products. Also,
regulatory approval for any of our product candédanay be withdrawn. Regulatory approval is algeddent on successfully
passing regulatory inspection of our company, t¢inical sites and key vendors and to ensure compéiavith applicable good
clinical, laboratory and manufacturing practicegutation. Critical findings could jeopardize or d@glthe approval of the NDA
or MAA.

We and our collaborators have completed five PRasials for OCA: two in patients with PBC, onepatients with type 2
diabetes with co-morbid nonalcoholic fatty liveselase, or NAFLD, our Phase 2 PESTO trial in patierth portal
hypertension and the Phase 2 OBADIAH trial in patsewith bile acid diarrhea sponsored by the Ingl&Cbllege of London.
In addition, the double-blind treatment phase effhINT trial was stopped early by the NIDDK followg a planned interim
analysis and all patients have entered a blindedrehtional follow-up phase. In December 2013 Jakepatient follow-up visit
was completed in the double-blind phase of our QI and we anticipate that top-line results Wwé available in March
2014. Before we submit an NDA to the FDA or an MA¥the EMA for OCA for the treatment of patients WRBC, we must
successfully complete this trial. In addition, washcomplete other preclinical and clinical stud&sch as a biocomparability
trial comparing the pharmacokinetics of our propbsemmercial product to the products utilized im BOISE trial and our
Phase 2 trials for OCA in PBC, a Phase 1 clinical in healthy volunteers to evaluate the effddD@A on the heart’s
electrical cycle, known as the QT interval, addiibclinical pharmacology trials, including, butttionited to, drug
interactions, the effects of food and drug-diseataction studies, and two-year, two-speciesitagenicity studies, some of
which are ongoing. We are also conducting othalstiand studies to support our planned NDA and M#AGS, including a
trial to evaluate the potential effects and clihgignificance of OCA on the lipid profile of paties with PBC, which is
currently in progress. We will need to completeuanber of clinical trials and other studies for toatinued development of
OCA in indications other than PBC. For example,anecurrently planning for at least one additidPlaase 3 clinical trial in
NASH, a Phase 2 trial investigating the lipid metabeffects of OCA in NASH patients and a Phasea? of OCA in pediatric
NASH patients prior to seeking regulatory apprafaDCA in NASH. We cannot predict whether our siahd studies,
including the double-blind phase of our POISE tnill be successful or whether regulators willegwith our conclusions
regarding the preclinical studies and clinicallri@e have conducted to date or require us to adratiditional studies or trials.

If we are unable to obtain approval from the FOi#e EMA or other regulatory agencies for OCA andather product
candidates, or if, subsequent to approval, we aable to successfully commercialize OCA or our pfireduct candidates, we
will not be able to generate sufficient revenuédsome profitable or to continue our operations.

We are developing product candidates for the treattnef rare diseases or diseases for which there ageor limited
therapies and for some of which there is little mical experience, and our development approach ilves new endpoints and
methodologies. As a result, there is increased tisét we will not be able to gain agreement withgrgatory authorities
regarding an acceptable development plan, the outeoof our clinical trials will not be favorable othat, even if favorable,
regulatory authorities may not find the results ofir clinical trials to be sufficient for marketingapproval.

Currently, there are no approved therapies for NASHtal hypertension or PSC. In PBC, although didas the standard
of care, studies have shown that up to 50% of P&mpts fail to respond adequately to treatmengmimg that they continue
to be at significant risk of progressing to livaildire even with treatment. As a result, the desigth conduct of clinical trials
for these diseases and other indications we magupwill be subject to increased risk.

For full approval of an NDA, the FDA requires a demtration of efficacy based on a clinical benefiipoint. Typically,
the FDA requires two pivotal clinical trials to apge an NDA. However, for OCA as a

43




TABLE OF CONTENTS

treatment for PBC, we currently plan to requestebmated approval from the FDA based on the Phd&@ISE trial, the
primary endpoint of which is a surrogate endpdiat tve believe is reasonably likely to predicticiah benefit, therefore
meeting the FDA'’s requirements for consideratiodarrits accelerated approval regulation. However RDA has not yet
provided any assurance that it will accept our aggh, and it is unlikely we will receive definitiveritten guidance from the
FDA prior to submitting an NDA as to the acceptigpibf the POISE trial surrogate endpoint to suppar approval of OCA for
the treatment of PBC. We anticipate that similaksiwill apply to other indications, such as NA$6t,which we intend to seek
marketing approval for our product candidates uedeelerated approval regulations.

In order to build additional consensus regardirggdimical utility of the surrogate endpoint for @@s a treatment for PBC,
we are sponsoring an independent study poolingaaatyzing long-term PBC patient data from a nunadfdeading PBC
academic centers, which are referred to as theaBRBC Study Group. Furthermore, an academic ctingoin the United
Kingdom has published the results of another latwgervational study in PBC patients in the Unitedgdom. Although we
believe the results of both studies are suppodiibe clinical utility of our surrogate endpoiwtr fthe use of OCA in PBC, the
supporting data may still not be accepted by th& kDits consideration of the adequacy of our sgate endpoint under an
NDA for OCA for the treatment of PBC. In additiamthe risk around the acceptability of the surredabchemical endpoint to
support accelerated approval, there are qualityrasse risks around the data supporting assesaftre biochemical
endpoint. It is possible that key parameters ssdihe@ validation of the assay and consistency adat®ratories will not be
acceptable to FDA and could delay or jeopardize@m of the NDA.

The FDA has also informed us that, even if it pde@ us an accelerated approval for OCA, we wilidggiired to conduct a
post-approval clinical outcomes trial to confirne ttlinical benefit of OCA in PBC by demonstratihg tcorrelation of
biochemical therapeutic response in patients takifg\ with a significant reduction in adverse cladioutcomes over time. We
believe that this clinical outcomes confirmatorgltwill need to be underway at the time we sutamitNDA. We are continuing
our dialogue with the FDA around the design of dimical outcomes confirmatory trial. While we plembase our
confirmatory trial design around our discussionthwlie FDA and initiate the clinical outcomes comfitory trial during the
third quarter of 2014, the FDA may ultimately dissgywith the design of such trial, which may dedayprevent us from
receiving marketing approval for OCA in PBC or feésuthe withdrawal of such approval. In NASH, warrently anticipate
that we will need to conduct at least one Phadmgal trial prior to applying for marketing appral for OCA in NASH. We
expect this Phase 3 trial would incorporate arrimtsurrogate endpoint that may serve as the asfding for accelerated
approval in the United States and approval in Eerdihe primary endpoint in the Phase 2b FLINT wfaDCA in NASH
patients was based on liver biopsy and was defisegh improvement of two or more points in the NBRictivity score (a
system of scoring the histopathological featureth@liver) with no worsening of liver fibrosis. @antly, other
biopharmaceutical companies are enrolling or haiteated trials in certain subpopulations of NAS&tipnts based on different
endpoints from the one used in the FLINT trial.hsligh the FDA acknowledged the possibility of girsgniaccelerated
approval for NASH therapies using surrogate endpanch as the hepatic venous pressure gradiedl/B6, or histology at a
workshop held in September 2013, the FDA did novijole any formal regulatory guidance on approvabiépoints and may
not accept a surrogate endpoint for OCA for thattrent of NASH.

Because the FDA normally requires two pivotal catitrials to approve an NDA, even if we achiewofable results in a
single Phase 3 clinical trial, the FDA may not aatdais trial as an adequate basis for approvalreqdire that we conduct and
complete a second Phase 3 clinical trial beforesiceming an NDA for any of the indications for whiwe may seek marketing
approval for our product candidates. If POISE rssaite favorable, we intend to file an NDA for O@h the treatment of PBC
based on the results of three clinical trials —RIRISE trial and two Phase 2 trials. It is possib& our NDA submission for
regulatory approval will not be accepted by the FidAreview or, even if it is accepted for reviewat there may be delays in
the FDA's review process and that the FDA may aweitee that our NDA does not merit the approval ofAJGr the treatment
of PBC, in particular because we are only condgcirsingle Phase 3 clinical trial of OCA for theatment of PBC, in which
case the FDA may require that we conduct and/ompbeten additional clinical trials and preclinicalidies before it will
reconsider our application for approval.
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Our regulatory pathway for OCA for the treatmenN#SH will depend upon our review and analysishaf final dataset for
the FLINT trial and the discussions that we plahatd with the FDA and EMA. As a result, we may faiificulty in
designing an acceptable registration strategy artlum design of any follow-on trials to the FLINTat.

The EMA and regulatory authorities in other courstire which we may seek approval for, and marketA@€our other
product candidates may require additional predingtudies and/or clinical trials prior to grantiagproval. It may be expensive
and time consuming to conduct and complete additipreclinical studies and clinical trials that fieA, EMA and other
regulatory authorities may require us to perforra.sfich, any requirement by the FDA, EMA or otheulary authorities that
we conduct additional preclinical studies or clatitrials could materially and adversely affect business, financial condition
and results of operations. Furthermore, even ifeceive regulatory approval of OCA for the treatt@rany of our targeted
indications, the labeling for our product candigdatethe United States, Europe or other countrieghich we seek approval
may include limitations that could impact the comei success of our product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enroliment and completof clinical trials could result in increased ctsto us and delay or
limit our ability to obtain regulatory approval fo©OCA and our other product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enrolliment and congpletf clinical trials could increase our productelepment costs or
limit the regulatory approval of our product caraties. We completed the treatment of patients imlthble-blind phase of our
POISE trial in December 2013. We plan to initiate dinical outcomes confirmatory trial in PBC cugithe third quarter of
2014. We also intend to initiate a Phase 2 tri#8C and a Phase 2 lipid metabolism trial in NASitHegmts in the second half
of 2014, and may initiate a Phase 2 trial of OCAddiatric NASH patients in late 2014. We antiogpidiat we will need to
conduct at least one Phase 3 clinical trial paayplying for marketing approval for NASH. Theuks from these trials may
not be available when we expect or we may be redquo conduct additional clinical trials or predatis studies not currently
planned to receive approval for OCA as a treatrfarthe related indication, in which case we wordduire additional
funding. In addition, we do not know whether antufe trials or studies of our other product cantdigaincluding any clinical
outcomes trial of OCA, will begin on time or wilekcompleted on schedule, if at all.

The commencement, enrollment and completion ofc@iririals can be delayed or suspended for a tyaoereasons,
including:

« inability to obtain sufficient funds required forchnical trial or lack of adequate funding to ciowie the clinical trial du
to unforeseen costs or other business decisions;

« inability to reach agreements on acceptable tevitisprospective CROs and trial sites, the terfstich can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary ficantly among different CROs and trial sites;

« clinical holds, other regulatory objections tarcoencing or continuing a clinical trial or the iilép to obtain
regulatory approval to commence a clinical triatountries that require such approvals;

¢ discussions with the FDA or non-U.S. regulategarding the scope or design of our clinical trials

« inability to identify and maintain a sufficienumber of trial sites, many of which may alreadyebgaged in other
clinical trial programs, including some that mayfbethe same indications targeted by our prodantates;

« inability to obtain approval from institutionaview boards, or IRBs, to conduct a clinical tettheir respective sites;

« severe or unexpected drug-related adverse efgpirienced by patients or any determinationdbainical trial
presents unacceptable health risks;
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e abreach of the terms of any agreement withpoafy other reason by, current or future collatwwsathat have
responsibility for the clinical development of amfyour product candidates, including DSP and Sexviénvestigators
leading clinical trials on our product candidates;

* inability to timely manufacture sufficient quaiies of the product candidate required for a chhtdal;

« difficulty recruiting and enrolling patients tagticipate in clinical trials for a variety of reass, including meeting the
enrollment criteria for our trial, the risks of pexures that may be required as part of the suadh as a liver biopsy,
and competition from other clinical trial prografos the same indications as our product candidates;

« inability to retain enrolled patients after anadial trial is underway.

For example, in the past, we experienced delagsiirPhase 2 clinical trial of OCA given as a moeodipy to patients with
PBC because we were unable to find and enrollfecgrft number of trial patients who met the spieaginroliment criteria in
accordance with our anticipated trial schedule.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidanceaisayoccur and we or any of our collaborators megd to amend
clinical trial protocols to reflect these changegwappropriate regulatory authorities. Amendmenésy require us or any of our
collaborators to resubmit clinical trial protoctdsIRBs for re-examination, which may impact thetsptiming or successful
completion of a clinical trial.

In addition, if we or any of our collaborators aeguired to conduct additional clinical trials dher preclinical studies of
our product candidates beyond those contemplatedihility to obtain regulatory approval of thesequct candidates and
generate revenue from their sales would be simitatmed.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinicalevelopment. The results of earlier clinical triahre not necessarily
predictive of future results and any product candig we, DSP, Servier or our potential future colladators advance through
clinical trials may not have favorable results iater clinical trials or receive regulatory approval

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of our ictih development. Clinical trials may produce negabr inconclusive
results, and we or our collaborators may decideegulators may require us, to conduct additiotialaal trials or preclinical
studies. In addition, data obtained from trials andlies are susceptible to varying interpretatiansg regulators may not
interpret our data as favorably as we do, which delgy, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Suexe preclinical studies
and early clinical trials does not ensure that eghent clinical trials will generate the same ariksir results or otherwise
provide adequate data to demonstrate the efficadysafety of a product candidate. A number of cargsain the
pharmaceutical industry, including those with geeaesources and experience than us, have supeificant setbacks in
Phase 3 clinical trials and at other stages ofaairdevelopment, even after seeing promising tesalearlier clinical trials.

In addition, the design of a clinical trial canelehine whether its results will support approvaagfroduct and flaws in the
design of a clinical trial may not become appateni the clinical trial is well-advanced. We mag bnable to design and
execute a clinical trial to support regulatory ap@al. Further, clinical trials of potential prodsdiften reveal that it is not
practical or feasible to continue development &fdf OCA or our other product candidates are tbtobe unsafe or lack
efficacy, we will not be able to obtain regulatagyproval for them, the prospects for approval oAQ@uld be materially and
adversely affected and our business would be harmed

In some instances, there can be significant vaitiaini safety and/or efficacy results between eliént trials of the same
product candidate due to numerous factors, inctpdiranges or differences in trial protocols, défezes in composition of the
patient populations, adherence to the dosing reginel other trial protocols and the rate of drooubng clinical trial
participants. We do not know whether any Phasén@s®3 or other clinical trials we or any of oultajmorators may conduct
will demonstrate consistent or adequate efficaasafety to obtain regulatory approval to marketmoduct candidates. If we
are unable to bring any of our current or futureduict candidates to market, or to acquire any ntedkgreviously approved
products, our ability to create long-term stockleoldalue will be limited.
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We are currently expecting the results from thebdiblind phase of our Phase 3 POISE trial in M&@h4. We cannot
assure you that our POISE trial will achieve pwsitiesults or results that were similar to anyhefdata received in our prior
trials and studies.

In January 2014, the NIDDK stopped the double-btiedtment phase of the FLINT trial early followiagplanned interim
analysis showing that OCA had met the primary afficendpoint of the trial based on a pre-defingerim efficacy criteria.
However, the NIDDK has not yet provided us with tiaaset upon which the data safety monitoringdyaarDSMB, based its
recommendation to halt the FLINT trial. This datasay include additional details regarding OCA timaty not be expected or
desirable, such as the magnitude of the efficacytla@ overall adverse event profile of patient©O@A treatment. The Phase 2
trial in NASH currently being conducted in Japandoy collaborator DSP involves different doses @Abeing administered
to the trial subjects than those utilized in FLINFurthermore, we have not made any determinategarding the design of any
future trial on NASH. As a result, the positiveiedicy results seen in FLINT may not be replicatethe Japanese trial or any
future trial we may conduct in NASH.

Our product candidates may have undesirable side&f which may delay or prevent marketing approwa, if approval is
received, require our product candidates to be takdf the market, require them to include safety mings or otherwise
limit their sales.

A substance that binds to a receptor of a celltagders a response by that cell is called an &joBICA has been shown to
be a potent agonist of the farnesoid X receptoFXR. With the exception of the endogenous humbndiid CDCA, which
has been approved to treat cholesterol gallstssollition and a rare lipid storage disease, therea@approved FXR agonists
and the adverse effects from long-term exposutkisadrug class are unknown. Unforeseen side affeacin any of our product
candidates could arise either during clinical depeient or, if approved, after the approved protlastbeen marketed.

The most common side effects observed in clinigallstof OCA in PBC were pruritus, or itching, fatie, headaches,
nausea, constipation and diarrhea. In our Pha&2dhRnical trial of OCA in combination with ursaalj approximately 8% of
the patients enrolled in the 10 milligram (mg) &%dmg dose groups withdrew from the trial due teese pruritus. At the 50
mg dose, approximately 25% of the patients withdi@m the trial due to severe pruritus. Although Bhiase 3 POISE trial
currently remains blinded, seven patients overéhdvew from the trial due to pruritus.

We have been engaged in an ongoing dialogue wetiNtBDK with the goal of obtaining additional ddtam FLINT. As
part of its review the trial's DSMB expressed comcegarding hyperlipidemia and the occurrence nbse cardiovascular
events, both of which were seen in both the treatmed placebo groups, but disproportionately iepés receiving OCA.
However, the NIDDK has advised us that while tr@dance of the serious cardiovascular events waeerinally higher in the
patients receiving OCA therapy, it was not stat&ly significantly different as compared to thaqe#bo group. Based on a
report of blinded safety data that we recently iremkfrom the NIDDK, we have learned that as ofehe of December 2013 a
total of ten cardiovascular serious adverse eveadsoccurred in seven (2.5%) of the patients if\HL lat which point 207
(73%) of patients had completed the 72-week treatmplease and 73 remaining patients had all beestunly for 60 weeks or
more. Of the ten cardiovascular serious adverseteveported in FLINT, none were considered propabldefinitely related to
treatment. Eight of them occurred in five patieantsl were determined to be either definitely naitesl or probably not related
to treatment and all five of these patients comtthan in the trial. The remaining two serious adgervents occurred in 2012 in
two patients receiving OCA who were unblinded. Ehegents were subsequently considered by the NIRCH€ possibly
related to treatment, although in one of the cisegrincipal investigator had determined thatabhent was unrelated.

Although we believe that the two unblinded seriadserse events were likely unrelated to OCA treatrdae to the
numerous comorbid conditions and other clinicadljevant factors affecting each of these patiehessNIDDK has taken the
view that OCA treatment was possibly related te¢hserious adverse events. One of the patientshadha history of urinary
tract infections, developed urosepsis, was hogeiland was eventually reported to have experéeacstroke and died. The
second patient, who had multiple comorbidities sashyperlipidemia, abnormally elevated liver enegndiabetes, obesity
and hypertension, despite having improved her fpafile and fatty liver while on therapy, died@heart attack.
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See Item 1.A. “Business — Our Lead Product Candidabeticholic Acid (OCA) — Nonalcoholic Steatohgfis (NASH)” for
more information about these two cardiovasculapssradverse events.

Because this trial is still blinded, we do not haweher information regarding the adverse evenfiler of the other patients
in the trial, which could include side effects tha¢ unexpected or undesirable. We anticipatetitieafull safety information
relating to OCA from the FLINT trial in NASH willd provided to us together with the final results.

Additional or unforeseen side effects from thesaror of our other product candidates could arigeeeiduring clinical
development or, if approved, after the approvedipcohas been marketed. If new side effects anedfaluring the
development of OCA for any indication, if known sidffects are shown to be more severe than prdyiobserved or if OCA
is found to have other unexpected characteristiesnay need to abandon our development of OCABS,MNASH and other
potential indications.

The range and potential severity of possible sftbzts from systemic therapies is significant. Tesults of future clinical
trials may show that our product candidates canslesirable or unacceptable side effects, whichdcotérrupt, delay or halt
clinical trials, and result in delay of, or failut@ obtain, marketing approval from the FDA andeotregulatory authorities, or
result in marketing approval from the FDA and otteggulatory authorities with restrictive label wisugs.

In addition, our drug candidates are being devel@gsepotential treatments for severe, life thraatpdiseases and, as a
result, our trials will necessarily be conducted ipatient population that will be more prone tti@ngeneral population to
exhibit certain disease states or adverse evémeyl be difficult to discern whether certain egeot symptoms observed
during our trials were due to our drug candidatgslacebo, resulting in our company and our develemt programs being
negatively affected even if such events or symptaresultimately determined to be unlikely relateetir drug candidates. We
further cannot assure you that additional or mexere adverse side effects with respect to OCAnwitidevelop in future
clinical trials, which could delay or preclude régory approval of OCA or limit its commercial use.

If any of our product candidates receives markedipgroval and we or others later identify unde$&ralp unacceptable side
effects caused by such products:

« regulatory authorities may require the additiomabiling statements, specific warnings, a contieatin or field alert:
to physicians and pharmacies;

* we may be required to change instructions reggrttie way the product is administered, conducitiadel clinical
trials or change the labeling of the product;

¢ we may be subject to limitations on how we maynpote the product;

« sales of the product may decrease significantly;

¢ regulatory authorities may require us to takeapproved product off the market;
* we may be subject to litigation or product lidtgiklaims; and

e our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us, DSP, Seovieur potential future collaborators from achigyvor maintaining
market acceptance of the affected product or csuitdstantially increase commercialization costsexpnses, which in turn
could delay or prevent us from generating signiftagvenues from the sale of our products.

We may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclusivity our product candidates, if approved, which widwcause our
revenues to suffer.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, imtithg the United States and Europe, may designatgsdand biologics for
relatively small patient populations as orphan drignder the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may desigagteoduct as an orphan
drug if it is a drug or biologic intended to treatare disease or condition, which is generallyneéef as a patient population of
fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the gdiStates.

48




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Generally, if a product with an orphan drug desiigmesubsequently receives the first marketing apalrfor the indication
for which it has such designation, the produchistied to a period of marketing exclusivity, whiprecludes the EMA or the
FDA from approving another marketing applicationttee same product for that time period. The applie period is seven
years in the United States and ten years in Euifdpe European exclusivity period can be reducesixtgears if a product no
longer meets the criteria for orphan drug desigmadir if the product is sufficiently profitable Huat market exclusivity is no
longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may betld the FDA or EMA determines that the requestdesignation was
materially defective or if the manufacturer is uleaio assure sufficient quantity of the producirteet the needs of patients with
the rare disease or condition.

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a gwoet, that exclusivity may not effectively protéieé product from
competition because different products can be ajgpréor the same condition. Even after an orphag & approved, the FDA
can subsequently approve the same product foratine sondition if the FDA concludes that the latedpict is clinically
superior in that it is shown to be safer, morecaife or makes a major contribution to patient care

Reimbursement decisions by third-party payors mayé an adverse effect on pricing and market acceptof our product
candidates, if approved. If there is not sufficiergimbursement for our products or they are not eved at all, it is less likely
that they will be widely used.

Market acceptance and sales of OCA or any otheptarhndidates that we develop, if approved, vépehd on
reimbursement policies and may be affected by éub@althcare reform measures. Government auttsoaitid third-party
payors, such as private health insurers and hesthtenance organizations, decide which drugswikkgover and establish
payment levels. We cannot be certain that reimiboese will be available for OCA or any other produahdidates that we
develop. Also, reimbursement policies could rediheedemand for, or the price paid for, our produétimbursement is not
available or is available on a limited basis, weymat be able to successfully commercialize OC/amy other product
candidates that we develop.

In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Dhogrrovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMAanged the
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceuticalymtsd The legislation established Medicare Part li¢ckwvexpanded
Medicare coverage for outpatient prescription drugpases by the elderly but provided authoritylifaiting the number of
drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic clag& MMA also introduced a new reimbursement mettugobased on
average sales prices for physician-administeregsidriny negotiated prices for our products covdned Part D prescription
drug plan will likely be lower than the prices wégftt otherwise obtain. Moreover, while the MMA appl@dy to drug
benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payaften follow Medicare coverage policy and paymemittitions in setting
their own payment rates. Any reduction in paymhbat tesults from the MMA may result in a similar retion in payments
from non-governmental payors.

The United States and several other jurisdictiorscansidering, or have already enacted, a nunfiegislative and
regulatory proposals to change the healthcaremyistevays that could affect our ability to sell quroducts profitably. Among
policy makers and payors in the United States dswlvdere, there is significant interest in promgtimanges in healthcare
systems with the stated goals of containing heatthcosts, improving quality and/or expanding astesealthcare. In the
United States, the pharmaceutical industry has bemarticular focus of these efforts and has bagmfieantly affected by
major legislative initiatives. We expect to expade pricing pressures in connection with the shfe@A and any other
products that we develop, due to the trend towaadaged healthcare, the increasing influence otthezdintenance
organizations and additional legislative proposals.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordaége Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edocatfordability
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, ACA, becamewan the United States. The goal of ACA is to regltite cost of health care
and substantially change the way health care @nfiad by both governmental and private insurersléMre cannot predict
what impact on federal reimbursement policies fggsslation will have in general or on our businspscifically, the ACA may
result in downward pressure on pharmaceutical reisgament, which could negatively affect market ptanece of OCA or any
future product candidates. In addition, althoughUmited States Supreme Court upheld the constitality of most

49




TABLE OF CONTENTS

of the ACA, some states have indicated that thegnohto not implement certain sections of the A@Ad some members of the
U.S. Congress are still working to repeal the A@#% cannot predict whether these challenges wiltinaa or other proposals
will be made or adopted, or what impact these &ffioray have on us.

If we market products in a manner that violates Heéecare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate gowment price reporting
laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal periaft.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of statefederal healthcare
laws, commonly referred to as “fraud and abuse’sladvave been applied in recent years to restritdioemarketing practices in
the pharmaceutical industry. Other jurisdictionstsas Europe have similar laws. These laws indalde claims and anti-
kickback statutes. If we market our products andpsaducts are paid for by governmental progratis,possible that some of
our business activities could be subject to chgkbetnder one or more of these laws.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fiorowingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for
payment to the federal government or knowingly mgkor causing to be made, a false statement ta fgdse claim paid. The
federal healthcare program anti-kickback statutdipits, among other things, knowingly and willfubffering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration to inducejroreturn for, purchasing, leasing, ordering oaaging for the purchase, lease
or order of any healthcare item or service covénetedicare, Medicaid or other federally financedltheare programs. This
statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangenbetween pharmaceutical manufacturers on thévané and prescribers,
purchasers or formulary managers on the otheroAtih there are several statutory exemptions andategy safe harbors
protecting certain common activities from prosemutithe exemptions and safe harbors are drawnwigtrand practices that
involve remuneration intended to induce prescripmgchasing or recommending may be subject tdiagrif they do not
qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Most stalss have statutes or regulations similar to ¢ilefal anti-kickback law and
federal false claims laws, which apply to items aetvices covered by Medicaid and other state pragjrar, in several states,
apply regardless of the payor. Administrative, Icwid criminal sanctions may be imposed under tfegberal and state laws.

Over the past few years, a number of pharmacewtiwhbther healthcare companies have been prodaouter these laws
for a variety of promotional and marketing actiedj such as: providing free trips, free goods, sbamsulting fees and grants
and other monetary benefits to prescribers; reppitiflated average wholesale prices that were tisex by federal programs
to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-labefrtion; and submitting inflated best price infation to the Medicaid
Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid teba

If the FDA and EMA and other regulatory agencies dmt approve the manufacturing facilities of our fute contract
manufacturers for commercial production on a timebasis or at all, we may not be able to commerealany of our product
candidates or commercialization of our product cdddtes could be delayed.

We do not intend to manufacture the pharmaceypicaducts that we plan to sell. We currently haveeaments with a
contract manufacturer for the production of thevacpharmaceutical ingredients and the formulatibsufficient quantities of
drug product for the long-term safety extensionsghaf our Phase 3 POISE trial of OCA for the treattof PBC, the
confirmatory outcomes trial for OCA in PBC and tither trials and preclinical studies that we placdnduct prior to seeking
regulatory approval. If our contract manufactutesidd cease to provide services to us for any rease likely would
experience delays in advancing our clinical triahsle we identify and qualify one or more replacetnsuppliers and we may
be unable to obtain replacement supplies on tematsare favorable to us.

We do not have agreements for commercial suppfi€GCa# or any of our other product candidates andweg not be able
to reach agreements with these or other contrantifaeturers for sufficient supplies to commercial@CA if it is approved.
Additionally, the facilities used by any contracamufacturer to manufacture OCA or any of our offreduct candidates must
be the subject of a satisfactory inspection betfloee=DA or the regulators in other jurisdictionpagre the product candidate
manufactured at that
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facility. We are completely dependent on theseltparty manufacturers for compliance with the regmients of U.S. and non-
U.S. regulators for the manufacture of our finispeaducts. If our manufacturers cannot successfodyufacture material that
conform to our specifications and current good nfacturing practice requirements of any governmesgg@ncy whose
jurisdiction to which we are subject, our produahdidates will not be approved or, if already appth may be subject to
recalls.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails riskahich we would not be subject if we manufactliiee product
candidates, including:

« the possibility that we are unable to enter etoanufacturing agreement with a third party to ufiacture our product
candidates;

« the possible breach of the manufacturing agre&srimnthe third parties because of factors beyandontrol; and

¢ the possibility of termination or nonrenewal bétagreements by the third parties before we dectalarrange for a
qualified replacement third-party manufacturer.

Any of these factors could cause the delay of aggror commercialization of our product candidatesjse us to incur
higher costs or prevent us from commercializingmaduct candidates successfully. Furthermoreyyifat our product
candidates are approved and contract manufactiaiets deliver the required commercial quantit@dinished product on a
timely basis and at commercially reasonable pracebwe are unable to find one or more replacemenufacturers capable of
production at a substantially equivalent costubssantially equivalent volumes and quality ancadimely basis, we would
likely be unable to meet demand for our products@uld lose potential revenue. It may take seygrals to establish an
alternative source of supply for our product caatid and to have any such new source approvectgotrernment agencies
that regulate our products.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatorgmoval, we will still be subject to strict requtat/ requirements governing
manufacturing and marketing of our products and, asresult, we could face future development andukegory difficulties.

Our product candidates, if approved, will also blject to ongoing regulatory requirements for laigglpackaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, record-keeping and subroissif safety and other post-market informationadidition, approved
products, manufacturers and manufacturers’ faedlifire required to comply with extensive FDA and EMduirements and
requirements of other similar agencies, includinguging that quality control and manufacturing gdares conform to current
Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs. As such, wekaaur contract manufacturers are subject to coatireview and
periodic inspections to assess compliance with cGMPBsordingly, we and others with whom we work mesitinue to
expend time, money and effort in all areas of rafguyy compliance, including manufacturing, prodaictand quality control.
We will also be required to report certain adveesections and production problems, if any, to tbé&\land EMA and other
similar agencies and to comply with certain requieats concerning advertising and promotion forgroducts. Promotional
communications with respect to prescription drugssaibject to a variety of legal and regulatoryrietions and must be
consistent with the information in the product'pegved label. Accordingly, we may not promote gopraved products, if
any, for indications or uses for which they are aygproved.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unkngswblems with a product, such as adverse evenisanfticipated
severity or frequency, or problems with the fagilithere the product is manufactured, or disagretfsthhe promotion,
marketing or labeling of a product, it may imposstrictions on that product or us, including remgiwithdrawal of the
product from the market. If our product candiddsgisto comply with applicable regulatory requirentg a regulatory agency
may:

¢ issue warning letters;

¢ mandate modifications to promotional materialsegjuire us to provide corrective information tahiecare
practitioners;
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« require us or our collaborators to enter intwasent decree or permanent injunction, which celude imposition of
various fines, reimbursements for inspection castyjired due dates for specific actions and piesdior
noncompliance;

« impose other administrative or judicial civil aiminal penalties;
¢ withdraw regulatory approval,

« refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapproved applications filed by us, DSP, Sgrer our potenti
future collaborators;

* impose restrictions on operations, including lyoséw manufacturing requirements; or

¢ seize or detain products.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Prodats

Even if approved, our product candidates may noh&wve broad market acceptance among physiciansigras and
healthcare payors, and as a result our revenueseyated from their sales may be limited.

The commercial success of OCA or our other prodantlidates, if approved, will depend upon theieatance among the
medical community, including physicians, healthecaayors and patients. For PBC, the current stdrafarare is
ursodeoxycholic acid, which is available generica ursodiol. In order for OCA to be commerciaccessful, we will need
to demonstrate that it is safe and effective fertteatment of patients who have an inadequat®msspo or who are unable to
tolerate ursodiol, referred to as second line tneat, and is more effective than any other altéreatthat may be developed as
a second line treatment for PBC, particularly gitteenmuch higher price that we anticipate chargangCA compared to the
price of generically available ursodiol. In NASHhee there are currently no approved therapiegjoveot know the degree to
which OCA will be accepted as a therapy, even |iraped.

The degree of market acceptance of our productidares will depend on a number of factors, inclgdin
« limitations or warnings contained in our prodoahdidates’ FDA or EMA-approved labeling;

¢ changes in the standard of care or availabilitglt#frnative therapies at similar or lower coststf@r targeted indicatior
for any of our product candidates, such as ursddighe treatment of PBC;

« limitations in the approved clinical indicatiofts our product candidates;

« demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy comg@aceother products;

¢ lack of significant adverse side effects;

« sales, marketing and distribution support;

« availability of reimbursement from managed cdemg and other third-party payors;

¢ timing of market introduction and perceived effeeness of competitive products;

¢ the degree of cost-effectiveness;

« availability of alternative therapies at simitarlower cost, including generics and over-the-teuproducts;

¢ the extent to which our product candidates apg@ped for inclusion on formularies of hospitalslananaged care
organizations;

« whether our product candidates are designatedrpit/sician treatment guidelines for the treatnoémite indications
for which we have received regulatory approval;

¢ adverse publicity about our product candidatefseorable publicity about competitive products;
« convenience and ease of administration of oudycbcandidates; and

¢ potential product liability claims.
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If our product candidates are approved, but danbieve an adequate level of acceptance by phgsigiatients, the
medical community and healthcare payors, sufficieménue may not be generated from these prodndteza may not become
or remain profitable. In addition, efforts to edtecthe medical community and third-party payordtenbenefits of our product
candidates may require significant resources andmager be successful.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution expererand we will have to invest significant additidmasources to develop
those capabilities or enter into acceptable thirdsty sales and marketing arrangements.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution expegeand have only recently started the initial peadf developing an
internal commercial organization. To develop in&sales, distribution and marketing capabilities,will have to invest
significant additional amounts of financial and ragement resources, some of which will be commjitéat to any
confirmation that OCA or any of our other produahdidates will be approved. For product candidatesre we decide to
perform sales, marketing and distribution functionsselves or through third parties, we could faceimber of additional
risks, including:

« we or our third-party sales collaborators maylmgble to attract and build an effective markgtinsales force;
¢ the cost of securing or establishing a marketingales force may exceed the revenues generataaylyyroducts; and
¢ our direct sales and marketing efforts may nasuecessful.

We have entered into an agreement with DSP fodévelopment and commercialization of OCA in Japzh @hina and
potentially other Asian countries, if approved, &ade entered into an agreement with Servier tistasshe development and
commercialization of certain of our earlier stageraists of a dedicated bile acid receptor calledRb®utside of the United
States and Japan, if approved, and may elect koaskhitional strategic collaborators for our prodeendidates. We may have
limited or no control over the sales, marketing digdribution activities of these third parties.rQuture revenues may depend
heavily on the success of the efforts of thesel tharties.

If any of our current strategic collaborators failso perform its obligations or terminates its agreent with us, the
development and commercialization of the produchdalates under such agreement could be delayedeamtnated and our
business could be substantially harmed.

We currently have strategic collaborations in pletating to certain of our product candidates. &itered into an exclusive
license agreement with DSP regarding the developarehcommercialization of OCA for PBC and NASHJapan and China
and provided DSP with an option to extend its esiglel license to different indications as well adaia other Asian countries.
We entered into a strategic collaboration with &arinitially focused on the identification and @pization of novel TGR5
agonists for the treatment of type-2 diabetes a@hdra@ssociated disorders. These strategic coliéibaos may not be
scientifically or commercially successful due touanber of important factors, including the follogin

« DSP and Servier have significant discretion in aeteing the efforts and resources that each witlhapo their strategi
collaboration with us. The timing and amount of @agh payments, milestones and royalties that wereteive under
such agreements will depend on, among other ththgsfforts, allocation of resources and succésselopment and
commercialization of our product candidates by RBE Servier under their respective agreements;

*  Our agreement with Servier provides it with witlscretion in deciding which novel compounds toatbe through the
preclinical and clinical development process. jiassible for Servier to reject certain compourtdag point in the
research, development and clinical trial procesbawit triggering a termination of their agreemeithws. In the event
of any such decision, our business and prospectdmadversely affected due to our inability togress such
compounds ourselves;

«  Our agreement with DSP restricts it from developngommercializing any FXR agonist to treat PBAN&SH during
the term of the agreement other than pursuanet®@®P agreement and our
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agreement with Servier restricts it from developpngommercializing any TGRS receptor agonist dythe term of th
agreement other than pursuant to the Servier agmeeiBubject to these restrictions, it is posditée DSP or Servier
may develop and commercialize, either alone or wfitfers, or be acquired by a company that hasyptedhat are
similar to or competitive with the product candikthat they license from us;

« DSP or Servier may change the focus of their lbgweent and commercialization efforts or pursuéhbigpriority
programs;

« DSP or Servier may, under specified circumstarteesinate their strategic collaborations withomsshort notice and
for circumstances outside of our control, whichldaunake it difficult for us to attract new strategiollaborators or
adversely affect how we are perceived in the sifiemind financial communities;

« DSP and Servier have, under certain circumstanicesight to maintain or defend our intellectpedperty rights
licensed to them in their territories, and, althowge may have the right to assume the maintenarteefense of our
intellectual property rights if our strategic cditaators do not, our ability to do so may be compsed by our strategic
collaborators’ acts or omissions;

« DSP or Servier may utilize our intellectual prageights in such a way as to invite litigatiorattcould jeopardize or
invalidate our intellectual property rights or egpas to potential liability; and

« DSP or Servier may not comply with all applicaldgulatory requirements, or fail to report safédéya in accordance
with all applicable regulatory requirements.

If either DSP or Servier fails to develop or effeely commercialize OCA or any TGR5 compounds, eesipely, we may
not be able to replace them with another collaloordt/e may also be unable to obtain, on terms d@ab#pto us, a license from
such strategic collaborator to any of its intelledtproperty that may be necessary or useful fao w®ntinue to develop and
commercialize a product candidate. Any of thesesveould have a material adverse effect on ounbas, results of
operations and our ability to achieve future pedfility, and could cause our stock price to decline

We may not be successful in establishing and maintiag development and commercialization collaborat& which could
adversely affect our ability to develop certainair product candidates and our financial conditicend operating results.

Because developing pharmaceutical products, coimduciinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvastablishing
manufacturing capabilities and marketing approvedipcts are expensive, we have entered into, aiydseek to enter into,
collaborations with companies that have more egpeg and resources than we have. For example, weeehdered into
collaborations with DSP for OCA and Servier for earlier stage TGR5 program. We may establish iathdit collaborations
for development and commercialization of OCA irriteries outside of those licensed by DSP or farearlier stage TGR5
program in the United States or Japan and for gifmtuct candidates and research programs, ingubtlifi-767 and INT-777.
Additionally, if any of our product candidates rees marketing approval, we may enter into salesmaarketing arrangements
with third parties with respect to our unlicenseditories. If we are unable to maintain our exigtarrangements or enter into
any new such arrangements on acceptable ternmslif we may be unable to effectively market aelll gur products in our
target markets. We expect to face competition @kis) appropriate collaborators. Moreover, collaborearrangements are
complex and time consuming to negotiate, documediimplement and they may require substantial nessuo maintain. We
may not be successful in our efforts to establighienplement collaborations or other alternativaagements for the
development of our product candidates.

When we collaborate with a third party for devel@mnand commercialization of a product candidatecan expect to
relinquish some or all of the control over the fetsuccess of that product candidate to the tlartypFor example, DSP has
the exclusive rights to OCA in Japan and Chinaandht of first refusal to license OCA in sevesttier Asian countries. Our
collaboration partner may not devote sufficienbreses to the commercialization of our product édete:s or may otherwise
fail in their commercialization. The terms of argllaboration or other arrangement that we estalptial not be favorable to us.
In addition, any collaboration that we enter intajuding our collaborations with DSP and Servieay be unsuccessful in
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the development and commercialization of our prodaadidates. In some cases, we may be respomgitdentinuing
preclinical and initial clinical development of eoguct candidate or research program under a asisibn arrangement, and
the payment we receive from our collaboration partnay be insufficient to cover the cost of thiselepment. If we are
unable to reach agreements with suitable collabosdor our product candidates, we would face iaseel costs, we may be
forced to limit the number of our product candidatee can commercially develop or the territories/iich we commercialize
them and we might fail to commercialize productgrgrams for which a suitable collaborator carbefound. If we fail to
achieve successful collaborations, our operatisgltg and financial condition will be materiallycaadversely affected.

If we fail to develop OCA for additional indicatia) our commercial opportunity will be limited.

To date, we have focused the majority of our dguelent efforts on the development of OCA for theoselcline treatment
of PBC. One of our strategies is to pursue clinitealelopment of OCA for other orphan and more comindications, to the
extent that we have sufficient funding.

PBC is a rare disease for which we plan to seeketiag approval for OCA as a second-line treatnagt, as a result, the
market size for treatments of PBC is limited. Farthore, because a significant proportion of PBGep&t do not exhibit any
symptoms at the time of diagnosis, PBC may beulefiagnosed for a significant period of time. Doghese factors, our
ability to grow revenues will be dependent on daility to successfully develop and commercializeOf0r the treatment of
additional indications, including NASH. In partien) we believe that our future success will depgerdrge part on the results
of our development of OCA for the treatment of NASHthough NASH is believed to be one of the magivalent chronic
liver diseases worldwide, NASH may be left undiaggwfor a long time and a definitive diagnosis &3 is currently based
on a histological assessment of a liver biopsyctvitinpacts the ability to easily identify patierfsirthermore, even if we are
successful in developing and obtaining marketingrayal of OCA for the treatment of NASH, we may betable to
commercialize OCA successfully.

The completion of development, securing of apprewel commercialization of OCA for additional indicas will require
substantial additional funding and is prone tortbks of failure inherent in drug development. Véamot provide you any
assurance that we will be able to successfully mckvany of these indications through the developmpeatess. Even if we
receive FDA or EMA approval to market OCA for theatment of any of these additional indications caenot assure you that
any such additional indications will be succesgfattmmercialized, widely accepted in the marketplacmore effective than
other commercially available alternatives. If we anable to successfully develop and commerci&liZé for these additional
indications, our commercial opportunity will be lbed and our business prospects will suffer.

Risks Related to Our Business and Strategy

We face competition from other biotechnology and pimaceutical companies and our operating results hgiliffer if we fail
to compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive and subject to rapid andi§icant technological
change. We have competitors in the United Statesyie and other jurisdictions, including major rmational pharmaceutical
companies, established biotechnology companiesjapepharmaceutical and generic drug companiesuaiversities and
other research institutions. Many of our competitasge greater financial and other resources, ssitdrger research and
development staff and more experienced marketidgh@emnufacturing organizations. Large pharmaceuticaipanies, in
particular, have extensive experience in clinieating, obtaining regulatory approvals, recruifiadients and manufacturing
pharmaceutical products. These companies alsodignigicantly greater research, sales and marketapgbilities and
collaborative arrangements in our target markets igading companies and research institutionatished pharmaceutical
companies may also invest heavily to acceleratmdesy and development of novel compounds or tacemse novel
compounds that could make the product candidaseswh develop obsolete. As a result of all of thaséors, our competitors
may succeed in obtaining patent protection andok Br EMA approval or discovering, developing ananeoercializing drugs
for the
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chronic liver and other diseases that we are teugéefore we do. Smaller or early-stage compamiag also prove to be
significant competitors, particularly through chltaative arrangements with large, established compa

Some of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology compame expect to compete with include Astellas RizadS, Inc.,
AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Conaherfaceuticals Inc., Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, EliyLiExelixis, Inc.,
Galectin Therapeutics Inc., Galmed Medical Resektdh Genfit SA, Gilead Sciences, Inc., GlaxoSmiihk, Immuron Ltd.,
Kadmon Corporation LLC, La Jolla Pharmaceutical @any, Lumena Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mochida Phamtiaet Co.,

Ltd., NasVax Ltd., Novimmune SA., Novo Nordisk Afhenex Pharmaceuticals AG, Raptor Pharmaceutaral. CSalix
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Takeda Pharmaceutical CoTlitgja Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Tobira Therapsulh addition, many
universities and private and public research migt# may become active in our target disease a@emsannouncement that the
FLINT trial in NASH was stopped early following éapned interim efficacy analysis showing that OG#lmet the primary
efficacy endpoint of the trial based on a pre-dadimterim efficacy criterion has brought more mtiten to our targeted
indications. As a result, we believe that additimmnpanies and organizations may seek to compigteus in the future. Our
competitors may succeed in developing, acquiriniicensing on an exclusive basis, technologiesdand products that are
more effective or less costly than OCA or any oftreduct candidates that we are currently devetppithat we may develop,
which could render our products obsolete and nopetitive.

Off-label uses of other potential treatments meytlthe commercial potential of our product cantidaespecially given
the anticipated pricing for our product candidakes. example, off-label use of fibrate drugs hasrbeported in PBC, though
many fibrates are specifically contraindicateddse in primary biliary cirrhosis due to potentiahcerns over acute and long-
term safety in this patient population. In NASHyanber of treatments, including vitamin E (an axitlant), insulin sensitizers
(such as metformin), antihyperlipidemic agents lisas gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and ursodiol, arged off-label, despite
none having been clearly shown in clinical trigstter the course of the disease. Various otleatrrents, both approved and
unapproved, have been used in the other indicatienare targeting.

We believe that our ability to successfully compeiédepend on, among other things:

« the results of our and our strategic collabositcdlinical trials and preclinical studies;

e our ability to recruit and enroll patients forralinical trials;

« the efficacy, safety and reliability of our pracandidates;

¢ the speed at which we develop our product canesga

« our ability to design and successfully executgrapriate clinical trials;

« our ability to maintain a good relationship wittgulatory authorities;

¢ the timing and scope of regulatory approvalany;

« our ability to commercialize and market any of ptoduct candidates that receive regulatory apgrov
¢ the price of our products;

« adequate levels of reimbursement under privategawernmental health insurance plans, includingibéed;
e our ability to protect intellectual property rigtrelated to our products;

e our ability to manufacture and sell commerciahutities of any approved products to the marked; an
* acceptance of our product candidates by physicaad other health care providers.

If our competitors market products that are mofeative, safer or less expensive than our futuoelpets, if any, or that
reach the market sooner than our future producisyyi, we may not achieve
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commercial success. In addition, the biopharmacalutidustry is characterized by rapid technologit@nge. Because our
research approach integrates many technologiesyitbe difficult for us to stay abreast of the daghanges in each
technology. If we fail to stay at the forefrontte€hnological change, we may be unable to compgtgetisely. Technological
advances or products developed by our competitagsrender our technologies or product candidateslete, less competitive
or not economical.

We depend on third-party contractors for a substahfportion of our operations and may not be abledontrol their work as
effectively as if we performed these functions oeires.

We outsource substantial portions of our operatioriird-party service providers, including thendact of preclinical
studies and clinical trials, collection and anaysi data and manufacturing. Our agreements wittl-grarty service providers
and CROs are on a study-by-study and project-bjeprdasis. Typically, we may terminate the agregmeith notice and are
responsible for the supplier’s previously incuroedts. In addition, any CRO that we retain willdobject to the FDA's and
EMA’s regulatory requirements and similar standandgiside of the United States and Europe and weotlbave control over
compliance with these regulations by these prosideéonsequently, if these providers do not adreeapplicable governing
practices and standards, the development and casiatization of our product candidates could be yetbor stopped, which
could severely harm our business and financial itiond

Because we have relied on third parties, our imlerapacity to perform these functions is limitedrtanagement oversight.
Outsourcing these functions involves the risk thatl parties may not perform to our standards, matyproduce results in a
timely manner or may fail to perform at all. Sevemars ago, we experienced difficulties with adkparty contract
manufacturer for OCA, including delays in receivadpquate clinical trial supplies as requestedimwitie requested time
periods. We subsequently replaced this manufactitbrother third-party contract manufacturers@€A. It is possible that
we could experience similar difficulties in thedtg. In addition, the use of third-party servicevpders requires us to disclose
our proprietary information to these parties, whidild increase the risk that this information Wwi#i misappropriated. There
are a limited number of third-party service provalthat specialize or have the expertise requoethieve our business
objectives. Identifying, qualifying and managingfpemance of third-party service providers can badilt, time consuming
and cause delays in our development programs. Wently have a small number of employees, whiclitfithe internal
resources we have available to identify and moritod-party service providers. To the extent we @nable to identify, retain
and successfully manage the performance of thirti+garvice providers in the future, our businesy loe adversely affected.
We may further be subject to the imposition of ladricriminal penalties if their conduct of clinidsials violates applicable
law.

Our third-party service providers generally are prathibited from providing their services to otléopharmaceutical
companies, including companies that currently oy mahe future compete with us. For example, ¢erdd our third-party
service providers and consultants may be ableueldp intellectual property to which we are notitled under our agreements
which may eventually be used to develop produesdbmpete with our products. Although we generadlye confidentiality
and non-disclosure agreements in place with oud-harty service providers and consultants, suict farties may be able to
provide services to other companies without viaatihe terms of our agreements. In addition, aljhone may seek to enter
into non-compete arrangements with our key thindypservice providers, such arrangements are diffio negotiate and we
may be unable to successfully enter into such geaents.

A variety of risks associated with our internatiohlausiness operations and our planned internatioralsiness relationships
could materially adversely affect our business.

We currently have an Italian subsidiary that asteuar legal representative for our clinical trimlshe European Union to
satisfy European Union regulatory requirementsaddition, we have entered into an agreement witR B8 the development
of OCA and with Servier for our earlier stage TGRRBgram, and we may enter into agreements withr dkivel parties for the
development and commercialization of OCA or oueoibroduct candidates in international markets. iGi@rnational
operations and business relationships subject additional risks that may materially adverselyeaffour ability to attain or
sustain profitable operations, including:

« differing regulatory requirements for drug apptsvinternationally;
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* potentially reduced protection for intellectuabperty rights;
e potential third-party patent rights in countr@sside of the United States;

e the potential for so-called “parallel importingyhich is what occurs when a local seller, faceithwelatively high local
prices, opts to import goods from another jurisdictvith relatively low prices, rather than buyitigem locally;

e unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriersragdlatory requirements;

» economic weakness, including inflation, or pobfiinstability, particularly in non-U.S. economisd markets,
including several countries in Europe;

« compliance with tax, employment, immigration daldor laws for employees traveling abroad;
* taxes in other countries;

« foreign currency fluctuations, which could redolincreased operating expenses and reduced reyvend other
obligations incident to doing business in anotlmemdry;

e workforce uncertainty in countries where laborast is more common than in the United States;
e production shortages resulting from any everfiscihg raw material supply or manufacturing cafitdes abroad; and

e business interruptions resulting from geo-pdiitiactions, including war and terrorism, or natulighsters, including
earthquakes, volcanoes, typhoons, floods, hurrgcand fires.

We will need to expand our operations and increae size of our company, and we may experience ditfies in managing
growth.

As of February 28, 2014, we had 50 employees. Amurease the number of ongoing product developmegrams and
advance our product candidates through preclisitedies and clinical trials, we will need to ingeaur product development,
scientific and administrative headcount to manhgse programs. We will also need to grow our cormiakcapabilities,
which will require us to hire additional personrialaddition, to meet our obligations as a pubtimpany and to support the
anticipated growth in the other functions at oumpany, we will need to increase our general andridtrative capabilities.
Our management, personnel and systems currenthade may not be adequate to support this futwetir Our need to
effectively manage our operations, growth and wariprojects requires that we:

« successfully attract and recruit new employeesoosultants with the expertise and experience iNeeguire;
* manage our clinical programs effectively, whick anticipate being conducted at numerous clinited;s

e develop a marketing and sales infrastructure; and

e continue to improve our operational, financiatlananagement controls, reporting systems and puoesd

If we are unable to successfully manage this gramithincreased complexity of operations, our bissimeay be adversely
affected.

We may not be able to manage our business effegtiifeke are unable to attract and retain key persmh and consultants.

We may not be able to attract or retain qualifiexhagement, finance, scientific and clinical pergbiamd consultants due
to the intense competition for qualified persoramed consultants among biotechnology, pharmaceiwhbther businesses. If
we are not able to attract and retain necessasppeel and consultants to accomplish our busingsstives, we may
experience constraints that will significantly indigethe achievement of our development and comniengjectives, our ability
to raise additional capital and our ability to imyplent our business strategy.
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Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnofenanagement personnel in recent years. Weighdytdependent on
the development, regulatory, commercialization lnsiness development expertise of Mark Pruzanskicedounder and
president and chief executive officer; David Shapaur chief medical officer; Barbara Duncan, ohie€ financial officer and
treasurer; Daniel Regan, our chief commercial effit.uciano Adorini, our chief scientific officeand our other key employees
and consultants, such as Professor Roberto Paliicour co-founder who provides ongoing consulegvices to us. If we lose
one or more of our executive officers or key empkryor consultants, our ability to implement owibess strategy
successfully could be seriously harmed. Any ofexecutive officers or key employees or consultamy terminate their
employment at any time. Replacing executive offickey employees and consultants may be diffiedtraay take an
extended period of time because of the limited nemald individuals in our industry with the breadthskills and experience
required to develop, gain regulatory approval af aeammercialize products successfully. Competitmhire and retain
employees and consultants from this limited podhtense, and we may be unable to hire, trainjrretamotivate these
additional key personnel and consultants.

We have scientific and clinical advisors and cotasis, such as our co-founder Professor Robertiwétati, who assist us
in formulating our research, development and dihgtrategies. These advisors are not our emplayegsay have
commitments to, or consulting or advisory contrawith, other entities that may limit their availlityi to us and typically they
will not enter into non-compete agreements withlfus.conflict of interest arises between their kéor us and their work for
another entity, we may lose their services. In tidi our advisors may have arrangements with atbepanies to assist those
companies in developing products or technologiasriray compete with ours.

Failure to establish and maintain adequate finana&rastructure and accounting systems and contraisuld impair our
ability to comply with the financial reporting andhternal controls requirements for publicly tradecbmpanies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasidgiyanding regulatory environment, which requiresouomply with
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the relatessrahd regulations of the Securities and Exchamgen@ission, expanded
disclosure requirements, accelerated reportingir@agents and more complex accounting rules. Compasponsibilities
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include esthinigsand maintaining corporate oversight and adeeqiaéernal control over
financial reporting and disclosure controls anccpoures. Effective internal controls are necesfarys to produce reliable
financial reports and are important to help prevewatncial fraud.

Our compliance with Section 404 of the SarbanesPAct has required and will continue to requirattive incur
substantial accounting expense and expend signifioanagement efforts. In future years, our testinghe subsequent testing
by our independent registered public accounting ffrapplicable, may reveal deficiencies in ouemial controls that we
would be required to remediate in a timely maneasto be able to comply with the requirementSaiftion 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act each year. If we are not abt®toply with the requirements of Section 404 of $isebanes-Oxley Act in a
timely manner each year, we could be subject totgars or investigations by the Securities and BExge Commission, the
NASDAQ Stock Market or other regulatory authoritiesich would require additional financial and marmaget resources and
could adversely affect the market price of our camrstock. Furthermore, if we cannot provide rekaffthancial reports or
prevent fraud, our business and results of operatiould be harmed and investors could lose camfgé our reported
financial information.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherrioper activities, including noncompliance with regatory standards
and requirements and insider trading, which couldsificantly harm our business.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud ceratfisconduct. Misconduct by employees could inciatentional
failures to comply with the regulations of the FRAd non-U.S. regulators, provide accurate inforomtd the FDA and non-
U.S. regulators, comply with health care fraud ahdse laws and regulations in the United Statesbrwhd, report financial
information or data accurately or disclose unautiear activities to us. In particular, sales, margtnd business arrangements
in the health care industry are subject to extenkiws and regulations intended to prevent frausgomduct, kickbacks, self-
dealing and other abusive practices. These lawseandations may restrict or prohibit a wide rag@ricing, discounting,
marketing and promotion, sales commission, custonoentive programs and other
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business arrangements. Employee misconduct caaddralolve the improper use of information obtaifmethe course of
clinical trials, which could result in regulatorgrgctions and serious harm to our reputation. We la@opted a code of conduct,
but it is not always possible to identify and deterployee misconduct, and the precautions we talletect and prevent this
activity may not be effective in controlling unknowr unmanaged risks or losses or in protectinfgams governmental
investigations or other actions or lawsuits stengtifom a failure to comply with these laws or regigdns. If any such actions
are instituted against us, and we are not sucdeagfefending ourselves or asserting our rightsse actions could have a
significant impact on our business, including tmpaosition of significant fines or other sanctions.

We face potential product liability exposure, andsificcessful claims are brought against us, we maguir substantial
liability for a product candidate and may have tinit its commercialization.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $reahd the sale of any products for which we magiobharketing approval
expose us to the risk of product liability clairffsoduct liability claims may be brought againsbusur collaborators by
participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patie, health care providers or others using, adieinigy or selling our products. If
we cannot successfully defend ourselves againssacty claims, we would incur substantial liabisti®Regardless of merit or
eventual outcome, product liability claims may tesu

« withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

¢ termination of clinical trial sites or entiredtiprograms;

¢ costs of related litigation;

« substantial monetary awards to patients or atts@mants;

¢ decreased demand for our product candidatesossdf revenues;

« impairment of our business reputation;

« diversion of management and scientific resoufi@@a our business operations; and
¢ the inability to commercialize our product caratis.

We have obtained limited product liability insurarmverage for our clinical trials in the Uniteét®s and in selected other
jurisdictions where we are conducting clinical IsidDur product liability insurance coverage fanidal trials in the United
States is currently limited to an aggregate of #illlon and outside of the United States we haweecage for lesser amounts
that vary by country. As such, our insurance cayemay not reimburse us or may not be sufficiemetmburse us for any
expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insereonerage is becoming increasingly expensive, iartie future, we may
not be able to maintain insurance coverage atsonedle cost or in sufficient amounts to protechgainst losses due to
product liability. We intend to expand our insurarmoverage for products to include the sale of ceraial products if we
obtain marketing approval for our product candidatedevelopment, but we may be unable to obtamnsercially reasonable
product liability insurance for any products apgdvor marketing. Large judgments have been awardeldss action lawsuits
based on drugs that had unanticipated side effdécaccessful product liability claim or seriesotdims brought against us,
particularly if judgments exceed our insurance cage, could decrease our cash resources and dghegffeet our business.

Our insurance policies are expensive and only pitas from some business risks, which will leaveaxposed to significant
uninsured liabilities.

We do not carry insurance for all categories d&f tigt our business may encounter. Some of theipslive currently
maintain include general liability, employment giees liability, property, auto, workers’ compernisat products liability and
directors’ and officers’ insurance. We do not knimyvever, if we will be able to maintain insurandiéh adequate levels of
coverage. Any significant uninsured liability maquire us to pay substantial amounts, which wodleeesely affect our
financial position and results of operations. Ferthore, our significant increase in stock price @medeased volatility may
result in us being required to pay substantialghkr premiums for our directors’ and officers’ ireuce than those to which we
are currently subject, and may even lead a largebeu of underwriters to be unwilling to cover us.
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If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization oufiness combination, we will incur a variety of kis that could adversely
affect our business operations or our stockholders.

From time to time we have considered, and we wilitmue to consider in the future, strategic bussnaitiatives intended
to further the expansion and development of ouimiess. These initiatives may include acquiring besses, technologies or
products or entering into a business combinatidgh amother company. If we pursue such a strategycauld, among other
things:

* issue equity securities that would dilute ourent stockholders’ percentage ownership;
* incur substantial debt that may place strainswnoperations;

¢ spend substantial operational, financial and rgameent resources to integrate new businesses dlegies and
products;

¢ assume substantial actual or contingent liabgiti
*  reprioritize our development programs and evessealevelopment and commercialization of our prodaedidates; or

* merge with, or otherwise enter into a businesshination with, another company in which our stadklers would
receive cash and/or shares of the other compatgroms that certain of our stockholders may not ddesirable.

Although we intend to evaluate and consider actjoiis, reorganizations and business combinatiotiseriuture, we have
no agreements or understandings with respect t@eamyisition, reorganization or business combimagibthis time.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirgernal computer systems, and those of our C&@sother third
parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to danfeg® computer viruses, unauthorized access, nadisasters, terrorism, war
and telecommunication and electrical failuresutffsan event were to occur and cause interrupiioosr operations, it could
result in a material disruption of our drug devehgmt programs. For example, the loss of clinidal ttata from completed or
ongoing or planned clinical trials could resuldielays in our regulatory approval efforts and digantly increase our costs to
recover or reproduce the data. To the extent tatésruption or security breach were to resubt ioss of or damage to our
data or applications, or inappropriate disclosdreonfidential or proprietary information, we coufttur liability and the
further development of our product candidates cbeldelayed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to protect our proprieta rights, and we may not be able to ensure thaiotection. If our patent
position does not adequately protect our produchdalates, others could compete against us moredatiye which would
harm our business, possibly materially.

Our commercial success will depend in part on abigiand maintaining patent protection and traadeetgrotection of our
current and future product candidates and the mdetheed to manufacture them, as well as successkfitnding these patents
against third-party challenges. Our ability to stiojpd parties from making, using, selling, offegito sell or importing our
product candidates is dependent upon the extemhitth we have rights under valid and enforceabternga or trade secrets that
cover these activities.

The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmiézaicompanies can be highly uncertain and invalaplex legal and
factual questions for which important legal pridegremain unresolved. No consistent policy regaydhe breadth of claims
allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emergedt®idahe United States or in many jurisdictionssale of the United States.
Changes in either the patent laws or interpretatafrpatent laws in the United States and othenttms may diminish the
value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, wannot predict the breadth of claims that mayrifereed in the patents that
may be issued from the applications we currentlsnay in the future own or license from third pastiEurther, if any patents
we obtain or license are deemed invalid and uneaédle, our ability to commercialize or license tahnology could be
adversely affected.
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Others have filed, and in the future are likelyi®, patent applications covering products andhtedogies that are similar,
identical or competitive to ours or important ta business. We cannot be certain that any pateatication owned by a third
party will not have priority over patent applicatgfiled or in-licensed by us, or that we or ogetisors will not be involved in
interference, opposition or invalidity proceedirmggore U.S. or non-U.S. patent offices.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afforg lamited protection and
may not adequately protect our rights or permiiougain or keep our competitive advantage. For giam

« others may be able to develop a platform simidaor better than, ours in a way that is not cesddyy the claims of our
patents;

« others may be able to make compounds that aliasitm our product candidates but that are noeced by the claims
of our patents;

« we might not have been the first to make thernitio@s covered by our pending patent applications;

* we might not have been the first to file patgoplecations for these inventions;

« others may independently develop similar or akiéve technologies or duplicate any of our tecbgias;
* any patents that we obtain may not provide ub atity competitive advantages;

« we may not develop additional proprietary techgas that are patentable; or

« the patents of others may have an adverse effectr business.

As of February 28, 2014, we were the owner of adrover 85 issued or granted U.S. and non-U.@npsrelating to
OCA with claims directed to pharmaceutical compaymharmaceutical compositions, methods of makiege compounds,
and methods of using these compounds in variousdtidns. We were also the owner at that date @inceof 11 pending U.S.
and non-U.S. patent applications relating to OChase areas.

In addition, as of February 28, 2014, we were thaar of record of issued or granted U.S. and nd®-Patents relating to
our product candidates other than OCA, with cladtinscted to pharmaceutical compounds, pharmacégticapositions,
methods of making these compounds and methodsngf tleese compounds in various indications. We vaése the owner of
record of pending U.S. and non-U.S. patent apjtinatrelating to such other product candidatebésé areas.

Patents covering the composition of matter of O@pire in 2022 if the appropriate maintenance refgarauity, or other
government fees are paid. We expect that the pitents and patent applications, if issued, ifQ@& portfolio, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or ggbgernmental fees are paid, would expire from 2022033. We expect the
issued INT-767 composition of matter patent inlthéted States, if the appropriate maintenance wahennuity or other
governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2029. Weet the other patents and patent applicationssifed, in the INT-767
portfolio, and if the appropriate maintenance, vealeannuity or other governmental fees are paigxpire from 2027 to 2033.
We expect the issued INT-777 composition of maitgent in the United States, if the appropriatenteaiance, renewal,
annuity or other governmental fees are paid, tarexp 2030. We expect the other patents and patgpitcations, if issued, in
the INT-777 portfolio, and if the appropriate maimance, renewal, annuity or other governmentaldemgaid, to expire from
2028 to 2029.

Without patent protection on the composition of texadf our product candidates, our ability to asear patents to stop
others from using or selling our product candidates non-pharmaceutically acceptable formulatiay e limited.

Due to the patent laws of a country, or the depsiaf a patent examiner in a country, or our owndistrategies, we may
not obtain patent coverage for all of our prodwididates or methods involving these candidatéseiparent patent
application. We plan to pursue divisional patergli@ations or continuation
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patent applications in the United States and atbantries to obtain claim coverage for inventiorisalt were disclosed but not
claimed in the parent patent application.

If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxmact and similar legislation outside of the Unitestates by extending
the patent terms and obtaining data exclusivity four product candidates, our business may be matiéyiharmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and speciffcB@A marketing approval of OCA and our other prodcandidates, if
any, one or more of our U.S. patents may be ebditn limited patent term restoration under the diuice Competition and
Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred tthasHatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act permifatent
restoration term of up to five years as compensdtio patent term lost during product developmertt he FDA regulatory
review process. However, we may not be grantedeamsion because of, for example, failing to appithin applicable
deadlines, failing to apply prior to expirationrefevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfplagable requirements.
Moreover, the applicable time period or the scopgadént protection afforded could be less thanegeest. If we are unable to
obtain patent term extension or restoration otéhe of any such extension is less than we reqtlesperiod during which we
will have the right to exclusively market our pratiwill be shortened and our competitors may obégiproval of competing
products following our patent expiration, and oewenue could be reduced, possibly materially. énebent that we are unable
to obtain any patent term extensions, the issuatposition of matter patents for OCA are expecteejire in 2022 assuming
they withstand any challenge. We expect that thergbatents and patent applications for the OCAga, if issued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or ggbgernmental fees are paid, would expire from 2022033.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litiigen or other proceedings relating to patent anchet intellectual property
rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop another padynfusing the inventions claimed in any patentobin, that individual
or company has the right to ask the court to e $uch patents are invalid or should not be eatbagainst that third party.
These lawsuits are expensive and would consumeaideesources and divert the attention of manalgand scientific
personnel even if we were successful in stoppiegrtfringement of such patents. In addition, there risk that the court will
decide that such patents are not valid and thatomeot have the right to stop the other party fu@img the inventions. There is
also the risk that, even if the validity of suchiguds is upheld, the court will refuse to stopdkiger party on the ground that
such other party’s activities do not infringe oights to such patents. In addition, the U.S. Supr@uurt has recently modified
some tests used by the U.S. Patent and Tradem#éde Qfr USPTO, in granting patents over the p@sgears, which may
decrease the likelihood that we will be able tcaobpatents and increase the likelihood of chabenfgany patents we obtain or
license.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights others, which may prevent or delay our product deyenent efforts and
stop us from commercializing or increase the costcommercializing our product candidates.

Our success will depend in part on our ability pem@te without infringing the proprietary rightstbird parties. We cannot
guarantee that our products, or manufacture oofisar product candidates, will not infringe thipdsrty patents. Furthermore, a
third party may claim that we or our manufacturargcommercialization collaborators are using inigrg covered by the third
party’s patent rights and may go to court to stefiram engaging in our normal operations and a@&# including making or
selling our product candidates. These lawsuitsasdly and could affect our results of operationd divert the attention of
managerial and scientific personnel. There iskathat a court would decide that we or our comnadiation collaborators are
infringing the third party’s patents and would ards or our collaborators to stop the activitiegezed by the patents. In that
event, we or our commercialization collaboratory mat have a viable way around the patent and read o halt
commercialization of the relevant product. In aiddit there is a risk that a court will order usoar collaborators to pay the
other party damages for having violated the otlagtyfs patents. In the future, we may agree tonmeiéy our commercial
collaborators against certain intellectual propérfsingement claims brought by third parties. The
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pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries haveyred a proliferation of patents, and it is netagls clear to industry
participants, including us, which patents coverows types of products or methods of use. The emesof patents is subject to
interpretation by the courts, and the interpretaisonot always uniform.

If we are sued for patent infringement, we woulddhéo demonstrate that our products or methodsreith not infringe the
patent claims of the relevant patent or that therieclaims are invalid, and we may not be abléatthis. Proving invalidity is
difficult. For example, in the United States, prayinvalidity requires a showing of clear and corig evidence to overcome
the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued ptteBven if we are successful in these proceedimgsnay incur substantial
costs and divert management’s time and attentiguuiauing these proceedings, which could have anmhtdverse effect on
us. If we are unable to avoid infringing the pateéglits of others, we may be required to seekembe, which may not be
available, defend an infringement action or chgéethe validity of the patents in court. Patermgdition is costly and time
consuming. We may not have sufficient resourcdsitg these actions to a successful conclusioadtition, if we fail to
obtain a license, develop or obtain non-infringieghnology or defend an infringement action sudaéigsor have infringed
patents declared invalid, we may incur substanmi@hetary damages, encounter significant delaysimging our product
candidates to market and be precluded from manufagtor selling our product candidates.

We cannot be certain that others have not filedrgatpplications for technology covered by our fremdpplications, or
that we were the first to invent the technologycéiese:

* some patent applications in the United States lbeagaintained in secrecy until the patents areiss
« patent applications in the United States arecsipyi not published until 18 months after the ptiodate; and
« publications in the scientific literature ofteaglbehind actual discoveries.

Our competitors may have filed, and may in therifile, patent applications covering technologpikir to ours. Any such
patent application may have priority over our patgplications, which could further require us htain rights to issued patents
covering such technologies. If another party haslfa U.S. patent application on inventions sintitaours, we may have to
participate in an interference proceeding declagethe USPTO to determine priority of inventiortlie United States. The
costs of these proceedings could be substantidlit & possible that such efforts would be unsesfié if, unbeknownst to us,
the other party had independently arrived at timeesar similar invention prior to our own inventioesulting in a loss of our
U.S. patent position with respect to such invergiddther countries have similar laws that perndtesgy of patent applications,
and may be entitled to priority over our applicaion such jurisdictions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustaicdises of complex patent litigation more effectivéign we can because
they have substantially greater resources. In iadgliany uncertainties resulting from the initiatiand continuation of any
litigation could have a material adverse effecbanability to raise the funds necessary to cortiour operations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurheobmission, fee
payment and other requirements imposed by governtakpatent agencies, and our patent protection abible reduced or
eliminated for non-compliance with these requirentsn

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annwty dad various other governmental fees on patadfsreapplications will
be due to be paid to the USPTO and various govartahpatent agencies outside of the United Statesveral stages over the
lifetime of the patents and/or applications. Weehaystems in place to remind us to pay these &eswe employ an outside
firm and rely on our outside counsel to pay thess fdue to non-U.S. patent agencies. The USPT®aaiwdis non-U.S.
governmental patent agencies require compliandeawtumber of procedural, documentary, fee paymedtother similar
provisions during the patent application process.aMploy reputable law firms and other profess®t@help us comply, and
in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be curpdyygent of a late fee or by other means in acomelaith the applicable
rules. However, there are situations in which nomgiiance can result in abandonment or lapse op#tent or patent
application, resulting in partial or complete legatent rights
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in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the marketthisdcircumstance would have
a material adverse effect on our business.

We may be subject to claims that our employees harangfully used or disclosed alleged trade secwtsheir former
employers. If we are not able to adequately prewvaistlosure of trade secrets and other proprietémfjormation, the value of
our technology and products could be significantlyminished.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceluticstries, we employ individuals who were prexsty employed at
other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companiedyding our competitors or potential competitorse YWay be subject to
claims that these employees, or we, have inadwgrtenotherwise used or disclosed trade secretghar proprietary
information of their former employers. Litigationaybe necessary to defend against these claims.iEwe are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation couklhein substantial costs and be a distractiondoagement.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietaeinologies, especially where we do not belieatenqt protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secretslifficult to protect. We rely in part on confittéality agreements with our
employees, consultants, outside scientific collatwys, sponsored researchers and other advispretert our trade secrets and
other proprietary information. These agreements nweffectively prevent disclosure of confidenti#brmation and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of unatitbdisclosure of confidential information. In #dzh, others may
independently discover our trade secrets and ptapyi information. For example, the FDA, as pait®fransparency
Initiative, is currently considering whether to needditional information publicly available on aitime basis, including
information that we may consider to be trade seaebther proprietary information, and it is ntgar at the present time how
the FDA's disclosure policies may change in therey if at all. Enforcing a claim that a third paiftegally obtained and is
using any of our trade secrets is expensive angl ¢mmsuming, and the outcome is unpredictableddiitian, courts outside the
United States are sometimes less willing to prdtacte secrets. Moreover, our competitors may inuiépetly develop
equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. Casily time-consuming litigation could be necessammiorce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, fafidre to obtain or maintain trade secret protectould adversely affect our
competitive business position.

We have not yet registered our trademarks and fa@luo secure those registrations could adverselgetfiour business.

If we seek to register any of our trademarks, castedmark applications may not be allowed for regiiin or our registered
trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. [Quremdemark registration proceedings, we may recedjections. Although
we are given an opportunity to respond to thosectigins, we may be unable to overcome such rejectia addition, in the
USPTO and in comparable agencies in many othesdigtions, third parties are given an opporturgtpppose pending
trademark applications and to seek to cancel mgidttrademarks. Opposition or cancellation proogsdnay be filed against
our trademarks, and our trademarks may not susteh proceedings. If we do not secure registrafionsur trademarks, we
may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them imgathird parties than we otherwise would.

In addition, we have not yet proposed a proprieteaye for any of our product candidates, includ@pA, in any
jurisdiction. Any proprietary name we propose te usth OCA in the United States must be approvethbyFDA, regardless
of whether we have registered it, or applied tastegit, as a trademark. The FDA typically condugtreview of proposed
product names, including an evaluation of poterfitimtonfusion with other product names. If the FBijects to any of our
proposed proprietary product names, we may be nedjtp expend significant additional resourcesiirefiort to identify a
suitable proprietary product name that would qyalifider applicable trademark laws, not infringeeRisting rights of third
parties and be acceptable to the FDA.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

An active trading market in our common stock maytrige maintained.

The trading market in our common stock has beemeedly volatile. The quotation of our common stockThe NASDAQ
Global Select Market does not assure that a meanjrgginsistent and liquid trading
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market will exist. We cannot predict whether anvaectnarket for our common stock will be maintairiedhe future. An
absence of an active trading market could adveedfédgt our stockholders’ ability to sell our commstock at current market
prices in short time periods, or possibly at atidiionally, market visibility for our common stockay be limited and such
lack of visibility may have a depressive effecttba market price for our common stock. As of Febr 8, 2014,
approximately 41.6% of our outstanding shares afroon stock was held by our officers, directors,dfieial owners of 5% or
more of our securities (other than Visium Asset Mgmaent, LP, FMR LLC and SAC Capital Advisors LP #meir respective
affiliates) and their respective affiliates, whiativersely affects the liquidity of the trading metrfor our common stock, in as
much as federal securities laws restrict salesintbares by these stockholders. If our affili@@stinue to hold their shares of
common stock, there will be limited trading volumeour common stock, which may make it more diffi¢ar investors to sell
their shares or increase the volatility of our ktpdce.

We are currently subject to securities class actlitigation and may be subject to similar or othdtigation in the future,
which may divert management’s attention.

At least two class action lawsuits have been fillbelging, among other things, that we and certawuo officers violated
federal securities laws by making allegedly matenigrepresentations and/or omissions of mateasietl fegarding the lipid
effects of OCA observed in NASH patients in our@mcement of the early termination of the FLINBkbased on a pre-
defined interim efficacy analysis in January 20lHe plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damagesatralf of the putative
class and an award of costs and expenses, inclattiomey’s fees.

While we believe we have meritorious defenses, avmot predict the outcome of these lawsuits. Threag be additional
suits or proceedings brought in the future. Monitgrand defending against legal actions, whetheobmeritorious, is time-
consuming for our management and detracts fronability fully to focus our internal resources orr tusiness activities, and
we cannot predict how long it may take to resohese matters. In addition, we may incur substalgtigll fees and costs in
connection with litigation. Although we have insuce, coverage could be denied or prove to be iicgerit. We are not
currently able to estimate the possible cost tivara these lawsuits, as they are currently at aly stage, and we cannot be
certain how long it may take to resolve these laigsar the possible amount of any damages that axele required to pay.
We have not established any reserves for any patdiability relating to these lawsuits. It is ikle that we could, in the
future, incur judgment or enter into settlementlafms for monetary damages. A decision adverseitanterests on either of
these lawsuits could result in the payment of satii&l damages and could have a material adveieset eh our business,
results of operations and financial condition. didi&ion, the uncertainty of the currently pendiag/$uits could lead to more
volatility in our stock price.

Our stock price has been and may in the future tmatile, which could cause purchasers of our commstock to incur
substantial losses.

The trading price of our stock price has been,iatilely to continue to be, highly volatile andutd be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, somehich are beyond our control. Since our initiabfic offering which
occurred in October 2012, the price of our commonkson The NASDAQ Global Select Market has rangethf$17.96 per
share to $497.00 per share. In addition to therdtators discussed in this “Risk Factors” sectibthis Annual Report on
Form 10-K, these factors include:

¢ adverse results or delays in our clinical trials;
« inability to obtain additional funding;

¢ any delay in filing an IND, NDA, MAA or comparabsibmission for any of our product candidates andealverse
development or perceived adverse development withact to the regulatory review of such submission;

« failure to successfully develop and commercial@A and any of our other product candidates;
« failure to maintain our existing strategic alkk@s or enter into new alliances;

« inability to obtain adequate product supply faZ®and our future product candidates or the inghiib do so at
acceptable prices;
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results of clinical trials of our competitors'quiucts;

« regulatory actions with respect to our productewr competitors’ products;

« changes in laws or regulations applicable tofoture products;

« failure to meet or exceed financial projectioresway provide to the public;

« failure to meet or exceed the estimates and gtiojes of the investment community;

¢ actual or anticipated fluctuations in our finaaondition and operating results;

« actual or anticipated changes in our growth rel@ive to our competitors;

¢ actual or anticipated fluctuations in our comjpes’ operating results or changes in their groratie;
« competition from existing products or new produttat may emerge;

* announcements by us, our collaborators or ourpetiters of significant acquisitions, strategiclabbrations, joint
ventures, collaborations or capital commitments;

¢ issuance of new or updated research or reporsetyrities analysts;

e fluctuations in the valuation of companies perediby investors to be comparable to us;

¢ share price and volume fluctuations attributablanconsistent trading volume levels of our shares
« additions or departures of key management onsfiiepersonnel;

« disputes or other developments related to pragsieights, including patents, litigation mattersd our ability to obtain
patent protection for our technologies;

« announcement or expectation of additional finag@fforts;
¢ significant lawsuits, including patent or stoclder litigation, involving us;
¢ sales of our common stock by us, our insidersunrother stockholders;

« failure to adopt appropriate information secusystems, including any systems that may be redjgirsupport our
growing and changing business requirements;

« market conditions for biopharmaceutical stockgemeral; and
¢ general economic, industry and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets in general and et for biotechnology companies in particulardaxperienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that havecéfd and continue to affect the market pricegjaftg securities of many
companies. These fluctuations often have beenateckbr disproportionate to the operating perforreasf those companies.
These broad market and industry fluctuations, dsagegeneral economic, political and market cdodg such as recessions,
interest rate changes or international currenagtdiations may negatively impact the market pricstafres of our common
stock, regardless of our actual operating perfooealn the past, companies that have experiendatilitg in the market price
of their stock have been subject to securitiesscasion litigation. We are currently subject tasd action securities lawsuits
and may be the target of this type of litigatiorttie future, which could result in substantial sastd divert our management'’s
attention from other business concerns, which ceeatibusly harm our business. As a result of tblatiity, our stockholders
could incur substantial losses.

In addition, our financial results may vary dudltatuations in our warrant liability. Because @ammon stock is publicly
traded, fluctuations in our warrant liability angoected to increase or decrease significantly basethanges in the price of our
common stock. If our operating results do not nileetexpectations of securities analysts and invesi® a result of these or
other factors, the trading price of our common lswwil likely decrease.
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We have a significant stockholder, which will limyiour ability to influence corporate matters and maye rise to conflicts
of interest.

Genextra S.p.A., together with its affiliates, wham refer to collectively as Genextra, is our latggtockholder. As of
February 28, 2014, Genextra owned 5,938,890 slofims common stock and warrants to purchase aitienial 865,381
shares of our common stock. The shares of comnoek sivned by Genextra represented approximate$28@f our
outstanding common stock as of February 28, 20t4olingly, Genextra exerts and will continue teresignificant
influence over us and any action requiring the apalrof the holders of our common stock, includihg election of directors
and amendments to our organizational documenth, asincreases in our authorized shares of cominck and approval of
significant corporate transactions. This conceiumadf voting power makes it less likely that ariiier holder of common stock
or directors of our business will be able to affdyet way we are managed and could delay or prareatquisition of us on
terms that other stockholders may desire.

In addition, if Genextra obtains a majority of @ammon stock, Genextra would be able to contranalters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, as well as our manant and affairs. For example, Genextra woulddbe @ control the
election of directors, amendments to our orgaronati documents and approval of any merger, coretwia, sale of all or
substantially all of our assets or other businesstination or reorganization. In addition, if Getrexobtains a majority of our
common stock, we would be deemed a “controlled @mpwithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Listing Rulésnder the
NASDAQ Listing Rules, a company of which more tf#% of the voting power is held by another persogroup of persons
acting together is a “controlled company” and miggenot to comply with certain NASDAQ Listing Rsleegarding corporate
governance, including: (i) the requirement thatagarity of our board of directors consist of indedent directors, (ii) the
requirement that the compensation of our officersiétermined or recommended to the board by a amsagien committee
that is composed entirely of independent directamsl, (iii) the requirement that director nomineessblected or recommended
to the board by a majority of independent directora nominating committee that is composed egtwéindependent
directors.

Furthermore, the interests of Genextra may notysweaincide with your interests or the intereststbier stockholders, and
Genextra may act in a manner that advances itdriieststs and not necessarily those of other btaldkrs, including seeking a
premium value for its common stock, and might aftbe prevailing market price for our common std®kir board of directors,
which consists of nine directors, including twallatfed with Genextra, has the power to set the memof directors on our
board from time to time.

We are an “emerging growth company” and the reduagidclosure requirements applicable to emerging gtbwompanies,
could make our common stock less attractive to stees.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definethénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201hedOBS Act,
and we have and intend to continue to take advardgagertain exemptions from various reporting regfaents that are
applicable to other public companies that are ratérging growth companies” including not being isggito comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 40dflihe Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure abbgs regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyestents, and exemptions from the requirements dfifgla nonbinding
advisory vote on executive compensation and shitehapproval of any golden parachute paymentpreatiously approved.
We cannot predict if investors will find our commstock less attractive because we have and mainoertb rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stesk attractive as a result, there may be a tgsedrading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more Velalle may take advantage of these reporting eXxengpuntil we are no
longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remaim“emerging growth company” until the earlies{bfthe last day of
the fiscal year in which we have total annual gresgnues of $1 billion or more; (2) December 31172 (3) the date on which
we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconviertilebt during the previous three years; or (4)dée on which we are
deemed to be a large accelerated filer under tles of the Securities and Exchange Commission basd¢ke market value of
our common stock held by non-affiliates. If the k&drvalue of our common stock that is held by nffiictes continues to
exceed $700 million as of June 30, 2014, we would
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cease to be an emerging growth company as of Dearedib 2014 and would need to comply with the negments of Section
404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not pet/or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requirethenthe Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls pmdtedures are
designed to reasonably assure that informationinedito be disclosed by us in reports we file dyrsit under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to managementrded, processed, summarized and reported witaitime periods
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Wéebelthat any disclosure controls and proceduréstemal controls and
procedures, no matter how well conceived and opératan provide only reasonable, not absoluterasse that the objectives
of the control system are met.

These inherent limitations include the realitiest flidgments in decision-making can be faulty drad breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additignaontrols can be circumvented by the individaats of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by an unauthedipverride of the controls. Accordingly, becaukthe inherent limitations
in our control system, misstatements or insuffit@iaclosure due to error or fraud may occur artchecdetected.

You may experience future dilution as a result aftéire equity offerings.

In the future, we may offer additional shares af cammon stock or other securities convertible mtexchangeable for
our common stock in order to raise additional Gpive cannot assure you that we will be able licsbares or other securities
in any other offering at a price per share thaijsal to or greater than the price per share yaufpaour shares. Investors
purchasing shares or other securities in the futatgd have rights, preferences or privileges geithose of existing
stockholders and you may experience dilution. Yay mcur additional dilution upon the exercise oy @utstanding stock
options or warrants or vesting of restricted stogks.

If securities or industry analysts cease publishingsearch or reports about us, our business or ouarket, or if they publish
inaccurate or unfavorable reports about our stodkge price of our stock and trading volume could diee.

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that securitisglostry analysts
publish about our company. We do not have any obaotrer these analysts, and there can be no assutiaat analysts will
continue to cover us or provide favorable coverdigene or more of the analysts who cover us dowdgrour common stock or
publish inaccurate or unfavorable research aboubuosiness, our stock price would likely declirffeorie or more of the
analysts covering us fail to regularly publish mp@n us, demand for our common stock could declirhich could cause our
stock price and trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our restated certifi@bf incorporation and our restated by-laws, as g provisions of
Delaware law, might discourage, delay or prevertta@nge in control of our company or changes in ooranagement and,
therefore, depress the trading price of our commstock.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorpim@and restated by-laws, as well as provisionBelfware law, contain
provisions that may discourage, delay or preveneeger, acquisition or other change in control gtatkholders may consider
favorable, including transactions in which you ntigtherwise receive a premium for your shares ofoommmon stock. These
provisions may also prevent or frustrate attempteur stockholders to replace or remove our managén®ur corporate
governance documents include provisions:

e authorizing the issuance of “blank check” conidetpreferred stock, the terms of which may balg&hed and shares
of which may be issued without stockholder apprpval

« prohibiting stockholder action by written consehereby requiring all stockholder actions to deeh at a meeting of
our stockholders, to the extent that no stockholidgiether with its affiliates, holds more than 56#ur voting stock;
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¢ eliminating the ability of stockholders to calspecial meeting of stockholders;

¢ permitting our board of directors to acceleraie testing of outstanding equity awards upon gettansactions that
result in a change of control; and

¢ establishing advance notice requirements for nations for election to the board of directorsargroposing matters
that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we areestilip provisions of Delaware law, including Sect®93 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, or DGCL, which preventsisstockholders holding more than 15% of our ontitey common
stock from engaging in certain business combinatieithout approval of the holders of substantiallyof our outstanding
common stock. Any provision of our restated cedife of incorporation or restated by-laws or Del@taw that has the effect
of delaying or deterring a change in control cdirtdt the opportunity for our stockholders to reaea premium for their shares
of our common stock, and could also affect theeptiiat some investors are willing to pay for oumamon stock.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and &keover measures may also frustrate or prevena@espts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current mamagit or members of our board of directors anddclmit the price that
investors might be willing to pay in the future frares of our common stock. They could also getEmtial acquirers of our
company, thereby reducing the likelihood that yould receive a premium for your common stock iraequisition.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and dffers may reduce our available funds to satisfy sessful stockholder
claims against us and may reduce the amount of mpagailable to us.

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL, cestated certificate of incorporation limits thability of our directors
to the fullest extent permitted by law. In additias permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, ouratest certificate of
incorporation and restated bylaws provide that &l sndemnify, to the fullest extent authorizedthg DGCL, each person
who is involved in any litigation or other proceeglibecause such person is or was a director @eoffif our company or is or
was serving as an officer or director of anotheitgat our request, against all expense, losgbility reasonably incurred or
suffered in connection therewith. Our restatedifteate of incorporation provides that the rightitalemnification includes the
right to be paid expenses incurred in defendingmogeeding in advance of its final dispositiorgyided, however, that such
advance payment will only be made upon deliverys@f an undertaking, by or on behalf of the dear officer, to repay all
amounts so advanced if it is ultimately determitreat such director is not entitled to indemnificatiIf we do not pay a proper
claim for indemnification in full within 60 daystaf we receive a written claim for such indemnifica, except in the case of a
claim for an advancement of expenses, in which sask period is 20 days, our restated certifichteanrporation and our
restated bylaws authorize the claimant to bringetion against us and prescribe what constitutefense to such action.

Section 145 of the DGCL permits a corporation tteimnify any director or officer of the corporatiagainst expenses
(including attorney’s fees), judgments, fines ambants paid in settlement actually and reasonatayrred in connection with
any action, suit or proceeding brought by reasahefact that such person is or was a directaffazer of the corporation, if
such person acted in good faith and in a mannéhtheeasonably believed to be in, or not opposethé best interests of the
corporation, and, with respect to any criminal@ttr proceeding, if he or she had no reason ie@his or her conduct was
unlawful. In a derivative action (i.e., one broudlgtor on behalf of the corporation), indemnificatimay be provided only for
expenses actually and reasonably incurred by aeygtdr or officer in connection with the defensesettlement of such an
action or suit if such person acted in good faitd Bn a manner that he or she reasonably believbd tn, or not opposed to,
the best interests of the corporation, exceptribahdemnification shall be provided if such persball have been adjudged to
be liable to the corporation, unless and only ®ektent that the court in which the action or wuis brought shall determine
that the defendant is fairly and reasonably ewtitteindemnity for such expenses despite such adjtidn of liability.
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The rights conferred in the restated certificatenobrporation and the restated bylaws are notuskat, and we are
authorized to enter into indemnification agreemevitk our directors, officers, employees and agantsto obtain insurance to
indemnify such persons. We have entered into indfesation agreements with each of our officers aiéctors.

The above limitations on liability and our indenicétion obligations limit the personal liability ofir directors and officers
for monetary damages for breach of their fiducduyy as directors by shifting the burden of sudsés and expenses to us.
Although we have increased the coverage undericectdrs’ and officers’ liability insurance, centdiabilities or expenses
covered by our indemnification obligations may betcovered by such insurance or the coverage tiotamounts may be
exceeded. As a result, we may need to use a signffamount of our funds to satisfy our indemntfaa obligations, which
could severely harm our business and financial iti@ndand limit the funds available to stockholderiso may choose to bring
a claim against our company.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain other tax attributes may be lindte

As of December 31, 2013, we had net operatingdasyforwards, or NOLs, for federal income tax mses of $108.2
million, which expire from 2024 through 2032. Otnildy to utilize our NOLs may be limited under Sen 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the IntemadriRie Code. The limitations apply if an “ownersttiange,” as defined
by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, oc&eserally, an ownership change occurs when cestareholders increase
their aggregate ownership by more than 50 percergamts over their lowest ownership percentagetesting period
(typically three years). We have assessed whetieeoomore ownership changes as defined undero®e&82 of the Internal
Revenue Code have occurred since our inceptiomawel determined that there have been at leastuglochanges.
Accordingly, although we believe that these ownigrshanges have not resulted in material limitagion our ability to use
these NOLs, our ability to utilize the aforemengdrcarryforwards may be limited due to other reas@nditionally, U.S. tax
laws limit the time during which these carryfornsurday be utilized against future taxes. As a restmay not be able to take
full advantage of these carryforwards for federal atate tax purposes. Future changes in stockrshipenay also trigger an
ownership change and, consequently, a Sectioni@®&2tion.

Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Iltem 2.Properties

Our corporate headquarters and clinical developmpeatations are located in New York, New York aad ®iego,
California, where we lease and occupy approximéatély24 and 15,678 square feet of space, respctive
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In October 2013, we entered in a lease agreeméigwn York City for our new corporate headquartprsyiding 11,124
square feet of space. We also have a pre-negotiatathitment to take an additional 9,502 squareife8eptember 2014,
although we may in our sole discretion opt nottetthe additional space by providing written reti our landlord on or
before April 30, 2014 and paying a termination déep to approximately $171,000. The lease forNew York office will
expire in July 2024.

In March 2013, we entered into an amendment toethgel for our San Diego office, which, among othigts, added
approximately 5,100 square feet of space and etktite term of the existing lease. During Noven#dr3, we entered into a
second amendment to the lease for our San Diegepffhich added approximately 3,069 square fespate. As a result of
these amendments, we lease an aggregate of 1g6ageet of space in San Diego. The lease foSaarDiego office, as
amended, will expire in December 2015.

Iltem 3.Legal Proceedings
See Item 1. “Business — Legal Proceedings” of Amesual Report on Form 10-K
Iltem 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Gldbatket on October 11, 2012 under the symbol “ICHPIor to
that time, there was no public market for our comrmstock. Shares sold in our initial public offeriog October 10, 2012 were
priced at $15.00 per share. As a result, the faligwiable sets forth, for the quarterly periodsi¢ated, the high and low sales
prices per share of our common stock as reportedeNASDAQ Global Select Market for each quartethimyears ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 High Low
Fourth quarter (beginning October 11, 2012) $ 77.5: $ 17.9¢
Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low
First Quarter $ 4267 $ 33.4¢
Second Quarter 45.0C 30.3¢
Third Quarter 72.6¢ 42.41
Fourth Quarter 77.5¢ 46.81
Stockholders

As of February 28, 2014, there were 26 stockholdérscord, which excludes stockholders whose shaere held in
nominee or street name by brokers.

Performance Graph

The following graph illustrates a comparison of thial cumulative stockholder return for our comnstock from October
11, 2012 through December 31, 2013 to two inditesNASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotedogy Index.
The graph assumes an initial investment of $100@ctober 10, 2012 in our common stock, the stockspeising the
NASDAQ Composite Index, and the stocks comprisirgNASDAQ Biotechnology Index and it assumes tirevestment of
dividends, if any. Historical stockholder returmist necessarily indicative of the performancedaekpected for any future
periods.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return*
Among Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NASDAQ ©mposite Index and
the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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The performance graph shall not be deemed to lmepocated by reference by means of any generastatt incorporating
by reference this Form 10-K into any filing undee Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Secaitat, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchangee&cgpt to the extent that we specifically incorp@such information by
reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed diteldr such acts.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividenasiocommon stock, and we do not anticipate pagimgcash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseealileduWe intend to retain all available funds ang future earnings to fund
the development and expansion of our business.fémye determination to pay dividends will be & thiscretion of our board
of directors and will depend upon a number of fesstmmcluding our results of operations, financiahdition, future prospects,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed ppl@able law and other factors our board of doextleems relevant.

Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K aedjng equity compensation plans is incorporatadihey reference
to Item 12 of Part Il of this Annual Report.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Set forth below is information regarding securisesd by us during the year ended December 31, &@it3vere not
registered under the Securities Act. Also inclutdetthe consideration, if any, received by us fer $lecurities and information
relating to the section of the Securities Act,deof the Securities and Exchange Commission, uwlih exemption from
registration was claimed.

Between January 1 and December 31, 2013, we issuadgregate of 235,420 shares of common stock exensise of
previously issued and outstanding warrants to @geltommon stock. All such shares, except for 238@8es that were issued
upon the cash exercise of a warrant, were issued the cashless exercise of such warrants. No wnitiers were involved in
the foregoing sales of securities. The securitessdbed above were issued and sold in reliandbeoaxemptions from
registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Se@siAct and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgateder the Securities
Act. Each of the purchasers in these transactigm®sented to us in connection with its purchaaeithvas acquiring the
securities for investment and not for distributaomd that it could bear the risks of the investmEath purchaser received
written disclosures that the securities had nohlvegistered under the Securities Act and thatrasgle must be made pursuant
to a registration statement or an available exemngdtom registration.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our registered equityisées during the period covered by this AnnuapBrt on Form 10-K.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

In October 2012, we completed our initial publifening of 5,750,000 shares of our common stockmiee of $15.00 per
share for aggregate gross proceeds of approxim®&&y8 million. The offer and sale of all of theass in the offering were
registered under the Securities Act pursuant ggsstration statement on Form S-1, which was dedlaffective on October
10, 2012 (File No. 333-183706), and a registrasimtement on Form S-1 filed pursuant to Rule 46&{lthe Securities Act
(File No. 333-184370). Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen8eBmith Incorporated acted as book-running mané&wethe offering and
as representatives of the underwriters. BMO Capltakets, Needham & Company, Wedbush PacGrow Liferides, and
ThinkEquity LLC acted as the co-managers for tHerofg. The offering commenced on October 10, 284@ did not terminate
until the sale of all of the shares offered.

We received aggregate net proceeds from the offefimpproximately $78.7 million, after deductingpeoximately $6.1
million of underwriting discounts and commissioasd approximately $1.5 million of estimated offgriexpenses payable by
us. None of the underwriting discounts and commissr other offering expenses were incurred at fzaour directors or
officers or their associates or to persons ownih@drcent or more of our common stock or to anyusfaffiliates.
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We have invested the net proceeds from the offéniregvariety of capital preservation investmemtsluding money
market funds, U.S. Treasury notes, and high quatigrketable debt instruments of corporations nfona institutions and
government sponsored enterprises. There has bemateoial change in our planned use of the netgads from the offering
as described in our final prospectus filed with $ezurities and Exchange Commission pursuant te &4(b) under the
Securities Act on October 11, 2012. We have brasctetion in the use of the net proceeds from oitiai public offering and
could spend the proceeds in ways that do not ingoav results of operations or enhance the valweiostock.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below isvarifrom our audited consolidated financial statet®i@nd may not be
indicative of future operating results. The follogiselected consolidated financial data shouldebd m conjunction with Item
7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Findn€andition and Results of Operations” and the otidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewhé#rs Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selectedricial data in this
section are not intended to replace our consolitft@ncial statements and the related notes. @torical results are not
necessarily indicative of our future results.

Period From
Years Ended December 31, Sep&i?:;:;:{)zoo
Through
December 31,
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013 (Unaudited)
Statement of Operations Data:
Licensing revenues $ —  $ 1,808 $ 2,44¢ $ 1,62: $ 5,87:
Operating expenses:
Research and development 12,71( 11,42¢ 16,18: 27,94: 99,37¢
General and administrative 3,64+ 4,20¢ 5,177 13,13: 42,73(
Total operating expenses 16,35¢ 15,63¢ 21,36( 41,07 142,10¢
Loss from operations (16,35¢) (13,830 (18,91 (39,45)) (136,23)
Total other income (expense), ne 1,26¢ 1,09: (24,729 (28,34)) (49,749
Net loss $ (15,08) $ (12,73) $ (43.64) $ (67,79) $ (185,979
Dividend on preferred stock, not decle (2,907 (3,000 (2,630 —
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ (17,989 $ (1573) $ (46,27) $ (67,79)
Net loss per share, basic and
diluted $ (5.40 $ 4.77) $ (7.3¢) $ (3.7¢)
Weighted average shares outstanding
basic and diluted 3,329,661 3,329,66! 6,283,231 18,028,73
December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 15,42« $17,707 $110,19¢ $ 144,83.

Total assets 17,11¢ 19,47( 112,17¢ 150,31¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other

liabilities 1,587 1,50¢ 3,74¢ 7,26(
Warrant liability 6,881 5,83¢ 30,35¢ 50,11:
Deferred revenue — 14,60¢ 12,16: 10,54:
Common and preferred stock 31 31 17 19
Additional paid-in capital 70,26¢ 72,13¢ 184,10( 268,30:
Accumulated deficit during development stage (61,807 (74,54( (118,18) (185,976
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 8,31¢ (2,560 65,917 82,40¢
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Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operation

You should read the following discussion and anslgsour financial condition and results of opecais together with our
consolidated financial statements and related nafgsearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fag¥K. In addition to
historical information, this discussion and anatysontains forward-looking statements that invalsks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Our actual results may differ matéritbm those anticipated in these forward-lookstigtements as a result of
certain factors. We discuss factors that we bel@wdd cause or contribute to these differenceswelnd elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those settfamder Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and under “Forwaildooking
Statements” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopment and commercialization of novel therapsub treat
chronic liver and intestinal diseases utilizing puwprietary bile acid chemistry. Our product caladiés have the potential to
treat orphan and more prevalent liver diseasew/figch there currently are limited therapeutic siolos.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, oA a bile acid analog, or a chemical substahaéhtas a structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid. OCA f&st-in-class product candidate that selectivetyds to and induces activity
in the farnesoid X receptor, or FXR, which we badidhas broad liver-protective properties. We arebiping OCA initially
for primary biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, as a secdiné treatment for patients who have an inadeqrestponse to or who are
unable to tolerate standard of care therapy améfitve need additional treatment. PBC is a chraotoimmune liver disease
that, if inadequately treated, may eventually leadirrhosis, liver failure and death. We are cartihg a Phase 3 clinical trial
of OCA in PBC, which we call the POISE trial, theg anticipate will serve as the basis for seekimgfirst regulatory approval
to market OCA in the United States and Europe. F@QSE trial enrolled 217 patients and we curreaflyect top-line results
from the POISE trial to be available in March 20t 4he results of the POISE trial are positive, ex@ect to file for marketing
approval in the United States and Europe at theo€2814. OCA is also currently being evaluated iRhase 2b trial for the
treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, or NABihwn as the FLINT trial, which has been sponsdnethe U.S. National
Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney B&s, or NIDDK, a part of the National Instituté$iealth. In January 2014,
the NIDDK stopped the double-blind treatment phafsthe FLINT trial early following a planned interianalysis showing that
OCA had met the primary efficacy endpoint of thaltbased on a pre-defined interim efficacy créetn addition to PBC and
NASH, we are developing OCA in other patient popatss, including cirrhosis, primary sclerosing cagitis, or PSC, portal
hypertension, alcoholic hepatitis and bile acidntiea and anticipate initiating clinical trials feeveral of these indications
throughout 2014. Furthermore, we plan to comple-enabling studies in INT-767, an earlier stagedpict for which we plan
to initiate a Phase 1 trial in the fourth quartt2@14. OCA has received orphan drug designatidherlUnited States and
Europe for the treatment of PBC and PSC. We owrdmade rights to OCA outside of Japan and Chinagrehwe have
exclusively licensed the compound to Dainippon Somo Pharma, or DSP, and granted it an option ¢tusively license
OCA in certain other Asian countries.

On October 16, 2012, we completed our initial pubfifering in which we sold 5,750,000 shares of own stock at a
public offering price of $15.00 per share and reeginet proceeds of $78.7 million, after underwgtdiscounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by wsnlimber of shares sold in our initial public offgrincludes the exercise
in full by the underwriters of their option to phese an additional 750,000 shares of common stémbn the closing of our
initial public offering, all 7,403,817 outstandisbares of our convertible preferred stock autoraliyiconverted into an
aggregate of 7,403,817 shares of common stock.ilééedn amended and restated certificate of inaatfum on October 16,
2012 to authorize 25,000,000 shares of common stndks,000,000 shares of undesignated preferrel.<tm June 24, 2013,
we completed a follow-on public offering of 1,98906shares of our common stock at a public offeprige of $33.01 per
share. We received aggregate net proceeds frofoltbe-on offering of approximately $61.2 millioafter deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and offeergenses payable by us. The number of sharegnsold June 2013
follow-on public offering includes the exercisefull by the underwriters of their option to purckam additional 259,500
shares of common stock. Our common stock tradéseNASDAQ Global Select Market, or NASDAQ, undeg thading
symbol “ICPT.”
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We have devoted substantially all of our resoutoesur development efforts relating to our prodeandidates, including
conducting clinical trials of our product candidatproviding general and administrative supportli@se operations, protecting
our intellectual property and engaging in pre-comuiaé activities. We do not have any products appdofor sale and have not
generated any revenue from product sales. Frormoeption until December 31, 2013, we have fundedoperations
primarily through the private and public sales mfprred stock, common stock, convertible notesweadants to purchase
common stock and payments received under our ashéibn agreements totaling $247.6 million (neisstiance costs of $14.4
million), including $29.7 million in net proceed®in our Series C financing in August 2012, $78.llioni in net proceeds from
our initial public offering in October 2012 and $8illion in net proceeds from our follow-on pubbffering in June 2013,
and through the receipt of $16.4 million of up-frpayments under our collaborative agreements.

We have incurred net losses in each year sinceoeption in 2002. Our net losses were approxirga&P.7 million,
$43.6 million and $67.8 million for the years end®etcember 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectivelpfAecember 31, 2013,
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $a86illion. Substantially all our net losses resdlfrom costs incurred in
connection with our research and development progi@nd from general and administrative costs astsativith our
operations and from the mark-to-market of our ligbtlassified warrants.

We expect to continue to incur significant experesgs increasing operating losses for at least étxe several years. We
anticipate that our expenses will increase sulistanés we:

« complete the development of our lead product ickate, OCA, for the treatment of PBC, NASH, andeotpotential
patient populations;

* seek to obtain regulatory approvals for OCA fBICR NASH and other potential patient populations;
« outsource the commercial manufacturing of OCAdfioy indications for which we receive regulatorpigyal;

¢ engage in activities relating to the sales, miamgeand distribution of OCA for any indications fwhich we receive
regulatory approval;

¢ continue our research and development efforts @it preclinical development compounds, includNg-767;
¢ maintain, expand and protect our intellectuajperty portfolio;

¢ add operational, financial and management inftionasystems and personnel, including personnglipport our
product development and commercialization effats]

e operate as a public company.

We do not expect to generate revenue from prodiles sinless and until we successfully completeldpugent and obtain
marketing approval for one or more of our prodwtdidates, which we expect will take a number afryend is subject to
significant uncertainty. Accordingly, we anticipdlet we will need to raise additional capital ptio the commercialization of
OCA or any of our other product candidates. Untdrstime, if ever, as we can generate substamti@nue from product sales,
we expect to finance our operating activities tigtoa combination of equity offerings, debt finamggngovernment or other
third-party funding, marketing and distributionargements and other collaborations, strategicakis.and licensing
arrangements. However, we may be unable to ragiéi@uhl funds or enter into such other arrangesiariten needed on
favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raiseita@r enter into such other arrangements as drehweeded would have a
negative impact on our financial condition and ability to develop our product candidates.

The Company has its administrative headquartelkeinm York, New York and an office in San Diego, @ailnia. The
Company has a wholly owned subsidiary in Italy iahécts as the Company'’s legal representative foclaical trials in the
European Union to satisfy European Union regulateguirements.
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We are continuing our early stage TGR5 researcutir our collaboration with Les Laboratories Seraied Institut de
Recherches Servier, or collectively Servier.

Financial Overview
Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue fromsalleeof products. All our revenue has been deffirad our
collaborative agreements for the development anghoercialization of certain of our product candidate March 2011, we
entered into an exclusive licensing agreement @& for the development of OCA in Japan and Chimaler the terms of the
agreement, we received an up-front payment of $flln and may be eligible to receive up to apgpnately $300 million in
additional payments for development, regulatory eomdmercial sales milestones for OCA in Japan amdaC In August 2011,
we entered into a collaboration agreement with i8efer the discovery, research and developmebilefacid-derived
agonists, or substances that bind to receptorslisf &nd trigger responses by those cells, fordécdeed bile acid receptor
called TGR5. Under the terms of the agreement,ageived an up-front payment from Servier of $1.4iom. Servier may be
required to pay us up to an aggregate amount gbajpately €108 million (approximately $148.7 nolti as of December 31,
2013) upon the achievement of specified developpmegtilatory and commercial sale milestones, akagaloyalties on sales,
based on the successful outcome of the collaborafior accounting purposes, the up-front paymenota both transactions are
recorded as deferred revenue and amortized over We recognized $2.4 million and $1.6 millionitehse revenue for the
relevant amortization of the two up-front paymeshtising the years ended December 31, 2012 and 284i3gctively. As the
Servier up-front payment has been fully recognaef the third quarter of 2012, no further revewilebe recognized in
respect of such payments. We anticipate that wieedgbgnize revenue of approximately $1.6 millier gear through 2020,
the expected end of the development period, foathertization of the up-front payment from DSP. W not receive any
milestone payments during 2012 or 2013 relatetigse agreements. In January 2014, the NIDDK stotipedouble-blind
treatment phase of the FLINT trial in NASH patieagsly following a planned interim analysis showthgt OCA had met the
primary efficacy endpoint of the trial based orre-gefined interim efficacy criteria. This eventtritee criteria for the payment
to us of a development milestone by DSP of $1.Ganilwhich will be recorded as revenue in the fgearter of 2014. In the
future, we may generate revenue from a combinatidicense fees and other upfront payments, rebesrd development
payments, milestone payments, product sales aradties/in connection with strategic alliances. Wpext that any revenue we
generate will fluctuate from quarter-to-quartemagsult of the timing of our achievement of pngickl, clinical, regulatory and
commercialization milestones, if at all, the timiagd amount of payments relating to such milestanelsthe extent to which
any of our products are approved and successfoitynercialized by us or our strategic alliance pagnlf our strategic
alliance partners fail to develop product candiglatea timely manner or obtain regulatory apprdeathem, our ability to
generate future revenues, and our results of dpesaénd financial position would be adversely ctffe.

Research and Development Expenses

Since our inception, we have focused our resownesur research and development activities, inalyidionducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufagtgrdevelopment efforts and activities relatedeguiatory filings for our
product candidates. We recognize research andaj@ueht expenses as they are incurred. Our reseacctievelopment
expenses consist primarily of:

« salaries and related overhead expenses for pebkinresearch and development functions;

« fees paid to consultants and clinical researgamrations, or CROs, including in connection vathr preclinical and
clinical trials, and other related clinical tri&@es, such as for investigator grants, patient sergelaboratory work,
clinical trial database management, clinical tnigterial management and statistical compilationavalysis;

e costs related to acquiring and manufacturingcdirtrial materials;
« costs related to compliance with regulatory resments; and

« costs related to stock options or other stocleb@®mpensation granted to personnel in reseatderelopment
functions.
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From inception through December 31, 2013, we haweried approximately $99.4 million in research dadelopment
expenses. We plan to increase our research antbgement expenses for the foreseeable future asomnce the development
of OCA for the treatment of PBC, NASH and PSC atieépindications and to further advance the devakagt of our other
product candidates, subject to the availabilitadditional funding.

The table below summarizes our direct researcldamdlopment expenses by program for the periodsatetl. Our direct
research and development expenses consist pritycgdaxternal costs, such as fees paid to investig, consultants, central
laboratories and CROs, in connection with our chhirials, and costs related to acquiring and rfeaturing clinical trial
materials. We have been developing OCA and othemiats of FXR, as well as TGR5 agonists, and tyfyicese our employee
and infrastructure resources across multiple rebesmd development programs. We do not allocasieal stock-based
compensation, employee benefit or other indirestxeelated to our research and development funttigpecific product
candidates. Those expenses are included in pedsasts in the table below.

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Direct research and development expense by program:

OCA $ 8,056 $ 10,49 $ 16,46°
INT-767 — — 534
INT-777 19t 52 49
Total direct research and development expense 8,251 10,547 17,05(
Personnel costs 2,75( 4,947 9,852
Indirect research and development expense 42F 68¢ 1,03¢
Total research and development expense $ 1142¢ $ 16,18: $ 27,94

The successful development of our clinical and lpreeal product candidates is highly uncertain.tis time, we cannot
reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costeeéfforts that will be necessary to completerémeainder of the development
of any of our clinical or preclinical product caddtes or the period, if any, in which material ceeth inflows from these
product candidates may commence. This is due tadheerous risks and uncertainties associated witkldping drugs,
including the uncertainty of:

« the scope, rate of progress and expense of @aitg, as well as any additional, clinical triateleother research and
development activities;

e future clinical trial results; and
« the timing and receipt of any regulatory appreval

A change in the outcome of any of these variabli#éls respect to the development of a product carteidauld mean a
significant change in the costs and timing assediatith the development of that product candidate.example, if the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or anothegulatory authority were to require us to conduiticél trials beyond those
that we currently anticipate will be required fbetcompletion of clinical development of a prodeamdidate or if we
experience significant delays in any of our clihicils, we could be required to expend significadditional financial
resources and time on the completion of clinicaletlgpment.

OCA

The majority of our research and development ressuare focused on our ongoing and planned cliaitalpreclinical
studies and the other work we plan to undertalsaipport our NDA and MAA filings for OCA for the trement of PBC, which
we currently plan to file by the end of 2014. Wedancurred and expect to continue to incur sigaifit expense in connection
with these efforts, including:

¢ We completed the double-blind phase of our PBaROISE trial of OCA in patients with PBC in Deceen2013 and
results from the trial are expected to be availabMarch 2014. Patients who completed the doulildiphase of the
trial were eligible to continue in an open-labehd-term
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safety extension trial, or LTSE, for five years.t®¢ 198 patients who completed the double-blirasphof the trial,
more than 95% continued in the LTSE phase of ihé We anticipate the LTSE phase of the trialdatue through
2019.

¢ We are currently in discussions with the FDA be tlinical outcomes trial that must be underwathattime the FDA
makes a decision whether to grant accelerated eapthe clinical outcomes trial will be completed a post-
marketing basis. We currently anticipate initiatthgs trial during the third quarter of 2014.

¢« We plan to conduct a Phase 1 clinical trial inlttey volunteers to evaluate the effect of OCA lom hheart’s electrical
cycle, known as the QT interval, and additionalgeh& clinical trials in 2014.

¢ We have contracted with third-party manufactutergroduce the quantities of OCA needed for reiguyaapproval as
well as the necessary supplies for our other copltied trials and are working to secure second faatwrers. We are
currently reviewing potential third-party manufaetts for our commercial supply of OCA and plan égin building
commercial supplies in 2014.

¢ We have contracted with and plan to engage a ruwitconsultants in relation to our seeking ofutatpry approval
and intend to implement various electronic softward systems in relation to our regulatory acewiti

In addition, we are evaluating OCA in other chrdiver and other diseases. In connection with dfares in NASH, we
have incurred significant expenses relating toagreement with NIDDK, for milestones related to EaNT trial, a Phase 2b
clinical trial in patients with NASH. These expesseclude $1.0 million that was paid in June 204@ an additional $1.25
million that was paid in connection with the futirellment of the FLINT trial, which occurred in Nember 2012. No further
payments are due under the agreement.

Pending our detailed review of the FLINT trial ri'siand discussions with the FDA and EMA, we cullsebelieve that we
will likely need to conduct one or two pivotal Pea&clinical outcomes trials of OCA in NASH patignéVe expect any such
Phase 3 trial would incorporate an interim surregatdpoint that may serve as the basis for filoxgatcelerated approval in the
United States and the equivalent conditional oepidally full approval in Europe. Subject to avalifunding, we plan to
initiate Phase 3 clinical outcomes trials in NAS&tients with advanced fibrosis and in cirrhoticigratis suffering from NASH
and other chronic liver diseases during the figdt bf 2015. In the meantime, we intend to initiatPhase 2 trial investigating
the lipid metabolic effects of OCA in NASH patieimsthe second half of 2014 and are evaluating dreb initiate a Phase 2
trial of OCA in pediatric NASH patients in late 201

For PSC, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinigal in the second half of 2014.
INT-767, INT-777 and Other TGR5 Agonists

We are currently conducting research in collaboretiith Servier to discover and develop additiamalel TGR5 agonists.
We also intend to continue to develop INT-767 (aldtXR/TGR5 agonist) and INT-777 (pure TGR5 aggnistir two existing
compounds not included in this collaboration. Cuilge we plan to continue with preclinical developmh of INT-767 through
to the filing of an IND and, subject to the IND loeting effective, initiate a Phase 1 trial of INT77i® healthy volunteers in the
fourth quarter of 2014. We intend to continue depelent of INT-777 through potential collaboratievigh third parties, over
the next several years.

Other than OCA, our product development prograrasagan early stage, and successful developmeédCaf and our
future product candidates from these programsgisifyiuncertain and may not result in approved petsluCompletion dates
and completion costs can vary significantly forteadure product candidate and are difficult todice We anticipate we will
make determinations as to which programs to puasdehow much funding to direct to each programrmorggoing basis in
response to our ability to maintain or enter intavrstrategic alliances with respect to each prograpotential product
candidate, the scientific and clinical successachefuture product candidate, as well as ongoisgsssnents as to each
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future product candidate’s commercial potential. Wiéneed to raise additional capital and may saeéditional strategic
alliances in the future in order to advance ouioter programs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries and related costs for employeexétetive, operational,
finance and human resources functions. Other signif general and administrative expenses includé Pre-commercial
activities, facilities costs, accounting and leggivices, directors and officer liability insuraptcdgormation technology,
professional fees for directors, travel, and othgrense of operating as a public company.

Our general and administrative expenses have isedeand will continue to increase as we operatepaglic company and
due to the potential commercialization of our prctdtandidates. We believe that these increasedikely include increased
costs related to the hiring of additional persoramal increased fees for outside consultants, laged accountants. We have
also incurred and may continue to incur increasstisdto comply with corporate governance, intecoakrols and similar
requirements applicable to public companies. 420 anticipate that we will also implement a nemaf software and
systems in relation to our operation as a publiogany.

Other Income, Net

Other income consists of interest income earneduorcash, cash equivalents and investment seqyritiset by interest
expense pertaining to equipment held currently uadspitalized lease. This capitalized lease redtiur 2012 and, as such, we
will no longer be subject to the interest expensaen this capitalized lease.

Revaluation of Warrants

In conjunction with various financing transaction® issued warrants to purchase shares of our constook. As of
December 31, 2013, except for the warrants issu&@&kenextra S.p.A., all of the warrants have eible@m exercised or expired
in accordance with their terms. Certain of the aais that were outstanding during 2013 includetbgigion that provides for
a reduction in the warrant exercise price uponagisnt issuances of additional shares of commak §o consideration per
share less than the applicable per share warrantieg price. The warrants containing this provisiacluding the warrants
held by Genextra S.p.A., are deemed to be derwatistruments and as such, are recorded as atjiantd marked-to-market
at each reporting period. Certain other warrantstanding during 2013 included a provision thauresg the shares underlying
the warrants to be registered upon the completi@manitial public offering. As a result, these mamts were reclassified as a
liability as of the date of our initial public ofieg and were also marked-to-market at each regpdate since the offering. The
fair value estimates of these warrants are deteunirsing a Black-Scholes option-pricing model aredbased, in part, on
subjective assumptions and could differ materi@lthe future. Non-cash changes in the fair valuda® common stock warrant
liability from the prior period is recorded as amquonent of other income and expense. We will comtito adjust the fair value
of the common stock warrant liability at the endeath reporting period for changes in fair valuetdl the earlier of the
exercise or expiration of the applicable commomlstearrants or until such time that the warranésrar longer determined to
be derivative instruments. Because our common sgoplblicly traded, these fluctuations are expeébeincrease or decrease
significantly based on changes in the price ofaammon stock through January 2015, the expiratada df the outstanding
warrants. For example, the fair value of the warlability increased from $30.4 million at Decemi3d, 2012 to
approximately $50.1 million at December 31, 20lignprily due to increase in the fair value of ountoon stock from $34.24
per share as of December 31, 2012 to $68.28 peg skabf December 31, 2013, offset by the redudtidthe number of
warrants outstanding. Given the substantial ineréashe price of our common stock in January 2@1ldwing the news that
the NIDDK had decided to stop the double-blindtiment phase of the FLINT trial early for efficacye expect this warrant
liability to materially increase in the first quartof 2014. In addition, as these warrants expirganuary 2015, they will now be
classified as a current liability.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéial condition and results of operations is basedur consolidated
financial statements, which we have prepared iom@zance with generally accepted
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accounting principles in the United States, or GAARe preparation of these consolidated finan¢&kments requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and thdaBsce of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial sta¢ens, as well as the reported revenues and expéugag the reporting periods.
We evaluate these estimates and judgments on aingnigasis. We base our estimates on historicaréeqce and on various
other factors that we believe are reasonable uhéecircumstances, the results of which form tre<bfor making judgments
about the carrying value of assets and liabilitied are not readily apparent from other sources.a0tual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptionswditions.

While our significant accounting policies are mauky described in note 2 to our consolidated ficahstatements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FAdRK 1we believe that the following accounting p@i are the most critical
for fully understanding and evaluating our finahci@andition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteria met: persuasive evidence that an arrangemens esésvices have
been rendered, the price is fixed or determinabtecllectability is reasonably assured.

We have entered into collaboration agreements B8R and Servier. The terms of these agreementsdmcionrefundable
up-front licensing fees, in addition to potentidlestone payments and royalties on any future prbgales developed by the
collaborators under our licenses. We assess thekiple elements in order to determine whetheripaldr components of the
arrangement represent separate units of accounting.

We recognize up-front license payments as revepoa delivery of the license only if the license stnd-alone value.
The underlying performance obligations are accalifdeseparately as the obligations are fulfillédhe license is considered
as not having stand-alone value, the arrangemertcisunted for as a single unit of accounting &editense payments and
payments for performance obligations are recogrégetvenue over the estimated period of whenghenmnance obligations
are performed.

Whenever we determine that an arrangement shoudddminted for as a single unit of accounting, etewmiine the period
over which the performance obligations will be perfed and revenue will be recognized. If we cameasonably estimate the
timing and the level of effort to complete our menmhance obligations under the arrangement, thereaa@gnize revenue under
the arrangement on a straight-line basis over ¢nog that we expect to complete our performandigations.

Our collaboration agreements also provide for pemilestone payments to us, none of which haaentreceived to date.
Revenues from milestone payments, if they are efumdable and considered substantive, are recafynjzen successful
accomplishment of the milestones. If milestonesnateconsidered substantive, milestone paymentsialy deferred and
recognized over the remaining performance obligatieo January 2014, the NIDDK stopped the doubieebireatment phase
of the FLINT trial in NASH patients early following planned interim analysis showing that OCA hadlthee primary efficacy
endpoint of the trial based on a pre-defined imegfficacy criteria. This event met the criteria fioe payment to us of a
development milestone by DSP of $1.0 million purgua our collaboration agreement with DSP, whidh lve recorded as
revenue in the first quarter of 2014.

To date, we have not received any royalty paymamdsaccordingly have not recognized any relatedmes. We will
recognize royalty revenue upon the sale of theéeélproducts, provided we have no remaining perémce obligations under
the arrangement.

We record deferred revenue when payments are egt@iadvance of the culmination of the earninge@ss. This revenue
is recognized in future periods when the applical@nue recognition criteria have been met.

Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation and Warranghility
Stock-Based Compensation

We record the fair value of stock options and retetd stock units, or RSUs, issued to employees #we grant date as
compensation expense. We recognize compensati@msgmver the requisite service period, whichesvisting period. For
non-employees, we also record stock options andsR&their fair value as
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of the grant date. We then periodically re-measiuieeawards to reflect the current fair value ahe@porting period until the
non-employee completes the performance obligaticgheddate on which a performance commitment ishred. Expense is
recognized over the related service period.

Stock-based compensation expense includes stoms@nd RSUs granted to employees and non-em@@yekhas been
reported in our statements of operations as follows

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Research and development $ 47z $ 1,712 $ 4,72
General and administrative 1,39¢ 1,637 4,72
Total $ 1,866 $ 3,34¢ $ 9,44¢

We calculate the fair value of stock-options usimg Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Blaak&es option-pricing
model requires the use of assumptions, includiogksprice volatility, the expected life of stocktimms, risk free interest rate
and the fair value of the underlying common stockte date of grant. Our key assumptions are:

* The expected volatility was estimated based uperhistorical volatility information of peer compas for 2013.
Because there was no public market for our comrtmeksrior to October 11, 2012, we lacked compapeesfic
historical and implied volatility information to &®ate the volatility of our common stock price. \8&culated expectt
volatility based on reported data for selectedarably similar publicly traded companies for whthle historical
information is available. For the purpose of iditig peer companies, we consider characteristich ss industry,
length of trading history, similar vesting termslan-the-money option status.

e The assumed dividend yield is based on our eafieatof not paying dividends for the foreseeabterfe.

¢ We determine the average expected life of st@tions based on the simplified method in accordavitiethe
Securities and Exchange Commission Staff AccourBinketin Nos. 107 and 110. We expect to use thwpbfied
method until we have sufficient historical exeraisda to provide a reasonable basis upon whicktimate expected
term.

*  We determine the risk-free interest rate by eiee to implied yields available from U.S. Treassegurities with a
remaining term equal to the expected life assunhétkadate of grant.

¢ We estimate forfeitures based on our historicalysis of actual stock option forfeitures.

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes optiaingrmodel for the years ended December 31, 28012 and 2013 are
set forth below:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013
Volatility 107 -112% 107 -115% 95 —115%
Expected term (in years) 5.0 -6.C 5.0 -6.C 5.3-6.1
Risk-free interest rate 11-1.4% 0.7 —0.€% 0.9 -3.C%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Stock price $ 8.67 $8.67 — B4.2¢ $34.24 — $8.2¢

We expect the impact of stock compensation to grofuture periods due to the potential increasdfénvalue of our
common stock, increased headcount and additionek siption and other equity grants. Our stock pinceeased from a
closing price of $68.28 on December 31, 2013 td0$B1 on February 28, 2014. The increase in oukgidce will particularly
impact the stock compensation expense of non-erapkoin the first quarter of 2014 as their expessevalued on a quarterly
basis.

We are required to estimate the level of forfebuggpected to occur and record compensation expemgéor those awards
that we ultimately expect will vest. Due to thekaxd historical forfeiture activity of
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our plan, we expect to estimate our forfeiture keteed on peer company data with characteristitéasito our company. For
2011, 2012 and 2013, we used a forfeiture ratéevefgdercent. There were no significant forfeitutte®ugh December 31, 2013.

Prior to our initial public offering in October 2R1due to the absence of an active market for ommeon stock, the fair
value of our common stock for purposes of detemgjrthe exercise price for stock option grants wetertnined by our board
of directors, with the assistance and upon themesendation of management, in good faith, basedrmumaber of objective
and subjective factors consistent with the methmgiek outlined in the American Institute of CeetifiPublic Accountants
Practice Aid\Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensaticor the Practice Aid.

Common Stock Warrant Liability

In conjunction with various financing transaction® issued warrants to purchase shares of our constook as discussed
above under “Revaluation of Warrants.” The fairueabf the underlying common stock is based on thelBScholes option-
pricing model which requires the use of subjectigssumptions, including but not limited to stoclcprvolatility, the expected
life of the warrants, the risk free interest rate #he fair value of the common stock underlying Warrants. Significant
changes to the key assumptions used in the vahsatiould have resulted in different fair valueshef warrants at each
valuation date. We will continue to adjust the faifues of the warrants at each financial reponiedod end for any changes in
fair value until the earlier of the exercise or ieafion of the applicable common stock warrantsimtil such time that the
warrants are no longer determined to be derivatisguments. Our warrant liability is expected ltecfuate based on the
assumptions used in our valuation model.

JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Spartict of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. 8edtD7 of the JOBS
Act provides that an “emerging growth company” talte advantage of the extended transition periodiged in Section 7(a)
(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendedhe Securities Act, for complying with new or isad accounting standards.
In other words, an “emerging growth company” calayl¢he adoption of certain accounting standards tnose standards
would otherwise apply to private companies. We hieevocably elected not to avail ourselves of thitended transition
period and, as a result, we will adopt new or iaccounting standards on the relevant dates aihwaboption of such
standards is required for other public companies.

Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JORE as an “emerging growth company,” we have iatehd to continue to
rely on certain exemptions and reduced reportiggirements provided by the JOBS Act, including withlimitation, (i)
providing an auditor’s attestation report on owstsyn of internal controls over financial reportpgsuant to Section 404(b) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and (ii) complying with aaguirement that may be adopted by the PCAOB raggrdandatory audit
firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’'s regwoviding additional information about the aualitd the financial
statements, known as the auditor discussion angisasidVe will remain an “emerging growth companyitil the earliest of (i)
the last day of the fiscal year in which we haveltannual gross revenues of $1 billion or moiig¢ecember 31, 2017; (iii)
the date on which we have issued more than $bmilii nonconvertible debt during the previous thyrears; or (iv) the date on
which we are deemed to be a large accelerated/filder the rules of the Securities and Exchangertission based on the
market value of our common stock held by non-aitfis. If the market value of our common stock ithaeld by non-affiliates
continues to exceed $700 million as of June 3042@& would cease to be an emerging growth comparf December 31,
2014 and would need to comply with the requiremeh8ection 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 203

The following table summarizes our results of ofiers for the years ended December 31, 2012 an8, 20dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a peigenta

Years Ended December 3]

%
2012 2013 Dollar Change Change

(in thousands)

Licensing revenue $ 2446 $ 162: $ (829 (34)%
Operating expenses:

Research and development 16,18 27,94: 11,75¢ 72%

General and administrative 5,171 13,13 7,95¢ *
Loss from operations (18,919  (39,45) (20,53 *
Warrant revaluation expense (24,62¢)  (28,44) (3,815 15%
Other income, net 88 10C 12 14%
Foreign currency loss (192 — 192 *
Net loss $(43,649 $(67,79) $ (24,149 5E%

*  Not meaningful or not calculabl
Licensing Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recorttadlaf $2.4 million of licensing revenue, conisig of $1.6 million
and $0.8 million from the amortization of the up#t payments from the collaboration agreementsedtato during 2011
with DSP and Servier, respectively. For the yealedrDecember 31, 2013, we recorded a total of $dli®n of licensing
revenue from the amortization of the up-front pagtadrom the collaboration agreement entered intind 2011 with DSP.
The revenue related to the up-front payment fromvi€ewas fully recognized in the third quarter26f12.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $16.2matio $27.9 million for the years ended DecembeB12 and 2013,
respectively. The net increase in research anda@vent expenses was $11.7 million, or 72%. Thisdase in research and
development expense primarily reflects:

¢ increased non-cash stock compensation exper&&@million;
¢ increased clinical trial material costs to supptinical trials of OCA of approximately $1.9 nidh;
¢ increased clinical trial costs of OCA of approaialy $1.6 million;

« additional personnel on our development teamdoage the increased activities around our developpregram of
OCA, resulting in increased compensation, bonus ralated benefits of approximately $1.9 million;

¢ increased drug product costs including validatiod analytics of approximately $1.4 million to pog our commercial
scale manufacturing;

* increased regulatory costs of approximately $800yelated to additional trials as well as theppration for the NDA
and MAA filings anticipated at the end of 2014;

« increased research costs of approximately $500,00
¢ increased expenses associated with IND enabtirties of INT-767 of approximately $700,000;

* increased direct development expense for our E@i8l and the LTSE of POISE of approximately $800; partially
offset by
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» decreased expense of $2.3 million payable by tiset NIDDK relating to milestones under the NIDREreement, as
all milestone were achieved and paid in 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $5.2omiihd $13.1 million for the years ended DecemtiePB12 and 2013,
respectively. The increase in general and admitige expenses of $7.9 million was mainly due to:

¢ increased non-cash stock-based compensationafagtproximately $3.1 million;

« additional personnel to manage the increaseditiesi due to our operating as a public compargylting in increased
compensation, bonus, and related benefit costpbaimately $1.2 million;

¢ increased pre-commercial activities related toketaresearch of approximately $1.8 million; and

¢ increased operating costs related to operatirggpamlic company of approximately $1.8 millionluding costs
associated with;

° increased legal, accounting and securities gistexpenses of approximately $1.0 million to suppar public
company operations;

° increased directors’ and officers’ insurance esps of approximately $395,000; and
° increased other costs, including rent, utiliteasd compensation consultant of approximately $EED,
Warrant Revaluation Expense

Our outstanding warrants are deemed to be derevatstruments that require liability classificatiand mark-to-market
accounting. As such, at the end of each reportangg, the fair values of the warrants were deteediby us using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, resulting in the gaition of expenses of $24.6 million and $28.4 imillfor the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. As okBwser 31, 2013, all warrants to purchase commark stdher than the
warrant held by Genextra S.p.A., have been exat@sdave expired in accordance with their ternes.the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, the fair value of tagamts increased primarily because of the sigmitiencrease in the price of
the common stock underlying the warrants, which based on the market price of our common stockjarted on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market following our initial plic offering in October 2012. This increase in tierrant liability due
to the underlying price of our common stock valueirth 2013 was partially offset by the reductiortleé outstanding warrants
due to exercises and expirations during the pefiibdse fluctuations are expected to increase oedse significantly based on
changes in the price of our common stock. We grdtei that the warrant liability will increase sifigantly during the first
quarter of 2014 due to the substantial increasgieeprice of our common stock. This warrant wilpeg in January 2015, if not
previously exercised.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net primarily reflestancrease in net interest income compared tgeheended December
31, 2012. The increase was primarily the resultigfier average investment balances during 2018rapared to 2012 due to
our investment of the proceeds from our follow-aibl offering in June 2013.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2011 202

The following table summarizes our results of ofiers for the years ended December 31, 2011 and, 26dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a peigenta

Years Ended December 31,

%
2011 2012 Dollar Change Change

(in thousands)

Licensing revenue $ 1,808 $ 244¢ $ 641 3€%
Operating expenses:

Research and development 11,42¢ 16,18 4,757 42%

General and administrative 4,20¢ 5,171 96¢ 2%
Loss from operations (23,830 (18,919 (5,089 3%
Warrant revaluation income (expense) 1,04t (24,62¢) (25,677) *
Other income, net 48 88 4C 8%
Foreign currency loss — (292) (292) *
Net loss $(12,73) $(43,649 $ (30,907 *

*  Not meaningful or not calculabl
Licensing Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recortidlaf $1.8 million of licensing revenue, coniig of $1.2 million
and $600,000 from the amortization of the up-fieeiyments from the collaboration agreements eniaeteaiuring 2011 with
DSP and Servier, respectively. For the year endszkBber 31, 2012, we recorded a total of $2.4aniliif licensing revenue,
consisting of $1.6 million and $824,000 from theaatization of the up-front payments from the codiedtion agreements
entered into during 2011 with DSP and Servier,eepely. The revenue recorded or the DSP agreemergased in 2012 as
the agreement was only in place for nine monthH20dfl. The revenue related to the up-front paymem Servier was fully
recognized in the third quarter of 2012.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $11.4mailid $16.2 million for the years ended DecembefB11 and 2012,
respectively. The net increase in research anda@vent expenses was $4.8 million, or 42%. Thisdase in research and
development expense primarily reflects:

e anincrease in personnel on our development teamatmge the increased activities round our devetopprogram fo
OCA, resulting in increased compensation expens@pfoximately $2.2 million, of which $1.2 milliomas due to
stock compensation expense, approximately $265\@80due to associated overhead and approximatély;$30 was
due to bonus expense;

¢ increased direct development expense for ourd”Bdise trial of approximately $2.1 million;

* increased expenses of $1.8 million payable bip ke NIDDK relating to milestones achieved unither NIDDK
agreement;

* increased costs associated with regulatory ctarsslof $200,000 related to the OCA developmengam;

* increased direct development expense for theedPhatinical trial of OCA in portal hypertension abproximately
$137,000;

* increased direct development expense for thfith of our two-year animal carcinogenicity seslof OCA in two
species of approximately $110,000;

« reduced direct research and development expdraggpmximately $1.2 million resulting from the slae of our
research facility in June 2011 and research agsdowith our TGR5 program, which was previouslydplay us and is
now funded by Servier though our collaboration viith
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« reduced direct research and development expeitiseespect to the completion of our Phase 2 tfmOCA and
reduced expenses of the long-term safety exterssimy of approximately $360,000;

« reduced direct research and development expefeténg to INT-777 of approximately $145,000 rethfgimarily to
decreased stability and optimization work; and

« decreased costs associated with market reseb@84 in PBC of $100,000.
General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $4.2omilhd $5.2 million for the years ended DecembefB11 and 2012,
respectively. The increase in general and admitige expenses of $1.0 million, or 23%, was maghlg to i) an increase in
stock-based compensation costs for options andatest stock units granted to our employees anetctiirs of $243,000, an
increase in bonus expense of $272,000, and araseia accounting fees of $175,000 related to parating as a public
company.

Warrant Revaluation Income (Expense)

Our outstanding warrants are deemed to be derevatstruments that require liability classificatiand mark-to-market
accounting. As such, at the end of each reportangg, the fair values of the warrants were deteediby us using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, resulting in the gaition of a gain of $1.0 million for the year eddBecember 31, 2011 and a
loss of $24.6 million for the year ended Decemier2R12. For the year ended December 31, 201 haimewas primarily due
to the reduction in value of the warrants, as thsiimated life declined and changes in volatditghe shares of common stock
underlying the warrants. For the year ended DeceBibe2012, the fair value of the warrants incregs@marily because of the
significant increase in the price of the commormtistonderlying the warrants, which was based omtheket price of our
common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global $éltecket following our initial public offering in Qober 2012. Because
our common stock is publicly traded, these fludtret are expected in increase or decrease sigmtifjdaased on changes in
the price of our common stock.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net primarily reflestsncrease in net interest income compared tgeheended December
31, 2011. The increase was primarily the resultigier average investment balances during 2012rapared to 2011 due to
our investment of the proceeds from our initial jpubffering in October 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

We have incurred losses and cumulative negative fbiass from operations since our inception in $epber 2002 and, as
of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulated defi§i186.0 million. We anticipate that we will conte to incur losses for
at least the next several years. We expect thatesearch and development and general and adratiistexpenses will
continue to increase and, as a result, we will ragftitional capital to fund our operations, which may seek to obtain through
a combination of equity offerings, debt financingsyernment or other third-party funding, marketargl distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, stratetigmeés and licensing arrangements.

Since our inception through December 31, 2013, awe iunded our operations primarily through the sdlcommon stock,
preferred stock, convertible notes and warrantspaydnents received under our collaboration agreeetaling $247.6
million (net of issuance costs of $14.4 milliomcliuding $29.7 million in net proceeds from ouri€gIC financing in August
2012, $78.7 million in net proceeds from our inipablic offering in October 2012 and $61.2 millionnet proceeds from our
follow-on public offering in June 2013, and theewat of $16.4 million in up-front payments under éimensing and
collaboration agreements with DSP and Servier.fA3ezember 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivaedtinvestment
securities of approximately $144.8 million. Caskextess of immediate requirements is investedéordance with our
investment policy, primarily with a view to liquigtiand capital preservation. Currently, our fundstgeld in cash and money
market bank accounts and investments, all of whare maturities of less than two years.
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Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the significant stes and uses of cash for the periods set fortwbelo
Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activities $ 2,606 $(15,749 $ (28,006
Investing activities (6€) (64,859 (70,219
Financing activities (250) 108,41¢ 66,07
Effect of exchange rate changes (6) @) —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 2,28¢ $ 27,808  $ (32,149

Operating Activities Net cash provided by operating activities of6illion during the year ended December 31, 2011
was primarily a result of $16.4 million in up-fropayments from our licensing and collaboration agrents with DSP and
Servier, of which $14.6 million of which was cld&sil as deferred revenue as described in noteo@rtfinancial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10 he cash payments from the collaboration agesgsand the
classification of those payments as deferred rexégdito an overall net increase in operating asse$13.9 million, to which
non-cash items of $1.9 million for stock-based cengation, $410,000 for depreciation and $217,00@ foss on the sale of
assets in connection with the potential liquidatbémur Italian subsidiary were added. These pasiidditions to cash flow
were offset against our $12.7 million net loss andhdditional $1.0 million decrease in assets duké revaluation of our
warrant liability.

Net cash used in operating activities of $15.7iatiliduring the year ended December 31, 2012 wasapily a result of our
$43.6 million net loss and net changes in our dpegassets and liabilities of $592,000, offsetly add-back of non-cash
expenses of $24.6 million for warrant liability eduation, $3.3 million for stock-based compensat#&210,000 for depreciation
and $192,000 foreign currency loss.

Net cash used in operating activities of $28.0iamilfor the year ended December 31, 2013 was pilyraresult of our
$67.8 million net loss and net changes in operasegts and liabilities of $200,000 offset by ttié-hack of non-cash expense
of $28.4 million for warrant liability revaluatio$9.4 million for stock-based compensation, $106,f@® depreciation and the
amortization of interest premium of $1.6 million.

Investing Activities For the year ended December 31, 2011, netuseshin investing activities primarily reflectedraise
of cash to purchase equipment. Cash provided by-tdon investments was partially offset by salestwrt-term investments.

Net cash used in investing activities during tharyended December 31, 2012 primarily reflectednatiinvestment of
proceeds of the Series C financing and the irptigdlic offering in securities, offset slightly blyet redemptions of certificates of
deposits.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashugegesting activities reflects the net investmefhthe proceeds from
the June 2013 stock offering of $61.2 million arngdenditures for leasehold improvements of $1.6iamlks a result of our
move to our new corporate headquarters.

Financing Activities Net cash used in financing activities in tharyended December 31, 2011 consisted primarily of
capital lease payments. Net cash provided by fingractivities in the year ended December 31, Z@fsisted primarily of
approximately $29.7 million of net proceeds frora fale of Series C preferred stock and $78.7 miftiom the completion of
our initial public offering.

Net cash provided by financing activities in theyended December 31, 2013 consisted primarilyebproceeds of $61.2
million from the completion of our follow-on publiffering in June 2013 and $4.8 million from themise of options and
warrants to purchase common stock.
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Future Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue froduptsales. We do not know when, or if, we will geate any revenue
from product sales. We do not expect to genergtafsiant revenue from product sales unless anifl watobtain regulatory
approval of and commercialize OCA or any of oureotbroduct candidates. At the same time, we exqacéxpenses to
increase in connection with our ongoing developnaetivities, particularly as we continue the resbadevelopment and
clinical trials of, and seek regulatory approval four product candidates. We have incurred aneé&xp incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public companydéitian, subject to obtaining regulatory approviaoy of our product
candidates, we expect to incur significant comnadimation expenses for product sales, marketingyufgeturing and
distribution. We anticipate that we will need salgial additional funding in connection with oumtiouing operations.

Based upon our currently expected level of opegagixpenditures, we believe that our existing caabh equivalents, short-
term investments and anticipated funding undedfiP and Servier collaborations will enable us twifour operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirementshetthird quarter of 2015. Although our currentndare still preliminary and
subject to change, our current estimate reflect®nrg other items, the planned initiation of ourfaomatory clinical outcomes
trial of OCA in PBC and engaging in other plannetivities for seeking regulatory approval of OCARBC, including several
Phase 1 pharmacology clinical trials; the planmétibtion of a Phase 2 trial investigating thedipnetabolic effects of OCA in
NASH patients; the anticipated initiation of a Rha@sclinical trial of OCA in PSC; an anticipatedii@ase in pre-commercial
and commercial activities for OCA in PBC; and pligical studies anticipated to be needed for tHemsgasion of an IND for
INT-767 and the planned initiation of a Phase dicéil trial for INT-767. We have based our estirsaia assumptions that may
prove to be wrong, and we may use our availabléalapsources sooner than we currently expectekample, we plan to
initiate Phase 3 clinical outcomes trials in NAS&tients with advanced fibrosis and in cirrhoticigratis suffering from NASH
and other chronic liver diseases during the fiedt bf 2015, which will require us to seek additbfunds. Because of the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated watliévelopment and commercialization of our prodacdidates, we are
unable to estimate the amounts of increased capitilys and operating expenditures necessaryriplete the development of
our product candidates.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagyors, including:

« the results of, and the data from, the POISHE, thi@ Phase 2b FLINT trial of OCA in NASH patiemtsd our other
clinical trials;

¢ the willingness of the FDA and EMA to accept o@I8E trial, as well as our other completed and méahclinical and
preclinical studies and other work, as the bagisdeiew and marketing approval of OCA for PBC;

« the progress, costs, results of and timing ofgsanned confirmatory clinical outcomes trial of ®@r the treatment of
PBC;

« the progress, costs, results of and timing oficdil development of OCA for other indications,liming any additional
clinical trials that may be needed to continue dewelopment of, and to seek regulatory approval@@A in NASH,
such as INT-767 and INT-777;

« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinbig FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

¢ the number and characteristics of product catelédénat we pursue, including our product candglatereclinical
development;

« the ability of our product candidates to progrgssugh pre-clinical and clinical development sssfully and in a
timely manner;

« ourneed to expand our research and developrotnitias;
« the costs associated with securing and estabfsfommercialization and manufacturing capabiljties

* market acceptance of our product candidates;

91




TABLE OF CONTENTS

« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindirsinesses, products, product candidates anddietfies;

« our ability to maintain, expand and defend thepscof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to makéhat we may receive, in connection with therigiag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemther intellectual property rights;

¢ our need and ability to hire additional manageimsrientific and medical, commercial and otherlifjed personnel;
« the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;
¢ our need to implement additional internal systama infrastructure, including financial and repuagtsystems; and

« the economic and other terms, timing of and ss&©é our existing licensing arrangements and aligtworation,
licensing or other arrangements into which we magrein the future.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sulisiarevenue from product sales, we expect tonibesour cash needs
through a combination of equity offerings, debgficings, government or other third-party fundingyketing and distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, strateligmeés and licensing arrangements. To the extettvte raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertitddsecurities, the ownership interests of our comstockholders will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities maydeliquidation or other preferences that advera#fgct the rights of our
common stockholders. Debt financing, if availabay involve agreements that include covenantsitignior restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurraaglitional debt, making capital expenditures alaléng dividends. If we raise
additional funds through government or other tinedty funding, marketing and distribution arrangateer other
collaborations, strategic alliances or licensimguagements with third parties, we may have to gelish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, researchigorgor product candidates or to grant licensegmns that may not be
favorable to us.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our significant cantual obligations and commercial commitments ed¢ddnber 31, 2013
and the effects such obligations are expectedue ba our liquidity and cash flows in future pesod

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1year years years 5 years

(in thousands)

Operating leases $ 1798 $ 1,308 $ 500 $ 5,08 $ 6,59¢
Purchase obligations 2,77(C 1,58 1,18 — —
Total $ 20,75 $ 2,88 3$ 6,19 5,08¢ 6,59¢

We lease general and administrative office spadéein York, New York and San Diego, California puastito operating
leases that expire in 2024 and 2015, respectilrei@ctober 2013, we entered into a lease agreeimd&ew York City for our
new corporate headquarters, providing 11,124 scfeatef space. We also have a pre-negotiated coment to take an
additional 9,502 square feet, or Additional Spat&eptember 2014, although we may in our soleéligmn opt not to take the
Additional Space by providing written notice to dandlord on or before April 30, 2014 and paying@mination fee of up to
approximately $171,000. The lease for our New Y®itly office will expire in July 2024.

In March 2013, we entered into an amendment toethgel for our San Diego office, which, among othigts, added
approximately 5,100 square feet of space and egtetige term of the existing lease. In November 2@43entered into a
second amendment to the lease for our San Diegepffhich added approximately 3,069 square fespate. As a result of
these amendments, we lease an aggregate of 1gjd@geet of space in San Diego. The lease foSaarDiego office, as
amended, will expire in December 2015.
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We are a party to license agreements with univessénd other third parties, as well as patengassent agreements, under
which we have obtained rights to patents, pateplicgiions and know-how. We have employment agredsnsith certain
employees which require the funding of specifielewof payments, if certain events, such as a ehangontrol or termination
without cause, occur. We enter into contracts énrtbrmal course of business with CROs for clinidals and clinical supply
manufacturing and with vendors for preclinical @sé studies and other services and products fematipg purposes, which
generally provide for termination within 30 daysnaftice, and therefore are cancelable contractsiahohcluded in the table of
contractual obligations and commitments.

Under our agreement with DSP, we are required écous commercially reasonable efforts to developA@Gtside of the
territories in which DSP has a license under the@gent. As these amounts are not quantifiablg,ahenot included in the
table above.

Under our agreement with Servier, we are obligéderbnduct and are conducting a research progradetuify and
optimize compounds that meet certain specifie@watsufficient for further development by Servife are obligated under
the agreement to provide Servier with a specifigahlber of full time equivalent employees for thes@sh program and Servier
has agreed to reimburse us on a quarterly bastedassociated costs up to a set maximum amougepe Servier has agreed
to pay for the development costs we or Servierrimtgonducting certain preclinical trials and @il trials with respect to any
compound that meets specified criteria. We haveehto reimburse Servier for a certain percentagfeeadevelopment costs
incurred by Servier if we enter into a partnersigpeement, or commence development or commerdializactivities on our
own, with respect to a compound in the United Stadervier may credit a portion of any such reirshble development costs
against any milestone or royalty payments due aydlge by Servier under the agreement until athsaanbursable amounts
are repaid. In addition, if we enter into a parsingy agreement with respect to a compound developder the agreement
solely in Japan, we and Servier have agreed to gritegood faith negotiations regarding the teend conditions applicable to
the reimbursement of development costs. These asiava not included in the table above becausedteepot quantifiable or
because they are reimbursable under the agreement.

Our commitments as of December 31, 2013 underansuting agreement with Professor Pellicciaritfee compounds
relating to the Servier agreement and our researdidevelopment agreement with TES Pharma Srkefleeted in the table
above. In October 2013, our agreements with TESmRa&rl and our agreement with Professor Pellicaithe compounds
relating to the Servier agreement were extendeitl September 2015. During the extension periodaveerequired to pay TES
Pharma Srl and Professor Pellicciari an aggredaf2s0,000 on a quarterly basis and €37,500, réiseée All the
commitments under our consulting agreement withie3sor Pellicciari and our agreement with TES Plaa®m, in each case,
for the compounds related to the Servier agreemerg covered by the reimbursement provisions uadeagreement with
Servier. See Item 1. “Business — Strategic Collations and Research Arrangements” for more infaonaelating to these
agreements.

Net Operating Losses

As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, we had fedetalperating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, for fedi@amaome tax
purposes of $70.2 million and $108.2 million, restpeely, which expire from 2024 through 2032. Obility to utilize our
NOLs may be limited under Section 382 of the IndéfRevenue Code. The limitations apply if an “ovamgp change,” as
defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Guabeirs. Generally, an ownership change occurs wesgain shareholders
increase their aggregate ownership by more thgrebtentage points over their lowest ownership peage in a testing period
(typically three years). We have assessed whetieeoomore ownership changes as defined undero®e&82 of the Internal
Revenue Code have occurred since our inceptiomawel determined that there have been at leastuglochanges.
Accordingly, although we believe that these ownigrshanges have not resulted in material limitagion our ability to use
these NOLs, our ability to utilize the aforemengdrcarryforwards may be limited. Additionally, Ut8x laws limit the time
during which these carryforwards may be utilizediagt future taxes. As a result, we may not be tbteke full advantage of
these carryforwards for federal and state tax mepoFuture changes in stock ownership may alggetrian ownership change
and, consequently, a Section 382 limitation.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, amdawnot currently have, any off-balance sheehgements as defined
under Securities and Exchange Commission rules.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangd@dard, or the FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-02, “©Othe
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AntstReclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprsivenincome,” or
ASU No. 2013-02. ASU No. 2013-02 supersedes thgeptation requirements for reclassifications owafumulated other
comprehensive income in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-@iZequires an entity to provide additional inforroatabout
reclassifications out of accumulated other compnsive income. ASU No. 2013-02 became effectiveuobeginning January
1, 2013. The adoption of this amendment did nottewaterial impact on our results of operationin@ncial position.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance on the firdrstatement presentation of an unrecognizethé¢zefit when a net
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax lossadax credit carryforward exists. The guidancefiective prospectively for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those geaeginning after December 15, 2013, with an opfito early adoption. We
intend to adopt this guidance during the first teraof 2014, and do not believe the adoption of standard will have a
material impact on our consolidated financial stegts.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common ®ckholders per Share of Common Stock

Our Series A, B and C preferred stock represendgiitjpating securities. However, since we haverafeel at a loss since
inception, and losses are not allocated to theemed stock, the two class method did not affectcalculation of earnings per
share. Upon the closing of our initial public offey, all outstanding shares of our preferred stoeke converted into an
aggregate of 7,403,817 shares of common stock.

Dilutive common stock equivalents would include thiative effect of convertible securities, commstock options, RSUs
and warrants to purchase common stock. Potentdllyive common stock equivalents totaled approxetya8,309,074 shares,
2,864,303 shares and 2,511,287 shares for the gedesl December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, resplgctRatentially dilutive
common stock equivalents were excluded from théetl earnings per share denominator for all peti@dsuse of their anti-
dilutive effect. Therefore, the weighted averagarebk used to calculate both basic and diluted mgsrper share are the same.

Iltem 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbime sensitivity, which is affected by changes mgdkeneral level of U.S.
interest rates. We currently do not hedge interstexposure. Because of the short-term matudfiesir cash equivalents and
investment securities, we do not believe that aresise in market rates would have any significapgict on the realized value
of our investment securities. If a 10% change farist rates were to have occurred on Decemb&@0dB, this change would
not have had a material effect on the fair valuewfinvestment portfolio as of that date.

We do not believe that our cash and equivalentsaaadable for sale investments have significask of default or
illiquidity. While we believe our cash and equivatie and available for sale investments do not comtecessive risk, we
cannot provide absolute assurance that in theddur investments will not be subject to adverssngles in market value. In
addition, we maintain significant amounts of castl aquivalents at one or more financial institusitinat are in excess of
federally insured limits.

We contract with CROs and investigational siteEumope, Canada and Australia. We are thereforesuty) fluctuations in
foreign currency rates in connection with theseeagrents. We do not hedge our foreign currency exgeheate risk.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustoof labor and clinical trial costs. We do notiée¢ that inflation has had a
material effect on our results of operations du20g1, 2012 or 2013.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed pansto this Item 8 are appended to this Annual RepoForm 10-K. An
index of those financial statements is found imitE5.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer evaluated the effectiveness of oucltisure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2013. The term tdiset controls and procedures,” as defined in RiBas15(e) and 15d-15
(e) under the Exchange Act means controls and ptioeedures of a company that are designed to etisatr information
required to be disclosed by a company in the regbeét it files or submits under the Exchange Actcorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periodxsied in the Securities and Exchange Commissinri&s and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, wittiouitation, controls and procedures designed &uesthat information
required to be disclosed by a company in the regbt it files or submits under the Exchange A@dcumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, incluigingrincipal executive and principal financiafioérs, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sun designing and evaluating our disclosure and procedures, our
management recognizes that any controls and preegdw matter how well designed and operatedpoaride only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredot@fijectives, and our management necessarily epjt judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possiintrols and procedures. Based on the evaluatioor disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2013, our paheiecutive officer and principal financial offroeoncluded that, as of
such date, our disclosure controls and proceduegs adequate and effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting for our
company. Internal control over financial reportiaglefined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promukghtuinder the Exchange
Act as a process designed by, or under the supgema$, the company’s principal executive and pipat financial officers and
effected by the company’s board of directors, mansnt and other personnel, to provide reasonableasce regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP and
includes those policies and procedures that: (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in reaslendetail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonafderance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance with generagepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituresiofcompany are being made only in accordance withagizations of
management and directors of the company; andf(iiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition af @mpany’s assets that could have a materialteffethe financial
statements.

Internal control over financial reporting is desgrto provide reasonable assurance regarding libbiligy of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:@nepared for external purposes in accordandegeiherally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherenttitions, internal control over financial reportimgy not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may
deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our pgpatexecutive officer and principal financial aiir, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcaporting as of December 31, 2013. In making #sisessment, our
management used the criteria set forth inltikernal Control — Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisd#ased on its assessment, management concludeslittiaternal
control over financial reporting was effective ddecember 31, 2013 based on those criteria.
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includextiestation report of our independent registerdaip accounting
firm regarding internal control over financial refing. Management’s report was not subject to atest by our independent

registered public accounting firm pursuant to a@negtion under Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wak& Reform and
Consumer Protection Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control émancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-158(f} 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act), identified in connection with thealation of such internal control, that occurredmiy the three months ended

December 31, 2013 that have materially affectedrereasonably likely to materially affect, oueimal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B.Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incargted herein by reference to the information thiitbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2014 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBaties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAO¥K.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incaqed herein by reference to the information thilithe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2014 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required by this Item 12 is incaqed herein by reference to the information thilithe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2014 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaabns, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incargted herein by reference to the information thiitbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2014 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBaties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAO¥K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incaqed herein by reference to the information thilithe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2014 Annual Meetingtockholders, which we intend to file with thecBgties and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgadr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ #hnnual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compselehoss F-5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholékepsity (Deficit) F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-9
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-11

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All financial statement schedules have been omlizhuse they are not applicable, not requiredeoimformation required
is shown in the financial statements or the ndteseto.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of this#ual Report on Form 10-K are set forth on the Eixtindex immediately
following our consolidated financial statementse Hxhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 1%@t)Iof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thgiReant has duly
caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be sigieds behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dutharized.

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Date: March 14, 2014 By: /s/ Mark Pruzanski, M.C

Mark Pruzanski
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 14, 2014 By: /s/ Barbara Dunca

Barbara Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 104 been signed by
the following persons in the capacities indicatetbty and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

sl Mark Pruzanski President and Chief Executive Officer March 14, 2014
(Principal Executive Officer)

Mark Pruzanski

/sl Barbara Duncan Chief Financial Officer March 14, 2014
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Barbara Duncan

/sl Jonathan Silverstein Chairman of the Board of Directors March 14, 2014

Jonathan Silverstein
/sl Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D.  Director March 14, 2014

Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D.
/sl Paolo Fundaro Director March 14, 2014

Paolo Fundaro

/sl Sanj K. Patel Director March 14, 2014
Sanj K. Patel
/s/ Glenn Sblendorio Director March 14, 2014

Glenn Sblendorio
/sl Lorenzo Tallarigo, M.D. Director March 14, 2014

Lorenzo Tallarigo, M.D.
/sl Klaus Veitlinger, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 14, 2014

Klaus Veitlinger, M.D.
/sl Nicole Williams Director March 14, 2014

Nicole Williams
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. absidiaries (a
development stage enterprise) as of December 32, &0d 2013, and the related consolidated statsmoéoperations and
comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ ecaiity cash flows for each of the years ended DeeeBth 2011, 2012 and
2013 and for the period from September 4, 2002ftion) to December 31, 2013. These consolidatethéiial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. @sponsibility is to express an opinion on thesesolidated financial
statements based on our audits. The cumulativenseatts of operations and comprehensive loss, changtockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the period Septemb&082 (inception) to December 31, 2013 include art®for the period from
September 4, 2002 (inception) to December 31, 288ith were audited by other auditors whose rejpastbeen furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to tmewants included for the period September 4, 2001th December 31, 2007 is
based solely on the report of other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiaUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan enfiorp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancet atieether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit mcludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit ancludes assessing the accounting principled asd significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfineancial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the regioother auditors, the consolidated financial stegsts referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the ficiahposition of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Ind anbsidiaries (a development
stage enterprise) as of December 31, 2012 and 20@i3he results of their operations and their €lasts for each of the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 and fqettied September 4, 2002 (inception) to DecembeR@13, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfingciples.

/s KPMG LLP
New York, New York
March 14, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated statements oatipes and comprehensive loss, changes in stocksdlelquity and cash
flows of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsyda development stage company) (the “Compafor”}he period from
September 4, 2002 (inception) through Decembe23Q7. The consolidated statements of operation€amgprehensive loss
and cash flows for this period are not presentpdrsgely herein. The consolidated financial statémare the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility Exaress an opinion on these financial statemestsdoan our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancet atfeether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Tmepany was not required to have, nor were we emgegperform an audit
of its internal control over financial reportingufaudit included consideration of internal contreér financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are gpjate in the circumstances, but not for the puepafsexpressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal mbmiver financial reporting. Accordingly, we expgeno such opinion. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsopgorting the amounts and disclosures in theafilg statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenenglhas evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audit provides a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredtiove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated results of
operations and consolidated cash flows of InterBéyairmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary (a developstage company) for the
period from September 4, 2002 (inception) througlténber 31, 2007 (not presented separately hémetonformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in theéd¢hStates of America.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
August 31, 2012

Except for the third paragraph of Note 1 as to Whic
the date is September 26, 2012
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities, available-for-sale
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Security deposits

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitidbil
Short-term portion of warrant liability
Short-term portion of deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of deferred revenue
Long-term portion of warrant liability
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock. 25,000,000 shares authorized; artk®@®B85 and
19,389,610, shares issued and outstanding as e 31, 2012 anc
2013, respectively; par value $0.001 per share

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net
Accumulated deficit during development stage

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31,

2012 2013
$ 45511,64 $ 13,363,18
64,682,27 131,468,79
1,584,30: 2,732,55
111,778,21 147,564,53
148,83t 1,672,29
251,54( 1,081,74
$112,178,59  $150,318,58
$ 374577 $ 7,259,80
7,596,65 —
1,621,62. 1,621,62,
12,964,05 8,881,42
10,540,54 8,918,901
22,762,13 50,112,13
46,266,73 67,912,48
16,52 19,39(
184,100,13 268,302,61
(21,45)) 59,85:
(118,183,35)  (185,975,76)
65,911,86 82,406,10
$112,178,59  $150,318,58

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtésients.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

Period From
Years Ended December 31, Sep(tlirgg&iroz:],)ZOOZ
Through Decembe
31,2013
2011 2012 2013 (Unaudited)
Licensing revenue $ 1,805,13 $ 2,446,100 $ 162162 $ 5,872,86:
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 11,426,15 16,182,56 27,941,50 99,376,19
General and administrative 4,209,42 5,177,12! 13,131,83 42,729,92
Total costs and expenses 15,635,58 21,359,69 41,073,34 142,106,11
Other income (expense):
Revaluation of warrants 1,044,82 (24,625,59) (28,441,06) (51,516,64)
Foreign currency loss on liquidation — (191,73) — (191,73)
Other income, net 47,97« 87,84¢ 100,37¢ 1,476,911
QTDP Grant — — — 488,95¢
1,092,801 (24,729,48) (28,340,69) (49,742,50)
Net loss (12,737,65)  (43,643,07) (67,792,410  (185,975,76)
Dividends on preferred stock, not
declared (3,000,001 (2,630,43) — (10,944,13)

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders

$(15,737,65)

$(46,273,50)

$ (67,792,41)

$(196,919,89)

Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ @479 $ (7.3 $ (3.76)
Weighted average shares outstandin
basic and diluted 3,329,66! 6,283,23i 18,028,73
Other comprehensive gain/(loss):
Unrealized (loss) income on investm
securities — (21,45)) 81,30 81,30
Foreign currency translation
adjustments (6,34%) 184,50( —

Total comprehensive loss

$(12,743,99)

$(43,480,02)

$ (67,711,10)

$(185,915,90)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financtésients.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder&quity
For the Period From September 4, 2002 (Inception) Arough December 31, 2013

. . . Deficit
Series A Series B Series C Accumulated Accumulated
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional During the Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Development Comprehensive Equity
Shares Amount  Shares Amount Shares Amount  Shares Amount Capital Stage Income (Loss)  (Deficit)

Initial capitalization

(founders) —

September 10, 200 — $ —_ — 3 — — $ — 949,03 $ 94c  $ 26,46¢ $ — $ — % 27,411
Subscription —

November 1, 2002 — — — — — — 60,57¢ 61 1,68¢ — — 1,75C
Subscription — October

1, 2003 — — — — — — 112,49 11z 3,13¢ — — 3,25(
Repurchase of founder

shares — October 27

2003 — — — — — —  (550,96() (552) (15,36¢) — — (15,917
Private placement —

from October 27,

2003 through May 5

2004 — — — — — —  392,16: 39z 2,832,08 — — 2,832,48I
Private placement —

November 8, 2005 — — — — — — 51,92. 52 374,94t — — 375,00(
Private placement May

8, 2006 — — — — — — 2,087,09 2,081 20,497,91 — — 20,500,00
Conversion of

promissory notes —

May 8, 2006 — — — — — — 160,63 161 1,341,08 — — 1,341,24
Commissions, legal, ar

other costs for prival

placement — — — — — — — — (1,500,13) — —  (1,500,13)
Stock-based

compensation:

Directors and

employees — — — — — — — — 604,37. — — 604,37.

Consultants — — — — — — — — 494,68 — — 494,68t
Exercise of stock optiol — — — — — — 6,12¢ 6 17,69¢ — — 17,70t
Exercise of warrants — — — — — — 51,92: 52 374,94 — — 375,00(
Other comprehensive

loss — — — — — — — — — — 84,97¢ 84,97¢
Net loss for the period

September 4, 2002

through December

31, 2007 — — — — — — — — —  (18,656,01) — (18,656,01)

Balance — December 3
2007 — — — — — — 3,321,01 $ 3,321 $25,053,53

F-6
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TABLE OF CONTENTS

) ) ) Deficit
Series A Series B Series C Accumulated Accumulated
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional  During the Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Development Comprehensive Equity
Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Income (Loss) (Deficit)
Stock-based
compensation:
Directors and
employees — — — — — — — — 682,02! — — 682,02!
Consultants — — — — — — — — 127,35¢ — — 127,35¢
Private placement May
23, 2008 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — — — 24,986,11 — — 25,000,00
Commissions, legal, ar
other costs — — — — — — — — (749,07Y — — (749,07Y
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — — — — — — (155,789 (155,784
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (13,704,87 — (13,704,87)
Balance — December 3.
2008 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — 3,321,0L 3,321 $50,099,95 $(32,360,88) $ (70,80¢) $17,685,47
Stock-based
compensation:
Directors and
employees — — — — — — — — 908,37} — — 908,37¢
Consultants — — — — — — — — 53,42¢ — — 53,42¢
Cumulative effect of
accounting
adjustment — — — — — — — — (2,187,680 — — (2,187,68I)
Exercise of stock optiol — — — — — — 8,65: 9 24,99 — — 25,00(
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — — — — — — (7,319 (7,319
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (14,354,52) — (14,354,52)
Balance — December 3
2009 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — — — — 3,329,661 3,33( $48,899,06 $(46,715,40) $ (78,12() $ 2,122,761
Stock-based
compensation:
Directors and
employees — — — — — — — — 1,604,11 — — 1,604,11
Consultants — — — — — — — — 88,76¢ — — 88,76¢
Private placement
January 20, 2010 — — 13,888,88 13,88t¢ — — — — 19,787,89 — — 19,801,78
Commissions, legal, ar
other costs — — — — — — — — (111,709 — — (111,709
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — — — — — — (100,03Y) (100,03Y
Net loss — — — — — — — — —  (15,087,22) — (15,087,22)
Balance — December 3
2010 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ 13,888,88 $  13,88¢ — — 3,329,661 3,33( $70,268,13 $(61,802,62) $ (178,15 $ 8,318,46!
Stock-based
compensation:
Directors and
employees — — — — — — — — 1,779,78! — — 1,779,78!
Consultants — — — — — — — — 85,97( — — 85,97(
Other comprehensive
loss — — — — — — — — — — (6,345 (6,345
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Series A

Series B

Series C

Accumulated  Accumulated

Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Development Comprehensive Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount  Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss)  (Deficit)

Net loss — — — — — — — — — — (12,737,65)
Balance — December 3

2011 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ — —  3,329,66' $ 3,33( $ 72,133,89 $ (74,540,27) $ (184,500 $ (2,559,77)
Stock-based

compensation:

Directors and

employees — — — — — — — — 2,436,43 — 2,436,43

Consultants — — — — — — — — 912,55¢ — 912,55¢
Private placement —

August 9, 2012 15,000,00  15,00( — — 29,715,00 — 29,730,00
Preferred shares

converted to commc

stock (13,888,88) 13,889 (13,888,88) (13,889 (15,000,00) (15,000 7,403,81 7,404 35,37« — —
Issuance of common

stock from initial

public offering, net c

underwriting fees an

issuance costs — — — — — — 5,750,000 5,75(  78,764,24 — 78,769,99
Warrants converted to

common stock — — — — — — 43,40: 43 1,018,17 — 1,018,21!
Reclassification of

warrants from equity

to liabilities — — — — — — — — (915,534 — (915,534
Other comprehensive

gain — — — — — — — — — 163,04¢ 163,04¢
Net loss — — — — — — — — — — (43,643,07)
Balance — December 3

2012 — — — — — — 16,526,88 $ 16,527 $184,100,13 $(118,183,35) $ (21,45) $65,911,86
Stock-based

compensation:

Directors and

employees — — — — — — — — 6,818,431 — 6,818,43

Consultants — — — — — — — — 2,627,65! — 2,627,65!
Issuance of common

stock from public

offering, net of

underwriting fees an

issuance costs — — — — — —  1,989,50 1,99C 61,167,34 — 61,169,33
Warrants converted to

common stock — — — — — — 235,41t 23t 8,695,58! — 8,695,82!
Net Proceeds from

exercise of stock

options — — — — — — 637,80¢ 63¢ 4,893,45 — 4,894,08!
Other comprehensive

income — — — — — — — — — 81,30« 81,30«
Net loss — — — — — — — — — — (67,792,41)
Balance — December 3

2013 — — — — — — 19,389,61 $ 19,39( $268,302,61 $(185,975,76) $ 59,85! $82,406,10
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
(used in) provided by operating activities:

Impairment of bonds

Loss from sale of assets

Depreciation

Foreign currency loss on liquidation
Stock-based compensation

Amortization of investment premium
Revaluation of warrants

Changes in:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and ot
current liabilities

Deferred revenue
Interest accrued on promissory notes

Net cash (used in) provided by operat
activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Redemptions of (investments in) certificates ¢
deposit

Purchases of investment securities
Sales of investment securities

Purchases of equipment, improvements, and
furniture and fixtures

Net cash provided by (used in) invest
activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of stock offerings, ne
issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
warrants

Payments of capital lease obligation
Proceeds from exercise of options
Proceeds from exercise of warrants

Proceeds from issuance of convertible
promissory notes payable

Net cash provided by (used in) financ
activities

Effect of exchange rate changes

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning

Years Ended December 31,

2011

2012

2013

Period from

September 4, 200:

(Inception)
Through

December 31, 201

(Unaudited)

$(12,737,65) $(43,643,07) $ (67,792,41) $(185,975,76)

— — — 151,40:
217,29( — = 217,29¢
410,60 201,32: 105,68: 2,472,35:

— 191,73: = 191,73
1,865,75. 3,348,98! 9,446,09  19,223,96
— 118,18( 1,614,88; 1,733,06:
(1,044,82) 24,62559  28,441,06  51,516,64
(630,42)) (387,69)  (1,714,13)  (3,073,75)
(83,23)  2,241,57! 3,514,03; 7,259,80!
14,608,227  (2,446,10)  (1,621,62)  10,540,53
— — - 91,24¢
2,605,78  (15,749,46)  (28,006,40)  (95,651,46)
(3,22) 3,32¢ — (627,63)
—  (65,940,97) (125,825,10) (191,766,08)

— 1,119,071  57,240,67  58,359,75
(62,81) (38,799  (1,629,14)  (3,026,37)
(66,044 (64,857,36)  (70,213,56) (137,060,33)
—  108,499,99  61,169,33  233,646,49

— — = 7,385,89
(249,66 (81,769 — (1,335,56)
— — 4,894,08' 4,936,79.

— — 8,091 383,09°

— — = 1,250,001
(249,66) 108,41823  66,071,52  246,266,72
(6,34) (7,239 = (191,73)
2,283,773  27,804,16  (32,148,45)  13,363,18



Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $17,707,47 $ 45,511,64 $ 13,363,18 $ 13,363,18
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Period from
Years Ended December 31, September 4, 200.
(Inception)
Through
2011 2012 2013 December 31, 201
(Unaudited)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 13,47¢ $ 4,232 % — $ 181,98(
Supplemental disclosures of noncash activitie
Conversion of promissory note payable,
including accrued interest of $91,250 into
common shares $ — $ — $ — $ 134124
Issuance of 108,169 warrants for private
placement agent fees — — — 1,471,48
Acquisition of equipment pursuant to capital
leases — — — 1,335,56
Issuance of common stock for cashless warre
exchange — 1,018,21! 8,695,58! 9,713,80

F-10
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Nature of Business

Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Intercept” or tBempany”), a development stage company, is alH@opaceutical
company focused on the development and commetiaiz of novel therapeutics to treat chronic liged intestinal diseases
utilizing its proprietary bile acid chemistry. T@@mpany’s product candidates have the potentisétd orphan and more
prevalent liver and intestinal diseases for whig@ré currently are limited therapeutic solutions.

The Company has its administrative headquarteikeinm York, New York and an office in San Diego, @alnia. Prior to
April 2011, the Company operated a wholly-ownedsgdibry in Italy where its bile acid receptor reséawas primarily
conducted. In April 2011, the Company began thegss of liquidating this subsidiary and has sirispabed of all assets.
However, the Company is continuing its early stA@d5 research through its collaboration with Lebdratories Servier and
Institut de Recherches Servier, or collectivelyw&ar On March 15, 2013, the Company decided to xentbe Italian
subsidiary from the legal liquidation process, whiemoval was completed as of July 15, 2013, soitticauld continue to act
as the Company’s legal representative for its cdihirials in the European Union to satisfy Eurap&aion regulatory
requirements. The Company is continuing its eadge TGR5 research through its collaboration wigs Laboratories Servier
and Institut de Recherches Servier, or collecti8dyvier. Intercept was incorporated in Delawar8eptember 2002.

On September 13, 2012, the board of directorsefXbmpany approved, and on September 25, 201 2dtihslders of the
Company approved, a one-for-5.7778 reverse stditko§phe Company’s outstanding common stock, whias effected on
September 26, 2012. All share and per share amautite financial statements have been retroagtiagjusted for all periods
presented to give effect to the reverse stock, spiituding reclassifying an amount equal to thducion in par value to
additional paid-in capital.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The Company'’s financial statements have been pedparconformity with accounting principles genraccepted in the
United States of America (GAAP). The preparatiofiidincial statements in conformity with GAAP regas management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegp@amounts of assets and liabilities and thdaBsce of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial sta¢erts and the reported amounts of revenues and sepering the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those egttes.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesae been prepared assuming that the Companyamifinue as a
going concern. The ability of the Company to becqmuditable depends on several factors, many otlare outside the
Company’s control. Such factors include the abilitypbtain regulatory approval of product candidated the ability to
successfully commercialize any approved productiickate. The Company'’s lead product candidate, 0@&,completed five
Phase 2 clinical trials, the double-blind treatn@mse of the Phase 3 POISE trial in primary hyil@mrhosis (PBC) and the
Phase 2b FLINT trial in non-alcoholic steatohem{lNASH), and is currently being tested in numeradditional clinical
trials. Therefore, the Company’s product candidatiéisrequire significant research and developnedfarts. The extent to
which the Company will be able to continue its ezsh and development efforts will also partiallydetermined by factors
outside the Company’s control, such as the natwlesatent of testing that will be required by th&U~ood and Drug
Administration (FDA) and equivalent agencies owgsifl the United States.

B. Segments

The Company operates in one segment. The Companiggharmaceutical company focused on discovedegeloping
and commercializing treatments for chronic lived amtestinal diseases utilizing its proprietaryetalcid chemistry.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @tinued)

C. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlw@ants of Intercept and its subsidiary, Interdegdia S.R.L. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaied in consolidation.

D. Reclassification

Certain amounts shown in prior years’ consoliddieahcial statements have been reclassified toaranfo the current year
consolidated financial statement presentation.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid securitgth a maturity of three months or less at acquisito be cash
equivalents.

F. Investment Securities

Investment securities are considered to be avaidtisale and are carried at fair value. Unredligains and losses, if any,
are reported as a separate component of stockebé&tprity. The cost of investment securities clessias available-for-sale is
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretibdiscounts to maturity. Such amortization ancretion are included in
interest income. Realized gains and losses, if amgyalso included in other income, net. The cbseourities sold is based on
the specific identification method.

G. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ ompany to concentrations of credit risk, prialipconsist of cash,
cash equivalents and investment securities. Thep@ogncurrently invests its excess cash primariljnoney market funds,
U.S. Treasury notes, and high quality, marketablat échstruments of corporations, financial instdns and government
sponsored enterprises. The Company has adoptedestrnent policy that includes guidelines relativeredit quality,
diversification and maturities to preserve printigad liquidity. The Company does not have anydimevestments in auction-
rate securities or securities that are collatezdlizy assets that include mortgages or subprime deb

H. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost, net of depti@epreciation is recorded using the straighé-lnethod over the
estimated useful lives of three to seven yearsdoipment and seven years for furniture and fidukeasehold improvements
are amortized over the shorter of the asset’s Ukffor the life of the lease term. Expenditufes maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred.

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of fixed assets. The Gmygvaluates long-lived assets for impairment wdhamts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouinofisset or group of assets may not be fully reeble

J. Revenue Recognition

All of the Company’s revenue during the periodsared by these financial statements has been ddfriveits research
and development and licensing collaborations. Thgseements include non-refundable up-front feestla@ potential for
research, development, regulatory and commerciakione fees, as well as royalties on sales afisieé products, if and when
such product sales occur. As of December 31, 20€3Company has received only up-front fees franedtlaborations.
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The Company evaluates all deliverables within aargyement to determine whether they provide vatua stand-alone
basis. Based on this evaluation, the deliverableseparated into units of accounting. The arramgeronsideration that is
fixed and determinable at the inception of therageanent is allocated to the separate units of att@ubased on relative fair
value. The Company may exercise significant judgnredetermining whether a deliverable is a sepawait of accounting, as
well as in estimating the selling prices of sucktsuaf accounting. For each unit of accounting tifexd within an arrangement,
the Company determines the period over which thiapeance obligation occurs and recognizes themeseising a straight-
line method.

The Company accounts for the development, regylaiod sales milestones within an arrangement iardance with the
milestone method of revenue recognition. This meows for the recognition of consideration whisktontingent on the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its efytiin the period the milestone is achieved. Eathré milestone is considered
substantive if it (i) relates solely to the pastfpenance of the intellectual property to achielve iilestone; (ii) is reasonable
relative to all of the deliverables and paymentitem the arrangement; and (i) is commensurath gither the Company’s
performance or the enhanced value of the inteliggitoperty as a result of a specific outcome tagufrom the Company’s
performance.

K. Research and Development

Research and development costs that do not hareatitve future use are charged to expense ag@uturhis includes the
cost of conducting clinical trials, compensation aelated overhead for employees and consultantdvied in research and
development and the cost of materials purchasekémarch and development.

L. Stock-Based Compensation

In 2003, the Board of Directors and the stockhadérthe Company approved the Amended and Re28@2I Stock
Incentive Plan (2003 Plan) which provided for tharging of restricted stock, stock options and o#tteck-related awards to
officers, directors, employees, advisors, and dbersts of the Company. Stock options were grantezkercise prices not less
than the fair market value of the Company’s commstmick on the date of grant. In May 2006, June 20@BJanuary 2010, the
number of shares of common stock available forasse under the 2003 Plan was increased to 519883381, and
1,384,610, respectively. Most options are schedude®@st over a period of up to four years. In Oetdb012, the 2003 Plan
terminated upon the pricing of the Company’s ihjiablic offering (IPO) (see note 10) and 555,848res available under the
2003 Plan were added to the 2012 Plan. All outstgnoptions issued under the 2003 Plan as of tteafaermination
remained outstanding and are subject to their otiseeterms and the terms of the 2003 Plan.

In September 2012, the Company'’s board of dire@ntsstockholders approved the 2012 Equity Incer®dan (2012
Plan), which became effective upon the pricinghef Company’s IPO in October 2012.

The 2012 Plan will expire on September 13, 2022iddthe 2012 Plan, the Company may grant incestivek options,
non-qualified stock options, restricted and unietstd stock awards and other stock-based awardsf Becember 31, 2013,
there were 348,690 shares of common stock autlbfiwassuance under the 2012 Plan. On Januar§113 and 2014, 661,075
and 775,584 shares of common stock, respectivelye wdded to the 2012 Plan in accordance witleritast.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pdanodel for determining the estimated fair valtiawards. Key inputs
and assumptions include the expected term of thierggstock price volatility, risk-free interesteadividend yield, stock price
and exercise price. The Company estimates forstwhen recognizing compensation expense and sdijuiiture estimates
over the vesting period based on actual or anteipforfeitures.
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The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@amsagor employees and directors on a straightdasts over the
requisite service period of the individual gramthjch is generally the vesting period, based oretanated grant date fair
values. The Company recognizes stock-based contpamsapense for consultants on a mark to marksishahich is updated
on a quarterly basis. Generally, stock optiong/fulist four years from the grant date and havena ¢ ten years.

M. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In conjunction with various financing transactiottes Company issued warrants to purchase the Cofigpe@mmon stock.
Certain of the warrants include a so-called “dosumnd” provision that provides for a reduction ie tharrant exercise price if
there are subsequent issuances of additional shficesnmon stock for consideration per share lleas the per share warrant
exercise prices and certain warrants contain aigiosvthat required the underlying shares to bésteged upon an IPO. These
warrants are deemed to be derivative instrumerdsaarsuch, are recorded as a liability and are edaté-market at each
reporting period using the Black-Scholes optioripg model. The Company estimates the fair valdidlseowarrants at each
reporting period using a Black-Scholes option-migcmodel that uses the inputs detailed in noted3tla@ contractual terms of
the warrants. Management has concluded, under thgp&uwy's facts and circumstances, that the estinfatedalues of the
warrants using the Black-Scholes option-pricing el@pproximates, in all material respects, theemlletermined using a
binomial valuation model. The estimates in the Bi&choles option-pricing model and the binomialsagion model are based,
in part, on subjective assumptions, including kattlimited to stock price volatility, the expectifé of the warrants, the risk
free interest rate and the fair value of the comstook underlying the warrants, and could diffetenally in the future.
Changes in the fair value of the common stock wediability from the prior period are recordedaasomponent of other
income and expense. Given the current market pfitee Company’s common stock, the Company belidvassit is unlikely
that the down round provision will be triggered@spect of the outstanding warrants.

The Company will continue to adjust the fair vatieghe common stock warrant liability at the enceath reporting period
for changes in fair value from the prior periodilittite earlier of the exercise or expiration of gmplicable common stock
warrants or until such time that the warrants aréonger determined to be derivative instruments.

N. Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability metbbdccounting for income taxes. Under this methisderred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the expectedreitax consequences of temporary differences legttree carrying amounts
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Aatado allowance is established against net defa¢eedssets if, based on the
weight of available evidence, it is more likely thaot that some or all of the net deferred taxtass#él not be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured) ehacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabteme in the years in
which those temporary differences are expectee t@bolved. The effect of a change in tax ratdaves on deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities is recognized in opierss in the period that includes the enactmere déthe rate change.

The deferred tax asset or liability representsrutax return consequences of those differenceishwiill be taxable when
the assets and liabilities are recovered or seffled provision for income taxes may differ frone thictual expense that would
result from applying the federal statutory raténtmome before taxes because certain expenses&orcial reporting purposes
are not deductible for tax purposes. At Decembe812 and 2013, the Company had available netatipgrloss
carryforwards for federal income tax purposes thuce future taxable income of approximately $70i#lan and $108.2
million, respectively, for tax reporting purposésese carryforwards expire between 2024 and 2082 ability of the
Company to utilize
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its net operating losses in future years is suligelimitation in accordance with provisions of 8en 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, due to prewansrship changes; however, these changes haveswtad in material
limitations to the Company’s ability to utilize tlnet operating losses. The Company’s combined & dstate and city deferred
tax asset of approximately $32.1 million, $42.1liol and $60.2 million at December 31, 2011, 204@ 2013, respectively,
resulted from the tax effects of net operatingdssand differences between the book and tax basésef share-based
compensation and depreciation. The Company dodsavet any material deferred tax liabilities. Managetrhas determined it
is uncertain whether any of the deferred tax asgilitse realized, and has provided an allowanceHe full amount of the tax
asset. As a result, the Company has not recordetheome tax benefit since its inception.

O. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegloss attributable to common stockholders bywtagghted average
shares outstanding during the period, without aersition for common stock equivalents. Net logsbattable to common
stockholders is net loss reduced by accrued didsiem preferred shares for the periods the prefestiares were outstanding.
Diluted net loss per share is calculated by adjgstieighted average shares outstanding for théwdileffect of common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period, determimgidg the treasury stock method. For purposeseoflilited net loss per share
calculation, preferred stock, stock options andrarés are considered to be common stock equivatbentsre excluded from
the calculation of diluted net loss per share bgedheir effect would be anti-dilutive and, therefdasic and diluted net loss
per share were the same for all periods presented.

P. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangddard, or the FASB, issued ASU No. 2013-02, “©Othe
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AmtslReclassified Out of Accumulated Other Compretvenincome,” or
ASU No. 2013-02. ASU No. 2013-02 supersedes theeptation requirements for reclassifications owctfumulated other
comprehensive income in ASUs 2011-05 and 2011-@i2eguires an entity to provide additional inforioatabout
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmsive income. ASU No. 2013-02 became effectivatierCompany
beginning January 1, 2013. The adoption of thisratmeent did not have a material impact on the Coryipamsults of
operations or financial position.

In July 2013, the FASB issued guidance on the firdrstatement presentation of an unrecognizethé¢zefit when a net
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax lossadax credit carryforward exists. The guidancefiective prospectively for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those geaeginning after December 15, 2013, with an opfito early adoption. The
Company intends to adopt this guidance duringitseduarter of 2014, and does not believe the &olopf this standard will
have a material impact on its consolidated findrat@tements.

3. Significant Agreements

Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. (DSP)

In March 2011, the Company entered into an exclugiease agreement with DSP to research, develdgammercialize
obeticholic acid (OCA) as a therapeutic for thatmeent of primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) and nar@lolic steatohepatitis
(NASH) in Japan and China (excluding Taiwan) aneted not to commercialize other FXR agonist compstor products for
PBC, NASH or specified additional indications iruatries in which DSP retains an exclusive licems®€A under the
agreement. Under the terms of the license agreetmen€ompany received an up-front payment from BE#L5.0 million
and may be eligible to receive additional milestpagments up to an aggregate of approximately $3dli@n in development
milestones based on the initiation or completionlisfical trials, $70.0 million in regulatory app@l
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milestones and $200.0 million in sales milestoiié® regulatory approval milestones include $15 Manifor receiving
marketing approval for OCA for NASH in Japan, $1fillion for receiving marketing approval for OCArfNASH in China,
and up to $5.0 million for receiving marketing apyal for OCA for PBC in the United States. The satelestones are based
on aggregate sales amounts of OCA and includerili®n for achieving net sales of $50.0 millior.G0 million for

achieving net sales of $100.0 million, $20.0 millimr achieving net sales of $200.0 million, $4tillion for achieving net
sales of $400.0 million and $120.0 million for a®king net sales of $1.2 billion. DSP is also reegiito make royalty payments
ranging from the tens to the twenties in percesedan net sales of OCA products in the DSP teyrifdSP has the exclusive
option to add several other Asian countries teeitstory, including Korea and Taiwan, and to p&r€dCA for additional
indications. DSP will be responsible for the castdeveloping and commercializing OCA in its terit.

The Company has evaluated the license agreemdnD8P and has determined that it is a revenuegeraent with
multiple deliverables, or performance obligatiofise Company’s substantive performance obligatiomeuthis license
include an exclusive license to its technologyhtécal and scientific support to the developmeahmnd participation on a
joint steering committee. The Company determined tthese performance obligations represent a sumgteof accounting,
since, initially, the license does not have staloth@value to DSP without the Company’s technigplegtise and steering
committee participation during the development &0 This development period is currently estimadsdontinuing through
June 2020 and, as such, the up-front paymentiiglvecognized ratably over this period. Duringykar ended December 31,
2011, 2012 and 2013, the Company recorded reveibe 2 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million, resgtively, in “License
Fees” in its Consolidated Statement of Operationsife Company'’s efforts under the agreement. Quedil1, 2012 and 2013,
the Company did not achieve any of the milestoakting to the agreement and did not recognizerewgnue related to such
milestones. The Company has determined that eaehtgad future development, regulatory and saldsstone is substantive.
In January 2014, the NIDDK stopped the double-btiedtment phase of the FLINT trial in NASH pat&etrly following a
planned interim analysis showing that OCA had metgrimary efficacy endpoint of the trial basedagore-defined interim
efficacy criteria. This event met the criteria fbe payment to the Company by DSP of a developméastone of $1.0 million
which will be recorded as revenue in the first ¢eraof 2014.

Les Laboratories Servier and Institut de Recherct@arvier (Servier)

In August 2011, the Company entered into a resezolthboration agreement with Servier under whigh €ompany
granted Servier the exclusive license to reseaevelop and commercialize TGR5 agonists synthediyadhder the research
program conducted pursuant to the agreement (titharthe Company’s preclinical product candidat€E767 and INT-777,
which were not synthesized under the research anogior use in the treatment of diabetes, obeatherosclerosis and
reperfusion injury in all countries other than theited States and Japan. The agreement expires mehpayment obligations
are or will become due and may be terminated edyie¢he parties in certain circumstances.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Companyvwed&in up-front payment from Servier of $1.4 millidhe Company is
also eligible to receive up to an aggregate of agprately €8.5 million in development milestoneséad on the initiation of
clinical trials by Servier or the selection by Senof product candidates for development, inclgdinpayment of €4.0 million
upon the determination by Servier to initiate ageha clinical trial for the first product candidateder the agreement. The
Company may also receive up to an aggregate obajppately €10.0 million in regulatory submissiordaapproval milestones,
including a payment of €5.0 million upon the fipsbduct candidate under the agreement achievingategy approval in the
EU for its initial indication. The agreement alsmtemplates up to an aggregate of approximately0&@®dlion in sales
milestones, including a payment of €10.0 millioronghe first product candidate under the agreememeving its first
commercial sale, €10.0 million upon achieving red¢s
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of €200.0 million for a product, €20.0 million upachieving net sales of €400.0 million for a prad&€25.0 million for
achieving net sales of €500.0 million for a prodaretl €25.0 million for achieving net sales of €60fillion for a product.
Servier is also obligated to pay the Company ragmlased on net sales of products developed timel@agreement on a
country-by-country basis.

Intercept and Servier will jointly support the disery effort, while Servier alone will be responsifor all costs associated
with the global development, regulatory approval eammercialization of any compound selected &ad tandidate by the
parties. The Company agreed to reimburse Serviéo apmid-double digit percentage of the totaldrisal development costs
incurred by Servier in relation to clinical devedognt activities aimed at achieving regulatory apptin the European Union
and the United States if the Company enters iqgartnership agreement, or commences developmeaemercialization
activities, with respect to any such compound eltmited States. Servier may credit a portion gfr@mbursable
development costs against any milestone or royafyments due and payable to the Company by Semdsr the research
collaboration agreement until all such reimbursaeunts are repaid. During the year ended Decegihe2011, 2012 and
2013, the Company did not reimburse any developmmests to Servier. It is not anticipated that amghscosts will be
reimbursed to Servier in 2014, as no reimbursagleldpment costs are planned during 2014.

The Company evaluated the research collaboraticeatent with Servier and has determined thatatrsvenue
arrangement with multiple deliverables, or perfoncegobligations. The Company’s substantive perfocaabligations under
this research collaboration include an exclusigerise to its technology, technical, scientific antdllectual property support to
the research plan during the first year of the egient and participation on an executive committekaaresearch and
development committee. The Company determinedliest performance obligations represent a singteofiaccounting,
since the license does not have stand-alone val8ervier without the Company’s technical experéisd committee
participation during the initial 12-month periochd Company has determined that each potentiakfutevelopment, regulatory
and sales milestone is substantive.

The up-front payment was recognized ratably overetstimated 12-month performance period as tharmasand
development and executive committee services wenaded. During the year ended December 31, 20012 2nd 2013, the
Company recorded revenue of $589,000, $824,00C@mdlated to the Company’s efforts under the ®emirangement,
which was recorded in “License Fees” in the Compma@pnsolidated Statement of Operations. As thé& o payment was
fully recognized as of September 30, 2012, no regemas recorded during the year ended Decemb@0338,and no further
revenue will be recognized for the up-front payment

The Company is required to conduct a research anoginder the agreement to identify and optimizepmmds that meet
certain specified criteria sufficient for furtheexcelopment by Servier. The Company has engageésaaf Pellicciari and TES
Pharma SRL (TES) to provide the research servamsined under the agreement, as described belovieSes required to
reimburse the Company for the full time equivalendts incurred by the Company in the conduct ofélsearch program, up to
a set maximum amount. The Company recognizes fhense reimbursement from Servier as a reductioesefarch and
development expenses as the Company is acting ageah regarding these research activities. Allartoincurred by the
Company for research under the Servier agreemeintgdihe year ended December 31, 2011, 2012 an8, 28dluding the
amounts incurred under the related agreementsRuifessor Pellicciari and TES, were covered unueiServier agreement.
At December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company hasded®496,000 and $506,000, respectively in prepgiginses and other
assets for amounts due from Servier for such expeximibbursement.

The research portion of the collaboration may bdereded by mutual agreement by the parties for omeove additional
years. In July 2012, February 2013 and August 20&3erm of the research program was
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extended until January 31, 2013, July 31, 2013%smtember 30, 2013, respectively, on the samediakierms as the existing
research program, including the reimbursement byi&e In November 2013, the Company and Servighér extended the
research program until September 30, 2015 on the $imancial terms as the existing agreement, stitth extension being
effective as of October 1, 2013.

Sponsored Research Agreement (SRA) with the Uniigisf Perugia and Professor Pellicciari

The Company is engaged in a sponsored researobnagmé with the University of Perugia and Profesdoberto
Pellicciari, a founder of the Company, to desigmtlsesize, optimize, scale-up, and develop phartogmally active ligands
for bile acid receptors. Under the SRA, the Comparassigned ownership of any patent and intelfégitoperty rights arising
from the research project. The Company paid therétsity of Perugia €100,000 quarterly commencirlg du2006 through
2010 and €100,000 for the fiscal year 2011. In 2812 Company amended and restated the SRA toce#tierterm to the end
of 2012 and paid the University of Perugia €80,@0iscal 2012. In April 2013, by mutual agreemehthe parties, the term
of this agreement was extended, effective as afalgrl, 2013, until December 31, 2013 on the sanamfial terms as were
previously in effect. The Company is currently @nplating an extension of this agreement. The Compas recognized
expense for the years ended December 31, 2011,&@12013 of $138,000, $104,000 and $108,000, c&sphy.

Consulting Agreements with Professor Pellicciari

The Company entered into an amended and restatsdltog and intellectual property agreement withf€ssor Pellicciari
on November 1, 2008, which was amended on Octohe2®L0. Pursuant to this agreement, as amende@dmpany was
required to pay Professor Pellicciari €8,000 pentihh@hrough December 31, 2010 for consulting sexid@ he agreement also
required the Company to make a lump sum payme@t 62,500 and monthly payments of €12,000 througteBer 31, 2010
for the assignment of certain intellectual propeigits. The Company entered into amended andtegstansulting and
intellectual property agreements with Professolid@éri on January 1, 2011 and January 1, 2018&yant to which the
Company agreed to pay Professor Pellicciari aneagge of €100,000 per year for services providealtsh December 31,
2012 for consulting services and intellectual propeghts in relation to OCA, INT-767 and INT-7product candidates. In
April 2013, by mutual agreement of the parties,tédren of this agreement was extended, effectivef danuary 1, 2013, until
December 31, 2013 on the same financial terms &s previously in effect. The Company is currentyemplating an
extension of this agreement.

On August 1, 2011, the Company signed a separatemgnt with Professor Pellicciari for consultirgwces and
intellectual property rights related to his sergiom the TGR5 program and the Servier license ypmtsto which the Company
agreed to pay him an aggregate of €150,000 fosdngces through July 31, 2012. This agreementmisades that Professor
Pellicciari will be eligible for a performance banaf €50,000 based on the results of the reseaitdboration. The
performance bonus is a discretionary bonus basex tlyg Company’s assessment of the success afittad work performed
under the collaboration, as extended. No such bbas$een agreed upon by the parties as of Dece&hp2013. In July 2012,
February 2013 and August 2013, by mutual agreewfehe parties, the term of this agreement wasnelae until January 31,
2013, July 31, 2013 and September 30, 2013, ra@gphstin conjunction with the extension of therteof the research program
with Servier, on the same financial terms as thgiral consulting agreement with Professor Pelliaciin November 2013, in
conjunction with the extension of the research @ogwith Servier, the parties further extendeddtesulting agreement until
September 30, 2015 on the same financial termiseasriginal consulting agreement with Professolidigri, with such
extension being effective as of October 1, 2012 Tbmpany has recognized expense related to thesenaents for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 $266,026,(8) and $338,000, respectively.
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TES Pharma SRL (TES)

In August 2011, the Company contracted with TEBrtwvide research and development services for dmepgany’s TGR5
program through July 31, 2012 to enable the Compamyphold its obligations for providing such sees under the Servier
agreement described above. Professor Pelliccian imwner of TES. The Company is required undeagreement to pay TES
an aggregate amount of €250,000 each quarter dilmntgrm of the agreement. The agreement prottdg@ny funds paid to
TES that have not been expended or irrevocably dtiedrat the expiration of the agreement will biineled to the Company.

The agreement had a term of one year unless thep&uwomin its sole discretion, extended the terrthisf agreement for one
additional year on the same terms and conditionleeasurrent agreement. In July 2012, February 2848 August 2013 by
mutual agreement of the parties, the term of this@ment was extended until January 31, 2013,3lyl2013, and September
30, 2013, respectively, in conjunction with theemdion of the term of the research program witlvi8eron the same financial
terms as the original agreement with TES.

In November 2013, in conjunction with the extensibithe research program with Servier, the paggreed to further
extend the research agreement with TES until SdggeB0, 2015, with such extension being effectvefaOctober 1, 2013.
Pursuant to the amended agreement, the Compaggused to pay TES an aggregate amount of €25@A@0quarterly basis
during the extended term. The Company also ageepbivide TES with a single digit royalty basedvaorldwide net sales of
products developed under the agreement on a cebptcpuntry basis. Royalty rates are subject taic&dn under the
agreement in specified circumstances, including waspect to any country if sales of generic prégiteach a certain threshold
in that country.

The Company has incurred charges related to theeagent for the year ended December 31, 2011, 2042013,
$596,000, $1.3 million and $1.2 million, respeciyve

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive anddfiey Disease Institute (NIDDK)

In 2010, the Company contracted with the NIDDKaf National Institute of Health to research the&# of OCA for the
treatment of patients with nonalcoholic steatohiépah a Phase 2b clinical trial called the FLINTal. Under the contract with
the NIDDK, the Company made a milestone paymefldd million in June 2012 following notification lune 2012 that the
FLINT trial will continue based upon the resultsadblinded interim analysis. The Company has reizeghexpense related to
this contract for the years ended December 31,,220012 and 2013 of $250,000, $2.3 million and $8pectively, and does not
have any additional contractual payments remaining.

WIL Research Laboratories, LLC (WIL)

On October 2, 2007, the Company entered into agnkdioratory services agreement with WIL Reseaatioratories,
LLC to perform certain research and laboratoryises: The agreement was amended in October 20Eladieement has a
term ending on October 2, 2013, which automaticatended through October 2014 and for successigeg/ear periods,
unless either party gives written notice to thesofarty at least 60 days prior to the end of threent term. Either the Company
or WIL may terminate the agreement upon 90 dayemrinotice. However, if a work order pertaininghe ongoing studies is
outstanding, WIL may not terminate the agreemettt @0 days written notice until the work order bagn completed or
otherwise terminated.

On November 16, 2011, the Company finalized twokwayders with WIL for FDA-required studies in miaad rats to
investigate the presence or absence of carcinogeténitial of OCA. The Company has agreed to pagggnegate of $4.0
million for the studies, consisting of a combinatiaf quarterly installment payments of approxima&300,000 and milestone
payments totaling approximately $400,000 upon egjiv
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of final result reports. As the in-life portion thfe study has completed, the Company anticipatgghke final reports will be
delivered in the second half of 2014. If additiocasts are incurred beyond the amounts specifititcinvork orders, the
Company has agreed to pay such reasonable addlitmsta upon receipt of proper invoice. The Compamycipates that all
the studies will continue through completion, ailastones will be satisfied and that it will payWdL an aggregate of $4.0
million under this agreement. The Company has neized expense related to these contracts and wti&rorders for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 ®f4illion, $1.6 million and $2.0 million, respectily.

4. Investments

The following table summarizes the Company’s caakh equivalents and investments as of Decemb&032, and
December 31, 2013:

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 4551 $ - $ — $ 45,51
Investment Securities:

Commercial paper 12,97 10 (15 12,96¢
Corporate debt securities 41,86¢ 7 (23 41,85(
U.S. government and agency securities 9,861 4 — 9,86t
Total investments 64,69¢ 21 (39 64,68:

Total cash, cash equivalents and investment $110,21( $ 21 $ (39 $ 110,19

As of December 31, 2013

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $ 13,360 $ — $ — $ 13,36
Investment Securities:

Commercial paper 7,99: 1 — 7,994
Corporate debt securities 115,70« 11E (59 115,76(
Municipal securities 1,051 1 — 1,052
U.S. government and agency securities 6,657 6 — 6,66
Total investments 131,40! 12z (59 131,46¢

Total cash, cash equivalents and investment: $144,76¢ $ 122 $ (59 $ 144,83
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4. Investments — (continued)

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesnd fair value of the Company’s available-fde-§avestments
aggregated by investment category and length & timat individual securities have been in the pmsit

As of December 31, 2012

Less than 12 months 12 Months or greater Total

(in thousands)

Gross Gross Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Commercial paper $ 1046: $ (15 $ — 3 — $ 1046: $ (15
Corporate debt securities 29,83« (29) — — 29,83« (23
Total available-for-sale securities $ 40,29 $ (389 % — 3 — $ 40,29' $ (39

As of December 31, 2013

Less than 12 months 12 Months or greater Total

(in thousands)

Gross Gross Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

Corporate debt securities $ 951t $ (2 $ 31,31 $ (57 $ 40,827 $ (59
Total $ 951 $ (2 $3131:$% (57 $ 4082 $ (59

5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consfdtesifollowing:

December 31,

2012 2013

(in thousands)

Prepaid expenses $ 97C $ 1,27%
Interest receivable — 834
Contract receivable 49¢€ 50€
Certificates of deposit 77 78
Refundable tax credits 42 38
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 158 $ 2,73¢

6. Fixed Assets, Net

Fixed assets are stated at cost and depreciatdamtized using the straight-line method, baseds&iul lives as follows:

December 31,

Useful Lives
(Years) 2012 2013
(in thousands)

Office equipment 3 $ 357 $ 364

Over life
Leasehold improvements of lease 17¢€ 1,15¢

Over life
Furniture and fixtures under capitalized lease of lease 157 —
Furniture and fixtures 7 121 44E
Subtotal fixed assets 812 1,96¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (664) (299)

Fixed assets, net $ 14¢ $ 1,672
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6. Fixed Assets, Net — (continued)

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013 was $1,1%201,000 and
$106,000, respectively. During 2011, the Companged its facility in Italy and in August 2011, iarmection with entering
into the TES agreement (note 3), transferredgtstsiin its certain fixed assets located at tHaahdacility to TES. As a result,
in 2011 the Company recognized a $217,000 losh@disposal of fixed assets.

7. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other lhdities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisteti@following:

December 31,

2012 2013

(in thousands)

Accounts payable $ 1,18 $ 3,19¢
Accrued employee compensation 1,33¢ 2,15¢
Accrued contracted services & other 1,231 1,90¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiiadil $ 3,746 $ 7,26(

8. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

The Company’s activity related to warrants to pasghshares of common stock of the Company is motéx table below.

Warrants to Weighted
Purchase Average Exercise
Common Stock Price Expiration

Warrants issued in 2003 2,16: $ 2.8¢ @
Warrants issued in 2003 2,16: 8.67 @
Warrants issued in 2004 117,64 2.8¢ @
Warrants issued in 2004 19,60¢ 2.8¢ @
Warrants issued in 2004 117,64 8.67 @
Warrants issued in 2005 138,46: 7.2z @
Warrants issued in 2006 86,53¢ 9.82 ®)
Warrants issued in 2006 20,48: 9.82 @)
Warrants exercised in 2007 (51,927 7.22
Warrants issued in 2008 108,16¢ 10.4( @
Warrants issued in 2010 865,38: 10.4( 1/25/201!
Warrants expired in 2010 (86,539 7.22
Warrants expired in 2011 (107,019 9.82
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Dece

31, 2011 1,232,76 9.3¢
Warrants exercised in 2012 (70,807) 8.5¢
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Dece

31, 2012 1,161,96! $ 9.42
Warrants exercised in 2013 (287,709 6.62
Warrants expired in 2013 (8,875 5.71
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Dece

31, 2013 865,38: $ 10.4C
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8. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock — (continued)

1. All exercised.
2. All exercised or expired.
3. All expired.

As discussed in note 2, all of the warrants hawnlmkeemed to be derivative instruments that redjaiéity classification
and mark-to-market accounting. The warrants thatato an exercise price adjustment are deemedadés pursuant to an
accounting standard that became effective on Jariy&009. The warrants that require the underlgimgres to be registered
upon an IPO met the criteria to be a derivativenuihe closing of the IPO in October 2012. The Yailues of the warrants are
reflected in the accompanying balance sheets angl eetermined using the Black-Scholes option-pgeirodel using the
following weighted average assumptions:

December 31,

2012 2013
Stock price $34.2¢ $68.2¢
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Expected term (in years) 1.72 1.07
Risk free interest rate 0.22% 0.15%
Expected volatility 84.01% 57.2¢%

The expected term is based on the remaining tersaat warrant. The risk free interest rate is baseithe rate for U.S.
Treasury securities for the expected term of eamfamt valued. The expected volatility was estima@ely based on
historical volatility information of peer companittgat was publicly available in 2012 and based wgpbtend of the historical
volatility information of peer companies and then@@ny’s own volatility for 2013. Given the substahincrease in the price
of the Company’s common stock in January 2014 ¥ahg the news that the NIDDK had decided to stapdbuble-blind
treatment phase of the FLINT trial early for effigathe Company expects this warrant liability tatemially increase in the first
quarter of 2014.

9. Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts of the Company'’s receivabtespayables approximate their fair value due tar gteort maturities.

Accounting principles provide guidance for using fealue to measure assets and liabilities. Theauie includes a three
level hierarchy of valuation techniques used tosueafair value, defined as follows:

¢ Unadjusted Quoted Prices Fhe fair value of an asset or liability is baseduoadjusted quoted prices in active mar
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

«  Pricing Models with Significant Observable InputsThe fair value of an asset or liability is basedinformation
derived from either an active market quoted pridgich may require further adjustment based on ttnéates of the
financial asset or liability being measured, oiractive market transaction (Level 2).

«  Pricing Models with Significant Unobservable Input The fair value of an asset or liability is pairily based on
internally derived assumptions surrounding thergraand amount of expected cash flows for the firdmestrument.
Therefore, these assumptions are unobservabléigr gin active or inactive market (Level 3).
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9. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

The Company considers an active market as one ichvitansactions for the asset or liability occuthvsufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing informat@man ongoing basis. Conversely, the Company vawigactive market
as one in which there are few transactions foas®et or liability, the prices are not currentpice quotations vary
substantially either over time or among market maké&/here appropriate, non-performance risk, ardha counterparty, is
considered in determining the fair values of licieis and assets, respectively.

The Company’s cash deposits and money market faredslassified within Level 1 of the fair value tgiechy because they
are valued using bank balances or quoted marketrinvestments are classified as Level 2 instnisrgased on market
pricing and other observable inputs. None of then@any’s investments are classified within Level 3he fair value hierarchy.
The Company’s warrant liability has been valuedspant to the discussion in note 8 above and thinslisded in Level 3.

Financial assets and liabilities, carried at failue are classified in the tables below in onénefthree categories described
above:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for Other Significant
Identical Assets or Observable Unobservable
Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)

December 31, 2012

Assets:
Money market funds $2486. $ 24.86: $ — =
Available for sale securities:
Commercial paper 12,96¢ — 12,96¢ —
Corporate debt securities 41,85( — 41,85( —
U.S. government and agency securities 9,86t — 9,86t —
Total assets: $8954: % 2486: $ 6468, $ —
Liabilities:
Warrants to purchase common stock $(30,359) $ — 3 — $ (30,359
Total liabilities $(30,359 $ — % — $ (30,359
Fair Value Measurements Using
Significant
Quoted Prices in Active Other Significant
Markets for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets or Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)

December 31, 2013

Assets:

Money market funds $ 821t $ 8,21t $ — 3 =
Available for sale securities:

Commercial paper 7,994 — 7,994 —
Corporate debt securities 115,76( — 115,76( —
U.S. government and agency securities 6,66° — 6,66 —
Municipal securities 1,052 — 1,052 —
Total assets: $139,68¢ $ 8,21¢ $ 131,46 $ =
Liabilities:

Warrants to purchase common stock $(50,11) $ — % — $ (50,119

Total liabilities $(50,11) $ — 3 — $ (50,11)
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9. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

The estimated fair value of marketable debt séesrfcommercial paper, corporate debt securitieS, government and
agency securities, and municipal securities) &ewfember 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, by couahmaturity, are as
follows:

Fair Value as of Decembe

2012 2013

(in thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 32,07¢ $ 56,04
Due after one year through 2 years 32,60: $ 75,42t
Total investments in debt securities $64,68. $ 131,46¢

Actual maturities may differ from contractual mdtiess because issuers may have the right to catepay obligations
without call or prepayment penalties.

10. Stockholders’ Equity and Preferred Stock

Common Stock

In September 2002, the Company issued 949,035sshhommmon stock at a price of $0.03 per shatbedounders of the
Company (Founders’ shares).

In November 2002, the Company issued 60,576 sloi@@mmon stock at a price of $0.03 per shareegtimcipal
investigators and other researchers of the Comparsuant to an authorization by the Board of Doexto issue and sell these
shares by subscription to the named parties iruoatipn with the signing of certain research agreeis

In October 2003, the Company issued 112,498 stwdui@smmon stock at a price of $0.03 per shareadwlo principal
investigators pursuant to an authorization by tbarB of Directors to issue and sell these sharesibgcription.

In October 2003, the Company repurchased and @h860,960 Founders’ shares from certain foundetteedCompany at
a price of $0.03 per share.

From October 2003 through May 2004, pursuant tovafe placement agreement dated October 200& dingpany issued
an aggregate of 392,163 shares of common stochriteof $7.22 per share, receiving net proceé¢&2 @ million after
$474,000 in related offering costs. In additioras3l A warrants to purchase 137,251 shares of corstnok and Class B
warrants to purchase 117,640 shares of common steckissued to the placement agent and its asagadditional placement
agent commission under the terms of the placengsritaagreement.

In November 2005, the Company issued 51,922 sloi@@mmon stock, warrants with a two-year termuocpase 51,922
shares of common stock at an exercise price 02472 share and warrants with a five-year termutclpase 86,538 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $7.22 pereskdirpursuant to a private subscription agreemshttwo outside
investors, receiving net proceeds of $375,000.

In May 2006, pursuant to a private placement agreerntee Company issued 2,087,091 shares of cominchk at a price
of $9.82, receiving net proceeds of $19.5 milliafter $1.0 million in related offering costs. AlsoMay 2006, the Company’s
6% convertible promissory notes that were issuedekioruary 2005 with a face amount of $1.3 millialong with $91,000 of
accrued interest, were converted into 160,637 stafreommon stock at a price of $8.35 per sharsyaunt to the mandatory
conversion terms of the notes.

F-25




TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
10. Stockholders’ Equity and Preferred Stock — (aatinued)

In October 2012, the Company completed the IP@afammon stock pursuant to a registration statemefrorm S-1. In
the IPO, the Company sold an aggregate of 5,75G0afkes of common stock under the registratioerstant at a public
offering price of $15.00 per share. Net proceedeweproximately $78.7 million, after deducting angriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by timep@oy. Upon the closing of the IPO, all outstandihgres of the
Company’s preferred stock (described below) wereveded into 7,403,817 shares of common stock. thafdilly, upon
completion of the IPO, the Company is now authatieissue 25,000,000 shares of common stock, $(Qabvalue per share,
and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.00¢glae per share.

In June 2013, the Company completed a public affeof 1,989,500 shares of its common stock at &gafiering price of
$33.01 per share. The shares were registered piitsua registration statement on Form S-1. Netgeds were approximately
$61.2 million, after deducting underwriting disceaiand commissions and offering expenses payahtleeb@ompany.

Dividends

The holders of common stock are entitled to recdivielends from time to time as declared by therBa# Directors. No
cash dividend may be declared or paid to commarkbtidders until paid on each series of outstangiederred stock in
accordance with their respective terms.

Voting

The holders of shares of common stock are entitiexhe vote for each share held with respect tmatters voted on by the
stockholders of the Company.

Preferred Stock

In May 2008, to effectuate the sale of Series Agarefl stock, the Company amended and restateaitgi€ate of
Incorporation in its entirety to increase the numifeshares of preferred stock it was authorizeiddoe to 13,888,889 shares
and to designate such shares as Series A prefgoekl In May 2008, 13,888,889 shares of Seriesefepred stock were sold
to Genextra for net proceeds of $24.3 million, a&#%@49,000 in related offering costs. In connectigil this financing, the
Company issued warrants with a five-year term teipase 108,169 shares of common stock at $10.4¢hpee to the
placement agent.

In January 2010, the Company further amended astdted its Certificate of Incorporation in its eety to increase the
number of shares of preferred stock it was authdrip issue to 27,777,778 shares and designat8881889 of such shares as
Series B preferred stock. In January 2010, 13,&88sBares of Series B preferred stock and a wawidmta five-year term to
purchase 865,381 shares of common stock at $1@rghpre were sold to Genextra for $24.9 millidtera112,000 in related
offering costs.

In August 2012, the Company further amended arntdtesbits Certificate of Incorporation in its esty to increase the
number of shares of preferred stock it was authdrip issue to 52,777,778 shares and designated®600 of such shares as
Series C preferred stock. In August 2012, 15,0@dares of Series C preferred stock were solcetees@ra and OrbiMed
Advisors LLC for $29.7 million, after $300,000 ielated offering costs. Upon the completion of #A©] all outstanding shares
of the Company’s preferred stock, including 13,888, shares of Series A preferred stock, 13,88888%s of Series B
preferred stock and 15,000,000 shares of Seriggf€rped stock, were converted into 7,403,817 shafeommon stock and
all accrued dividends on the preferred stock wéneirated.
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan

Upon the pricing of the IPO in October 2012, th&2@lan became effective. At the same time, th& Z08n was
terminated and 555,843 shares available under®8 Rlan were added to the 2012 Plan. See note 2L.

The estimated fair value of the options that haaenbgranted under the 2003 and 2012 Plans is detamtilizing the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model at the dateraing The fair value of the restricted stock utitst have been granted under
the 2012 Plan is determined utilizing the clositagk price on the date of grant. There were 60gtkles available for grant
remaining under the 2003 Plan at December 31, 26#81348,690 and 409,914 shares available for geamining under the
2012 Plan at December 31, 2012 and 2013, resphctde January 1, 2013 and 2014, the numbers agshaserved for
issuance under the 2012 Plan was increased by @bartl 775,584 shares, respectively, as a resthiecutomatic increase in
shares reserved pursuant to the terms thereof.

Stock-based compensation expense for the years @wtember 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 includes corafienexpense
for employee, director and consultant stock opgicants and restricted stock grants as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Stock options expense:

Employees and directors $ 1,78 $ 2,162 $ 5,17
Consultants 86 822 2,27
1,86¢ 2,98¢ 7,44¢

Restricted stock expense:
Employees and directors — 307 1,64¢€
Consultants — 58 352
— 365 1,99¢
Total $ 1,866 $ 3,34¢ $ 9,44¢

Stock Options

The Company estimated the fair value of stock mgtigranted in the periods presented using a Blablo!8s option-pricing
model utilizing the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013
Volatility 107 -11%% 107 -115% 95 -11%
Expected term (in years) 5.0-6.C 5.0-6.C 5.3-6.1
Risk-free interest rate 11-1.4% 0.7 —0.8% 0.9 -3.C%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Stock price $8.67 $8.67 — B4.2¢ $32.24 — $8.2¢

The stock price for options granted prior to th® WWas determined based on a valuation of the Coppanmmon stock.
For options granted after the IPO, the stock pedee closing price on the date of grant. The fisk interest rate was based on
the rate for U.S. Treasury securities at the datgant with maturity dates approximately equathte expected life at the grant
date. The expected life for options was based ersithplified method in accordance with SEC Stafé@unting Bulletin Nos.
107 and 110 as the Company does not have sufficistarical exercise data due to the limited pedbtime the Company’s
shares have been publicly traded. The expectedilitglavas estimated based on historical volatilitfjormation of peer
companies that are publicly available.
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For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012 ar®] #6.Company granted options to employees amdtdirs totaling
214,962, 213,991 and 584,550, respectively, withggregate fair market value of $1.5 million, $&lion and $17.8 million,
respectively. For the years ended December 31,, 201P and 2013, the Company granted options teuttamts in the amount
of 6,056, 16,441 and 23,250, respectively, wittaggregate fair market value of $42,000, $293,0@D%in3 million,

respectively.

The Company’s combined outstanding employee aneengoloyee option activity for the period from Dedemn 31, 2012

through December 31, 2013 is summarized as follows:

Outstanding at December 31, 2012

Granted
Exercised

Cancelled/forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2013

Expected to vest

Exercisable

788,94¢ $  10.5Z

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Contractual Aggregate
Number of Average Term Intrinsic Value
Shares Exercise Price (years) (in thousands)
1,526,15! $ 10.67 $ 35,967
584,55( $ 37.7¢ .
(576,47) $ 9.51 $ (20)
(9,389 $  14.6: $ (509
1,524,83 $ 21.4% $ 71,40
696,48! $ 33.2¢ 8.8/ $ 24,42

6.4C $ 45,56¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of options is calmdaas the difference between the exercise pritieeofinderlying options
and the deemed fair value of the Company’s comntmekdor those shares that had exercise pricesrltvesm the deemed fair
value of the Company’s common stock. As of Decenfie2013, the total compensation cost relatedtowested awards not
yet recognized is approximately $17.6 million watveighted average remaining vesting period of 2e9s.

The following table summarizes additional informatabout stock options outstanding:

December 31, 2013

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Exercise Price

Aggregate

Intrinsic Value ~ Number
(in thousands)

Aggregate
Weighted-Average Intrinsic Value

of Shares Remaining Life (years) (in thousands)

$2.89 — $25.00
$25.01 — $50.00
$50.01 — $75.00

Options exercisable and

expected to become
exercisable

53,57¢ 781,64!

17,16¢ 7,30(C
65¢ =
71,407 788,94¢

0.8-8< $ 53,57¢
9.2 17,16¢

= 65¢

$ 71,40:

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 012 was approximately $19.8 million. The total featue of share that

vested in 2013 was $3.9 million.
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11. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Plan(continued)
Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the aggregate sttistock activity for the years ended Decembef811, 2012, and
2013:

Weighted

Average
Number of Grant Date Fair

Shares Value

Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2011 — —
Granted 176,18t $ 23.5¢
Exercised — $ —
Cancelled/forfeited — 3 —
Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2012 176,18t $ 23.5¢
Granted 24690 $ 31.9C
Exercised (79,809 % 23.4¢
Cancelled/forfeited — $ —
Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2013 121,06¢ $ 25.3(

As of December 31, 2013, there was $2.5 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to wi/esstricted stock,
which is expected to be recognized over a weightenlage of 1.47 years.

The following table summarizes additional informatabout restricted stock units outstanding:

Intrinsic
Number of Issue Value
Shares Price (in thousands)
21.50-
Employees and directors 109,64 $ 31.9C $ 4,88¢
21.50-
Consultants 11,42: % 31.9( 522
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 121,06¢ $ 5,407

12. QTDP

In 2010, the Company recognized other income relt¢he Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Proje@TOP). The QTDP
program was created by the United States Congsegaraof the Patient Protection and AffordableeCaet and provided for
reimbursement of certain costs paid or incurredgu2009 and 2010 directly related to the condfiet @ TDP. During the year
ended December 31, 2010, the Company was awar@Sop® related to this program, which is includedther income in
the accompanying statement of operations.

13. Commitment and Contingencies

Facility Leases

The Company leased general and administrativeeoiiace in New York, New York pursuant to a norncefiable
operating lease that expired in November 2013.dtoker 2013, the Company entered into a new legi®®ment to provide
the Company with 11,124 rentable square feet (thedPy Space) in New York City for its new corpadteadquarters. The
rent for the Primary Space (without giving effezciny rent abatements) for the first year will ppraximately $801,000 and
will increase by two percent annually until the erfdhe fifth lease year, at which point the anmealt will increase to
approximately $940,000, and subsequently increpged percent annually until July 2024, the terntioi date. The Company
also has a pre-negotiated commitment to take ati@mial 9,502 rentable square feet (the AdditidBphce) under a co-
terminus lease term expected to commence in Septe?di4, although the
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13. Commitment and Contingencies — (continued)

Company may in its sole discretion opt not to tdeeAdditional Space by providing written noticethe landlord on or before
April 30, 2014 and paying a termination fee of a@pproximately $171,000. The rent for the Addigib8pace (without giving
effect to any rent abatements) for the first ye#irlve approximately $684,000 and will increasetivp percent annually until
the end of the fifth year, at which point the arimeat will increase to approximately $803,000 tloe sixth lease year, and
subsequently increase by two percent annually theitermination date. Under the terms of the led@eCompany was
required to provide the landlord with a letter cddit in an amount equal to approximately $801,006r to entering into the
lease, and if the Company leases the Additionat&pawill be required to provide the landlord kvén additional letter of
credit in an amount equal to approximately $684,00@r prior to the commencement of the leaseherAdditional Space.

The Company also leases office space in San D@gldprnia pursuant to a non-cancellable operaliage that expires in
December 2014. In March 2013, the Company entetecaimamendment to the lease for its San Diegoaffihich, among
other things, added approximately 5,100 squaredfegpace and extended the term of the existingelda November 2013, the
Company entered into a second amendment to the (8asond Amendment). The Second Amendment profades
additional 3,069 square feet of space, resultithenCompany leasing an aggregate of approximak78 square feet of
space. The additional space will be leased fromalgn2014 through December 2015 with future minimlease payments of
approximately $120,000 and $125,000, respectividlg. lease for the San Diego office, as amendetiexplire in December
2015. In addition, the Company leased office aiseéaech space in Perugia, Italy pursuant to a Eenminated operating
lease that expired in July 2012.

The terms of the leases provide for rental paymemts graduated scale, and the Company recogr@nesxpense on a
straight-line basis over the non-cancellable I¢ag® and records the difference between cash egmhents and the recognition
of rent expense as a deferred rent liability inellieh accrued expenses. The Company is requingdytits share of operating
expenses, such as property taxes and building, @sithese amounts are not included in rent expansinimum operating
lease payments below. Rent expense under opetasisgs for facilities for the years ended Decerliep011, 2012 and 2013
was approximately $291,000, $332,000 and $624 @3pectively. As of December 31, 2013, minimum apeg lease
payments under non-cancelable leases, as amemdext llows:

Year Ending December 31, Amount

(in thousands)

2014 $ 1,30¢
2015 1,96¢
2016 1,46¢
2017 1,56¢
2018 1,60¢
Thereafter 10,07(
Total future minimum operating lease payments $ 17,98

Contingencies

The Company may become subject to claims and assassfrom time to time in the ordinary course w$ibess. Such
matters are subject to uncertainties and outcomeesad predictable with assurance. The Companyasdiabilities for such
matters when it is probable that future expend#twvél be made and such expenditures can be rebsoestimated. As of
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, the Companyrdidslieve that any such matters, individuallyrothe aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the Company'seéss, financial condition, results of operationsash flows. See Note 17,
Subsequent Events.
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14. Related Party Transactions

In connection with the Series C preferred stochriiting in August 2012, the Company reimbursed Geaexd OrbiMed
Advisors LLC $50,000 and $150,000, respectively |égal and other transaction-related expensesrnedioy such
stockholders in connection with the transaction.

In connection with the October 2013 secondary oféerpursuant to the third amended and restatexkistdders agreement,
the Company reimbursed the selling stockholdershi®rexpenses related to the offering (other tlmruaderwriting discounts
and commissions), including approximately $58,08itlie legal fees of the selling stockholders.

15. Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the historical comfiataof basic and diluted net loss per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Historical net loss per share
Numerator.
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (15,739 $ (46,279 $ (67,799

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic angdlil 3,329,66! 6,283,23 18,028,73
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ 479 % (7.3 $ (3.76)

The following potentially dilutive securities halieen excluded from the computations of diluted Wed average shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2011, 2012 and 231ey would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31,

2011 2012 2013

(in thousands)

Shares issuable upon conversion of preferred stock 4,80¢ — —
Shares issuable pursuant to accumulated prefeioek dividend 95¢ — —
Options 1,30¢ 1,52¢ 1,52¢
Restricted stock units — 17¢€ 121
Warrants to purchase common stock 1,23t 1,162 86&
Total 8,30¢ 2,86¢ 2,511
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table summarizes the unaudited quigrfmancial data for the last two fiscal years.

2012
First Third Fourth
Quarter Second Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Licensing revenue $ 758,75 $ 758,75! $ 523,19: $ 40540! $ 2,446,10
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 3,059,58! 5,018,02! 3,318,311 4,786,641 16,182,56
General and administrative 1,059,20: 943,85 991,06: 2,183,00: 5,177,12!
Total costs and expenses 4,118,78 5,961,88 4,309,37; 6,969,64: 21,359,69
Other income (expense):
Revaluation of warrants 677,90 301,56¢ (1,417,69) (24,187,38) (24,625,59)
Foreign currency loss on
liquidation — (191,73) — — (191,73)
Other income, net 2,43¢ 7,30¢ 16,88: 61,22¢ 87,84¢
680,34: 117,14:  (1,400,80) (24,126,16) (24,729,48)
Net loss (2,679,69) (5,085,98) (5,186,98) (30,690,40) $(43,643,07)
Dividends on preferred stock, no
declared (750,00) (750,000 (1,000,00i) (130,43

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders

$(3,429,69) $(5,835,98) $(6,186,98) $(30,820,83)

Net loss per common shi-basic

and diluted $ (1.09 $ .75 $ (1.8¢) $ (2.02)
Weighted average shares
outstanding, basic and diluted  3,329,26! 3,329,26! 3,329,261 15,223,01
2013
First Third Fourth
Quarter Second Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Licensing revenue $ 405,40' $ 40540 $ 40540 $ 40540 $ 1,621,62
Costs and expenses:
Research and development 4,832,55 5,132,97 8,392,62i 9,583,35: 27,941,50
General and administrative 2,396,85. 2,890,50! 3,115,09! 4,729,38! 13,131,83
Total costs and expenses 7,229,411 8,023,47 11,507,72 14,312,73 41,073,34
Other income (expense):
Revaluation of warrants (3,682,50) (5,572,08) (20,756,08) 1,569,601 (28,441,06)
Foreign currency loss on liquidati — — — — —
Other income (expense), net 296,36: (286,76 121,32¢ (30,549 100,37!
(3,386,14)  (5,858,84) (20,634,75) 1,539,05  (28,340,69)

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders

$(10,210,14) $(13,476,91) $(31,737,07) $(12,368,27) $(67,792,41)

Net loss per common shi-basic

and diluted $ 0.62) $ 0.79 $ (1.65 $ (0.69)
Weighted average shares
outstanding, basic and diluted  16,558,29 16,970,51 19,198,92 19,343,88
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17. Subsequent Events
Securities Class Action

On February 21, 2014 and February 28, 2014, pegatiareholder class actions, sty&eit H. Atwood v. Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et aitndGeorge Burton v. Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inalet respectively, were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern DistriciN#w York, naming the Company and certain of itsceffs as defendants. These
lawsuits were filed by stockholders who claim tosbég on behalf of anyone who purchased or ottsenacquired the
Company’s securities between January 9, 2014 anthdn 10, 2014. The lawsuits allege that the Compaade material
misrepresentations and/or omissions of materialifeits public disclosures during the period frdemuary 9, 2014 to January
10, 2014, in violation of Sections 10(b) and 2@(Ebhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenatedi Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder. The alleged improper discks relate to the Company’s January 9, 2014 aweowent that the
FLINT trial had been stopped early based on a pfered interim efficacy analysis. Specifically, tlagvsuits claim that the
January 9, 2014 announcement was misleading bettalidenot contain information regarding certajpid abnormalities seen
in the FLINT trial in OCA-treated patients compatedcplacebo. The plaintiffs in each suit seek ungjgel monetary damages
on behalf of the putative class and an award dscasd expenses, including attorney’s fees. Aduii@omplaints may be filed
against the Company and its directors and officeleged to the Company’s disclosures.

The Company believes that these lawsuits are withnauit. At this time, no assessment can be made the likely
outcome of these lawsuits or whether the outcontidoeimaterial to the Company. Therefore, the Camyd@as not accrued for
any loss contingencies related to these lawsuits.

Early Termination of Treatment Phase of Phase 2\HLIrial

In January 2014, the treatment phase of the PHaB&IRT trial of OCA for patients with NASH was $tped early
following a planned interim analysis showing the primary endpoint of the trial had been met based pre-defined interim
efficacy criteria. As a result of this, the Compangommon stock price has increased significantigesDecember 31, 2013
and this warrant liability is expected to mateyiaticrease in the first quarter of 2014. This evant the criteria for a
development milestone of $1.0 million which will becorded as revenue in the first quarter of 2014.
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement (No. 333-184810) on ForéhdBintercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our report dated Marcl2044, with respect to the consolidated balancetstoééntercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary (a developstage enterprise) as of December 31, 2012 and 208i2he related
consolidated statements of operations and compsefeeloss, changes in stockholders’ equity, andh fasvs for each of the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013handformation included in the cumulative froméption presentation for
the period September 4, 2002 (inception) to Decer@be2013, which report appears in the Decembgf313 annual report
on Form 10-K of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

/s KPMG LLP
New York, New York
March 14, 2014




Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement of Intercept Pharmacesti¢at. (a development
stage company) on Form S-8 (No. 333-184810) ofeport dated August 31, 2012, except for the thachgraph of Note 1 as
to which the date is September 26, 2012 on out afithhe consolidated statements of operationscangprehensive loss,
changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flowsHerperiod from September 4, 2002 (Inception) thhoDecember 31, 2007,
which report is included in this Annual Report arf 10-K to be filed on or about March 14, 2014.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York
March 14, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Mark Pruzanski, M.D., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or eonittate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ey tiaport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, tssaf operations and cash flows of the registeentdf, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)154r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakiné&ion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigbrting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thedeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registrant’s internal contrelen financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditor&lahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardigéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cormvel financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to advers#fect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 14, 2014
/sl Mark Pruzanski

Mark Pruzanski, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Barbara G. Duncan, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or eonittate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ey tiaport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, tssaf operations and cash flows of the registeentdf, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)154r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakiné&ion relating to the registrant, including itheolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigbrting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thedeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, the registrant’s internal contrelen financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditor&lahe audit committee of the registrant’s boardigéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weases in the design or operation of internal cormvel financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to advers#fect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 14, 2014
/sl Barbara Duncan

Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned défioklntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delawarparation (the
“Company”), does hereby certify, to such officédcrowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @13 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliegth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the StéearExchange Act of 1934, and the informationtegred in the Form 10-K
fairly presents, in all material respects, theriitial condition and results of operations of thernpany.

Dated: March 14, 2014 /s/ Mark Pruzanski

Mark Pruzanski, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: March 14, 2014 /s/ Barbara Duncan

Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




